# NASA CR-662

5.

5

# EFFECT OF DIET AND ATMOSPHERE ON

# INTESTINAL AND SKIN FLORA

# VOLUME II – LITERATURE SURVEY

# By Phyllis E. Riely and Lorraine S. Gall

Distribution of this report is provided in the interest of information exchange. Responsibility for the contents resides in the author or organization that prepared it.

# Prepared under Contract No. NAS 9-4172 by FAIRCHILD HILLER CORPORATION Farmingdale, Long Island, N.Y.

# for Manned Spacecraft Center

# NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

For sale by the Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information Springfield, Virginia 22151 – Price \$3.00

# CONTENTS

**.** 

.

•

.

- ---

INTRODUCTION	•		•					•	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	•		•					•	3
Normal Bacterial Skin Flora - General	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	3
Summary									25
Specialized Skin Flora	•		•	•			•	•	26
Anal Fold Microflora	•	•					•	•	26
Axillary Microflora	•	•		•				•	28
Ear Microflora	•	•	•				•	•	34
Eye Microflora			•					•	37
Finger and Toenail Microflora			•			•			43
Scalp Microflora	•					•		•	44
Umbilicus Microflora				•			•	•	44
Mycological Flora									50
Viral Flora of Skin	•	•	•						58
Staphylococci									60
Actinomyces - Pro-Actinomyces Gr	oup			•	•	•			64
Pathogenic vs Normal Flora	•	•						•	65
	•	•	•		•		•	•	67
Protective Mechanisms	•	•	•	•			•		69
Physiological Factors			•		•			•	73
Influence of Physical Factors .	•	•	•	•			•	•	82
RECOMMENDATIONS	•		•	•		•	•		86
REFERENCES			•					•	90
BIBLIOGRAPHY						•	•		102

# TABLES

(

n

•

.

Table No.		Page
1	Microorganisms Commonly Found on Healthy Human Body Surfaces	6
2	Distribution of Microorganisms in Various Cutaneous Habitats	10
3	Normal Flora of the Limbs	13
4	Incidence of Corynebacteria and Staphylococci in Selected Body Areas During Various Sampling Periods	18
5	Normal Skin Flora by Area and Author	21
6	Occurrences of Various Microorganisms on Anal Fold	27
7	Normal Axillary Flora	28
8	Successive Bacterial Counts of the Same Axilla (Millions/cm <sup>2</sup> )	30
9	Occurrence of Various Microorganisms on Axilla	31
10	Occurrences of Various Microorganisms on Axilla	32
11	Axilla - (Bacterial Counts)	33
12	Microflora of the External Auditory Canal	34
13	Causative Microorganisms of External Otitis	35
14	Microflora of External Auditory Canal	36
15	Microflora of External Auditory Canal	36
16	Occurrence of Various Microorganisms in Ear	38
17	Occurrence of Various Microorganisms in Eye	39
18	Microflora of Eye	41
19	Results of Cultures by Das	42
20	Occurrences of Various Microorganisms on Toes	45
21	Scalp Flora	46
22	Occurrence of Various Microorganisms on Scalp	48
23	Occurrence of Various Microorganisms in Umbilicus	49
24	Distribution of Ringworm	53
25	Presence of Skin Disease	54

# TABLES (concluded)

Table No.		Page
26	Relative Incidence of Fungi Causing Tinea Capitis Exclusive of Trychophyton Schoenleini	55
27	Cultural Distribution of Dermatophytes	57
28	Staph Strain Recovered	63
29	Effect of Moisture	7 <del>9</del>

### INTRODUCTION

٦

The microflora of the integument of the human body is composed of a varied population of differing microorganisms: which may be influenced by the environmental factors to which the host is exposed as well as the particular personal hygienic procedures used by the host and which has never been completely defined on subjects living under the differing environmental conditions encountered in space flight, such as 100% oxygen atmosphere at reduced pressures, minimal personal hygiene care, and the wearing of a tight-fitting space suit.

As a basis for detecting the influence of such conditions of space flight on the skin flora and of understanding the possible effect of any changes induced, it is necessary to define as completely as possible the microflora present on the human integument under ordinary environmental conditions. The cornerstone of any such study is a comprehensive survey of the literature pertaining to this subject, to summarize and evaluate the existing knowledge so that areas in which information is deficient may be recognized and remedial action suggested. These are the goals of this report. This report considers the microflora of the integument to be those microorganisms which exist in or on the skin, but excluding those growing on mucous surfaces, and includes the following general and specialized skin areas; i.e., anal fold, axilla, external ear, eye, fingernails, scalp, toenails, and umbilicus. The microflora considered included both aerobic and anaerobic bacteria, yeasts, molds, fungi, actinomyces and viruses. Each reference was reviewed critically and evaluated on the following points:

- a. Whether the methods used offered valid information
- b. Whether the flora was truly indigenous
- c. Whether or not the subjects were healthy
- d. Whether the papers were published by recognized authorities

Those papers which most closely fulfilled the criteria set forth above were abstracted and will be discussed under review of the literature. Many other excellent papers were reviewed and considered worthy of inclusion in the report, although the material was not pertinent to the main objectives of this study and, for this reason, these papers will be found in the bibliography rather than in the reference section.

In addition pertinent observations made (during two contractual studies conducted by Republic Aviation Corporation personnel) on the microflora of the integument of men before, during and after being subjected to certain simulated space flight conditions will be included in this report as a basis for comment and comparison. These studies are 'Research on Biomedical Criteria for Personal Hygiene'' (AF33(615)-1814) and "Effect of Diet and Atmosphere on Intestinal and Skin Flora" (NAS 9-4172). The first study included a comprehensive microbiological survey of the skin flora from four groups of four men who were confined for thirty-three days and who were sampled in several skin areas thirteen times during that time period. These men, while living in a "closed" community, were under ambient atmospheric conditions in contrast to the men in the latter study who were under 100% oxygen at 5 psia for 20 days. In the latter study, six of the men were confined together under the test atmosphere, while two men, who served as controls, were confined at ambient atmospheres. The repeated sampling of these two groups of men before they were subjected to experimental conditions should substantially increase the knowledge of the 'normal" skin flora. Experimental conditions common to both contractual studies were the use of minimal hygiene procedures which excluded bathing by all the subjects and the superimposition of certain periods of wearing space suits by some of the subjects. The data from the portions of the experiment when simulated space flight conditions prevailed will be considered separately.

### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

# Normal Bacterial Skin Flora - General

One of the first meaningful studies designed to define the flora of the "normal" skin was made by Price  $(1938)^{(1)}$ . This careful work was based on a modified scrubbing procedure and included a sampling of the rinse water from the hands and forearms. The value of this particular study was impaired by the use of soap in the scrubbing procedure, which probably explains the lack of recovery of the common diphtheroids of the skin. For this reason the counts as reported in Price are essentially those of micrococci. His original concept that the transient flora of the skin was on the surface and would be recovered in the first rinse while the native flora was deeper in the skin and would be found in the following rinse is not necessarily valid as a recent paper of Rebell (1962)<sup>(2)</sup> points out that "if the skin is reasonably clean, however, recovery of exogenous bacteria and mold spores closely follows that of endogenous bacteria", because the indigenous flora actually is superficial and will be removed in the initial wash.

Rebell<sup>(2)</sup> in agreement with most authors found that the bacterial counts in different areas of the body differed widely. "Areas rich in sebaceous glands and, more especially, intertriginous areas support a much larger population of bacteria than does the general body surface." "If the skin remains unwashed, bacterial counts from intertriginous sites increase proportionately more than those from the body surface generally, and may exceed 100,000,000 micrococci per sq. cm." The following skin micrococci were identified in this study: <u>Micrococcus epidermidis</u>, <u>Micrococcus aurantiacus</u> and <u>Micrococcus candidus</u> and a small number of <u>Micrococcus flavus</u>. Rebell states that "<u>Staphylococcus pyogenes</u> is not a permanent member of the normal skin flora, although it may become established in this flora for short periods."

Rebell<sup>(2)</sup> considers that one of the most abundant microorganisms on the skin is the diphtheroids, but since they require oleic acid for growth, at times, their recovery is difficult. They are most numerous in the intertriginous regions where they may exceed 1,000,000 per sq. cm, while this author did not find them in the scalp or the exposed skin areas. He mentions the presence of <u>Corynebacterium acne</u> in the depths of the sebaceous follicles of the face, chest, and back. "High counts of the acne bacillus reported from the total skin are almost certainly due to confusion with oleic acid requiring diphtheroids of the skin surface. The diphtheroids of the skin fall roughly into groups: lipophilic aerobes, lipophilic anaerobes, and lipid independent forms including the erythrasma bacillus, <u>Corynebacterium minutissimum</u>."

One of the most comprehensive surveys of the literature with regard to the indigenous skin flora was compiled by Rosebury  $(1962)^{(3)}$ , who lists the normal indigenous microflora of the skin as follows: coagulase-negative staphylococci, aerobic corynebacteria, <u>C. acnes</u>, occasionally mycobacteria, and <u>Candida</u> <u>albicans</u> as well as other candidas, <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u>, <u>P. orbiculare</u>. The values given by Rosebury for skin are based on the work of several authors, including Price  $(1938)^{(1)}$  and Evans  $(1950)^{(4)}$  and Pachtman, Vicher, and Brunner  $(1954)^{(5)}$ . All of these studies were comprehensive and yielded valuable information in the area of the authors' interest. In addition to the bacteria found on the skin, Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> reviewed the work of authors who stress the importance of varying species of fungus. The species as reported by Rosebury were <u>Candida</u> <u>albicans</u>, other candidas, <u>Torulopsis glabrata</u>, <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u>, <u>P. Orbiculare</u>, <u>Dermatophytes</u> and reflect the work of Benham and Hopkins (1933)\*, Croft and Black (1938)\*\*, Emmons (1940)\*\*\*, Gordon (1951)\*\*\*\*, and DiMenna (1954)\*\*\*\*\*.

- \*\* Croft, C.C.; and Black, L.A.: J. Lab. Clin. Med., vol. 23, 1938, pp. 1259.
- \*\*\* Emmons, C.W.: Public Health Repts., vol. 53, 1938, pp. 1967.
- \*\*\*\* Gordon, M.A.: J. Invest. Dermat., vol. 17, 1951, pp. 267. Gordon, M.A.: Mycologia, vol. 43, 1951, pp. 524.
- \*\*\*\*\* DiMenna, M.E.: J. Path. Bacteriol., vol. 68, 1954, pp. 89.

<sup>\*</sup> Benhamn, R.W.; and Hopkins, A. Mch.: Arch. Dermatol. Syphilol., vol 28, 1933, pp. 532.

The data collected by Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> from his review of the literature and from his own studies are summarized in his text in a table pertinent areas of which are presented in full in this report in Table 1.

1

Rosebury's<sup>(3)</sup> book fills a significant need as it has highlighted many areas that need investigation before the normal indigenous flora of man can truly be defined. He emphasizes the important part that the normal flora undoubtedly plays since, "Whenever a given microbic species is found regularly and in appreciable numbers in an indigenous locus, it may be assumed that its metabolic activity directly or indirectly influences the host...".<sup>(3)</sup>

Rosebury's<sup>(3)</sup> book has been followed by "The Ecology of the Human Skin" by Mary Marples  $(1963)^{(6)}$ , who in her exhaustive study of the ecology of the human skin has considered many factors, i.e., environment, physiology, genetic as well as the varied inter-reactions between all of these factors.

A thorough understanding of the environment of the cutaneous flora is essential and M. Marples<sup>(6)</sup> felt that "The general surface consisting of a substrate of fully keratinized desquamating epidermal fragments, which is bathed with sweat and sebaceous secretion..." is an environment which will be modified by any radical change in heat or moisture. In addition there are: superficial structures, which are hard keratin such as hair or nails; epidermal invaginations; deeper layers of the epidermis; and the dermis.

Marples<sup>(6)</sup> is cognizant of the immense variation in the number of organisms isolated from the skin of the same individual at different times and realizes that the individual variation includes the ability to support a larger and denser bacterial population. This cutaneous population is only temporarily affected by sweating or washing. She summarizes admirably the work of many authors which have been reviewed in this report individually and therefore will not be included at this point in the text.

Marples<sup>(6)</sup> also summarizes the normal flora of the skin in her text, which is included in part in this report in Table 2. Her data differs slightly from that of Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup>, but there is general agreement between the two reviews.

Table 1

"MICROORGANISMS COMMONLY FOUND ON HEALTHY HUMAN BODY SURFACES<sup>a</sup>

ve cocci: egative stap ositive stapl icrococci d undifferen occci s (salivarius or group D or group D or group D or group D icreptococci treptococci iae ive cocci: ive cocci: ive cocci: ive cocci: ive sacilli: ve bacilli:				Skin	
		General	Feet	External auditory canal	Conjunctiva
	hylococci	88-100 $2-6/cm^2$		27-100	37-94
Anaerobic micrococci Str. mitis and undifferen and $\gamma$ streptococci Str. hominis (salivarius Enterococci or group D cocci Str. pyogenes (usually g unless noted) Anaerobic streptococci D. pneumoniae Gram-negative cocci: N. catarrhalis and othei N. meningitidis V. alcalescens Gram-positive bacilli:	ıylococci	5-24		12-20	0-30
Str. mitis and undifferen and $\gamma$ streptococci Str. hominis (salivarius Enterococci or group D cocci Str. pyogenes (usually g unless noted) Anaerobic streptococci D. pneumoniae Gram-negative cocci: N. catarrhalis and othel N. meningitidis V. alcalescens Gram-positive bacilli:		+1			
Str. hominis (salivarius Enterococci or group D cocci Str. pyogenes (usually g unless noted) Anaerobic streptococci D. pneumoniae Gram-negative cocci: N. catarrhalis and othei N. meningitidis V. alcalescens Gram-positive bacilli:	tiated n	0∓		0.2-23	0.9-1
Enterococci or group D cocci Str. pyogenes (usually g unless noted) Anaerobic streptococci D. pneumoniae Gram-negative cocci: N. catarrhalis and othei N. meningitidis V. alcalescens Gram-positive bacilli:					
Str. pyogenes (usually unless noted) Anaerobic streptococci D. pneumoniae Gram-negative cocci: N. catarrhalis and othe N. meningitidis V. alcalescens Gram-positive bacilli:	strepto-				
	group A	0-4			0.3-2.5
				+	0-5
	· spp.				2.3
Lactobacilli					

a Rosebury (1962)<sup>(3)</sup>

ł

-

.

\*

Table 1 (cont.)

L

MICROORGANISMS COMMONLY FOUND ON HEALTHY HUMAN BODY SURFACES<sup>a</sup>

				Skin	
Spe	Species or group	General	Feet	External auditory canal	Conjunctiva
	Aerobic corynebacteria	53 5/cm <sup>2</sup>		86	3-83
	C. acnes	45-100 $6/cm^2$			
	Mycobacteria <u>Cl. perfringens</u> , other spp.	+			
	<u>Cl. tetani</u> <u>Actinomyces bifidus</u>				
	A. israelii <u>Leptotrichia buccalis</u> <u>L. dentium</u>				
Ū.	Aerobic Gram-negative bacilli:				
	Undifferentiated "coliforms"			8 8	
	<u>Escherichia coli</u>				4
	"Intermediates"			0.1-0.4	
	Klebsiella aerogenes			+	0.1
	Proteus mirabilis, other spp.			0.2-1	4 0
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa			0-1.3	4
	Alcaligenes faecalis			1.1-1.6	+
	Vibrio alcaligenes			5 1	1
	Moraxella lacunata				+
	<u>Mima polymorpha</u>				   +
	(3)				

a Rosebury (1962)<sup>(3)</sup>

Table 1 (cont.)

MICROORGANISMS COMMONLY FOUND ON HEALTHY HUMAN BODY SURFACES  $^{\rm a}$ 

			Skin	
Species or group	General	Feet	External auditory canal	Conjunctiva
M. vaginicola				+1
Haemophilus influenzae				0.4-2.5
H. parainfluenzae				
<u>Hemolytic hemophili</u> H. aegyptius				÷
H. vaginalis				
F. Fungi:				
Candida albicans	-11	-H	+	
Other candidas	1-15	+	+	
Torulopsis glabrata				
Pityrosporum ovale	100	_		
P. orbiculare	‡			
Dermatophytes		2-41		

a Rosebury (1962)<sup>(3)</sup>

,,

Table 1 (cont.)

١

.

Į				Skin	
Spec	Species or group	General	Feet	External auditory canal	Conjunctiva
¥	Gram-positive cocci: Coagulase-negative staphylococci Coagulase-positive staphylococci	88-100		27-100	37-94

# MICROORGANISMS COMMONLY FOUND ON HEALTHY HUMAN BODY SURFACES<sup>a</sup>

<u>+</u>o, rare

±, irregular or uncertain

+, common

++, prominent

Numbers = range of incidence in percent

Values given with units = range of concentrations expressed as  $lag_{10}$ .

a Rosebury (1962)<sup>(3)</sup>

a Marples (1965)<sup>(6)</sup>

•

		-
Rare visitors	<u>Dracunculus medinensis</u> Larval helminths <u>Cladosporium spp.</u> <u>Nocardia spp.</u> <u>Mycobacterium spp.</u>	
Frequent visitors	Leishmania spp. Mycobacterium leprae	
Residents	I	
Habitat	Dermis	

DISTRIBUTION OF MICRO-ORGANISMS IN VARIOUS CUTANEOUS HABITATS<sup>a</sup>

Table 2 (cont.)

۱

a Marples (1965)<sup>(6)</sup>

In her discussion of the normal flora, Miss  $Marples^{(6)}$  feels that the predominant aerobic organisms on the skin of the adult are gram-positive coagulase-negative cocci, and diphtheroids.

The diphtheroid members of the skin flora include both aerobic and anaerobic forms. The literature seems to contain a predominant amount of evidence for the prevalence of the anaerobic diphtheroid known as <u>Coryne-</u> <u>bacterium acnes</u> or <u>Propionibacterium acnes</u>. "In adult subjects <u>Corynebacterium</u> <u>acnes</u> appears to be a dominant member of the cutaneous community." "Aerobic diphtheroids are numerous and varied. They must be important in the ecology of the human skin and they deserve more attention than they have hitherto received:"...<sup>(6)</sup>

The two texts by Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> and Marples<sup>(6)</sup> are excellent and complement each other in the critical area of normal flora of the skin. Rosebury with his tables of the normal flora has been of inestimable help to microbiologists, and he has also defined many problem areas where sufficient data are not available. If only one book could be purchased on normal skin microflora, Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> would seem best for the microbiologist and Mary Marples "Ecology of the Human Skin"<sup>(6)</sup> for a physician or physiologist, since in her book the areas dealing with fungus infection and tropical skin diseases are particularly good, and Marple's<sup>(6)</sup> text also covers a much wider area than Rosebury's<sup>(3)</sup>, although it is not as specific in certain instances.

Additional confirmation of the work of other authors on the normal skin flora was added by the work of Fritsch and Fritsch  $(1964)^{(7)}$  who differentiated between the resident and transient flora and list the resident flora as consisting of micrococcus, corynebacteria, propionibacterium and pityrosporum. The transient flora includes micrococcus, streptococcus, gram-negative rods, gram positive spore-formers, <u>Candida</u> and cryptoccus.

"In contrast to the transient flora of the skin with its highly variable composition (reflecting the changing bacterial environment), the resident flora is found to consist of very large numbers of some half-a-dozen species of bacteria, though the number and distribution of these different organisms is affected to some extent by such variables as the climate, and the age, hygiene, clothing and general activities of the individual and differs greatly from one anatomical site to another. The resident flora as a whole can be regarded as a mixed population of a few species of saprophytic bacteria in equilibrium with their immediate environment.  $m^{(8)}$  Gleeson-White  $(1960)^{(8)}$  recovered most of the aerobes from the intertriginous zones including the sebaceous skin of the face, scalp and upper chest. The poorest recovery was from the non-hairy skin of the trunk. If a count of the anaerobes present is included, a direct relationship exists between the distribution of the resident flora and the sebaceous glands. The following types of bacteria were recovered: aerobic gram positive cocci, diphtheroid bacilli, <u>Micrococcus candidus</u>, <u>Micrococcus flavus</u>; the principle aerobe was <u>Staphylococcus albus</u> while the principle anaerobe was the acne bacillus.

Allende<sup>(9)</sup> studied the normal flora of the limbs in an attempt to clarify infection as it appears on the stumps of amputees. As reported in this study, the normal skin contained the following number of colonies located on the control limb: Table 3

		I OIUDI.		. 01 111			Gram
"Subject	<u>Albus</u>	Diphtheroids	Sarcina	<u>E. coli</u>	Anaerobic Staph	Anaerobic Diphtheroids	Positive Rod
1	150	125	175	25			
2	100						
3	725	125			875	200	
4	150				400		
5							
6	50		50		50		50
7							
8							(rare)
9	200	200					
10							"

### NORMAL FLORA OF THE LIMBS

These counts emphasize the marked individual variation present in the normal population.

Updegraff  $(1964)^{(10)}$  characterized the normal skin flora as cocci. and occasional bacilli which were of three types: long slender rods. short thick rods, and an intermediate type (they were probably diphtheroids). He considered the resident flora to include Corynebacterium acnes, Staphylococcus epidermidis, and aerobic diphtheroids which gave total counts of 6 to 865,000  $per/cm^2$ . The anaerobes outnumbered the aerobes from 10 to 100 fold. These findings were at variance with some authors and Updegraff attributed these differences to the sampling technique. Accordingly he conducted a careful study on the technique of sampling which led to his method of using scotch tape in the Wolf tradition and which was found to be non-inhibitory if Scotch brand 850 industrial tape was used. Three to five strippings were removed from the test areas, placed face up in Petri dishes and covered with agar. Counts were made on the second and fourth strippings of the backs of 13 men. One strip was incubated aerobically, the other anaerobically. Wide variation was found among individuals from zero to more than 300 colonies per 4  $cms^2$ . With one exception. aerobic and anaerobic counts agreed very well. All colonies on the tapes were small, circular, and white.

From the review of the literature, it is apparent that staphylococci and diphtheroids are the most prevalent skin microorganisms. Because the literature on staphylococci is so voluminous and is closely tied in with several frankly pathogenic skin conditions, the papers on staphylococci will be reviewed later in this report. However, the work of several authors who have devoted their research to a study of the diphtheroids occurring on the human skin will be discussed here.

Pollack, et al: (1946)<sup>(11)</sup> isolated 52 diphtheroid strains from the human skin, five of which were oleic acid requiring. These lipophilic diphtheroids have been identified as <u>Corynebacterium xerosis</u> by Pillsbury and Kligman(1954)<sup>(12)</sup>. Marples and Bailey (1957)<sup>(13)</sup> also found diphtheroids in the interdigital skin of the foot in 38.2 percent of 175 adult subjects. "Aerobic diphtheroids do not appear to produce any overt changes in the skin and must be regarded as normal residence of the substrate."<sup>(13)</sup>

Four papers which support the presence of the streptococci on normal skin of some individuals are reviewed.

Among other important contributions to the definition of the normal flora have been those of Rebell  $(1947)^{(14)}$  who highlighted the appearance of hemolytic streptococci in a significant portion of his subjects in addition to the flora recovered by other authors.

In a small series of children (8) streptococci were isolated by Evans (1950)<sup>(4)</sup> from the skin of six. Perhaps enough variation in pH of the skin exists between children and adult to allow the survival of streptococci. Perhaps this also occurs in the cutaneous infections of erysipelas and impetigo where streptococci multiply very rapidly in the superficial layers of the skin, and it is interesting to wonder about the pH of these particular skins. However, Price (1938)<sup>(1)</sup> reported that while he was attending patients with streptococcal wound infections, it was possible to isolate streptococci among the normal flora of his hands and forearms.

In Cook Islands, Markham and Stenhouse  $(1959)^{(15)}$  were able to isolate streptococcus pyogenes from 81% of impetiginous lesions, and in addition streptococcal strains were recovered from 13% of 48 samples of normal skin. They also recovered toxigenic strains of <u>Corynebacterium diphtheria</u> from 40% of lesions of impetigo and only once from normal skin.

The recovery of <u>Mycobacterium smegmatis</u> by Cruickshank and Cruickshank  $(1931)^{(16)}$  adds another candidate for the list of the normal flora.

<u>Mycobacterium smegmatis</u> is one of the normal inhabitants of the skin living in the particular location of the external genitalia. Its function has never been clearly defined and pathogenicity does not seem to be related to its presence in that locality. Other mycobacteria of the group IV have been found in varied localities in the skin but have never been given truly indigenous status. Of particular interest is the sensitivity developing from exposure to mycobacteria since as is shown by Edwards and Palmer (1959)<sup>(17)</sup> more than 60% of Navy recruits in Georgia and Florida have been previously sensitized to mycobacteria. The other members of the Mycobacteriaceae are pathogenic in relation to the psoition on the integument. One of the species of mycobacterium <u>M. leprae</u> does establish itself on the skin of contacts living in close proximity to a patient with active leprosy. Whether its presence is truly indigenous is a moot point.

According to Marples<sup>(6)</sup>, two treponemes are considered to be members of the normal flora of the skin of the genitalia. These are <u>T. calligyrum</u> and <u>T. genitalis</u>. These species do not seem to be associated with any form of lesion on the human skin and it is possible that they are transients derived from the anorectal mucosa. The other members of the treponemes are usually associated with the venereal disease and include the organisms which cause syphilis, yaws and pinta.

The early work of Meyer  $(1932)^{(18)}$  confirmed the work of other authors, but added <u>Sarcina lutea</u> and certain gram negative rods to the "growing" flora of the skin.

Miscellaneous bacterial inhabitants of the skin include <u>Mima polymorpha</u> as well as neisseria and perhaps <u>Streptomyces coelicolor</u> (Heynier, 1957<sup>(19)</sup>. PPLO organisms also have been isolated from 3.3% of 150 subjects cultured by Melczer and Vasarkelyi (1959)<sup>(20)</sup>.

One of the few studies in which subjects were placed under certain conditions similar to space flight was conducted by  $Christie^{(21)}$  in which men were isolated from additional contacts and in which minimal personal hygiene was practiced. Isolated arctic scientists were cultured to discover whether their flora would remain the same or would have a tendency to become more like that of their fellow scientists. These men were maintained on a Greenland ice cap for 100 days and two had no contact with soap and water. Others of the men did not wash for 5-7 days and showed no significant increase in the total number of bacteria. The flora seemed to simplify as time elapsed. In the beginning, the following organisms <u>Staphylococcus albus</u>, <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u>, <u>Neisseria</u> <u>catarrhalis</u>, diphtheroids, <u>Bacillus subtilis</u> and <u>Gaffkya tetragena</u> were recovered. After the 100 days of isolation, <u>Bacillus subtilis</u> seemed to become predominant and the secondary organism was <u>Staphylococcus albus</u> with <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> occurring in two of the scientists. Other studies are in progress to establish the effect of certain simulated space conditions including isolation, wearing space suits, minimal personal hygiene procedures and 100% oxygen at altitude on the indigenous flora of man. To establish a baseline of the truly indigenous flora, repeated cultures of the same individuals for many varied body areas using both aerobic and anaerobic techniques (in different seasons of the year) is necessary and two current studies<sup>(22, 23)</sup> at Republic Aviation Corporation considering this factor should add substantial data to the normal flora.

The purpose of one of these studies (22) is to obtain hygienic and microbiological data pertaining to the indigenous microflora of the human and his surrounding environment under controlled conditions simulating space travel and to use the information derived from this study to establish biomedical criteria for personal hygiene and sanitation for long-term aerospace missions as well as to provide indices of deterioration of environmental condition.

From the extensive microbiological procedures performed, data has been extracted which is pertinent to this determination of the normal skin flora. It is necessary to realize that minimal personal hygiene procedures were in force throughout the study. The subjects showered before entry into the evaluator and during their stay only "wet wipes" were allowed and were limited to three a day for hand wiping following eating and defecation. It is possible that the height of the colony count from certain body areas is a reflection of the minimal personal hygiene procedures. However, the body areas are not radically different in a qualitative analysis of the kinds of bacteria present although the quantitative data presented must be evaluated.

Four different groups of subjects of four men each have spent periods of approximately 42 days in a confined environment with all contacts strictly limited and with the use of surgical garments and masks by the contacts in order to prevent cross contamination. The data is summarized by subjects and Table 4 illustrates the relationship between staphylococcus and corynebacteria at varying sampling periods from varying body areas on subjects 29, 30, 31, and 32.

The bacteria recovered from varied body areas are shown in table format under specialized body areas.

								Table 4	4								
	INC	INCIDENCE		CORY	OF CORYNEBACTERIA AND STAPHYLOCOCCI IN SELECTED BODY AREAS <sup><math>a</math></sup>	CTER	INA ANI	D STA.	РНҮ Г	0000	CI IN	SELE	CTED	BODY	Z ARE	AS <sup>a</sup>	
					DUF	N DNIX	DURING VARIOUS SAMPLING PERIODS	US SA	MPLU	NG PE	RIOD	70					
								San	npling	Sampling Period	g				ŀ		
Area Subj.	·	-	5	n	4	5	9	7	œ	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	Coryn.	ŀ	120	310	60	120	1	1	1	1	20	1	1	1	1	1	ł
Ear (29)	Staph.	1500	200	70	70	110	780	10	440	830	440	62	660	9	77	180	360
	Coryn.	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	200	ო
Ear (30)	Staph.	•		0	0	0	0	0	10	<b>H</b>	0		50	3	7	30	7
	Coryn.	5000	600	550	3000	5000	600	4500	5500	5500	880	200	I	I	I	30	I
Ear (31)	Staph.	20	13	15	200	20	30	20	50	90	2940	70	73	380	1500	20	1340
	Coryn.	170	1	400	214	120	1200	15	30	I	69	1	1	5	I	•	I
Ear (32)	Staph.	36	610	73	200	150	40	2	110	e	65	15	53	110	670	110	2600
Data eq	Data eqivalent to 10 <sup>-4</sup> total	0-4 tot	tal bac	teria	bacteria per gram of sample	am of	sampl	e									
Coryn. Staph.	Coryn. = Corynebacterium Staph. = Staphylococcal sp	acteri coccal	um sp 1 sp	•													
a Biom b No Sa	Biomedical Criteria (AF33(615)-1814 <sup>(22)</sup> No Samule	eria (A	<b>\F33(6</b>	:15)-18	314 <sup>(22)</sup>												
	4																

								Table 4 (cont.)	(cont.)								
	INC	INCIDENCE	-	COR	D	BACT	'ERIA G VAF	OF CORYNEBACTERIA AND STAPHYLOCOCCI IN SELECTED BODY AREAS <sup>a</sup> DURING VARIOUS SAMPLING PERIODS	<b>DULLING</b>	OCCI I PERIOI	N SEI DS	ECT	ED B	7 ХОО	AREA	1S <sup>a</sup>	
								Samplin <sub>f</sub>	Sampling Period								
Area Subj.		1	2	3 S	4	5	9	2	8	6	10	11	12	13 1	14	15	16
Thes (90)	Coryn.	3500													2	50000	9006
(07) 6001	Staph.	1900								qSN					с С	30000	13100
Toes (30)	Coryn.	5250								26200							2000
	Staph.	2000								4200							3900
Thes (31)	Coryn.	6000								5500				<u> </u>	-	70000	20000
	Staph.	2500								3200					2	70000	40000
Thes (32)	Coryn.	165						12000									32500
	Staph.	83															4300
Data eq Coryn.	Data equivalent to 10 <sup>-4</sup> total bacteria per gram of sample. Corvn. = Corvnebacterium sp	$10^{-4}$ t bacter	otal t ium s	bacter p	ria pe	ır gra	m of s	ample.				]	1	+		+	
Staph. a Bion	Staph. = Staphlococcal sp a Biomedical Criteria (AF33(6	coccal iteria (	sp AF33	.33(615)-1814 <sup>(22)</sup>	-1814	(22)											
	aldillac on																

ł

.

.

	INC	INCIDENCE		CORY	Table 4 (cont.) OF CORYNEBACTERIA AND STAPHYLOCOCCI IN SELECTED BODY AREAS <sup>a</sup>	CTER	Tabl IA AN	Table 4 (cont.) A AND STAPHY	ont.) \PHYI			SELE	CLED	BOD	Y ARE	AS <sup>a</sup>	
					ING	SUNG V	/ARIO	US SA	MPLD	DURING VARIOUS SAMPLING PERIODS	RIOD	70					
Area Subj.		1	7	ę	4	5	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	Coryn.	250	5000	1	5000	5200	2000	006	5000	3500	5500	3000	150	5000	2000	4500	2000
Axilla (29)	Staph.	75	30	-	160	220	520	240	920	280	340	350	980	490	140	730	1500
	Coryn.	2000	2000	0	770	1750	2300	65	130	6000	2750	2800	0	2800	3000	TNTC	1000
	Staph.	220	1620	2 2	1020	1250	1450	15	51	1060	130	1160	3500	5700	1400	180	700
	Coryn.	250	1020	Ħ	100	500	40	5000	2560	1920	2120	1980	1	2410	80	I	2200
Axilla (31)	Staph.	380	2020	116	400	1320	800	4800	3000	1150	1410	2400	2000	2500	1700	4850	550
	Coryn.	'	1	1	40	006	800	1200	2000	1110	2750	3000	2000	3800	1900	TNTC	4500
Ax111a (32)	Staph.	48	1410	5	180	3620	5600	1600	860	550	2000	400	4800	2040	1400	4500	740
Data equi	Data equivalent to 10 <sup>-4</sup> total	10-4 t		cteria	bacteria per gram of sample	ram o	i samp	ole									
Coryn.	<ul><li>Corynebacterium</li><li>Staphylococcal sp</li></ul>	acteri	ium sp 1 sp														
a Biomedica b No Sample	Biomedical Criteria (AF33(615)-1814 <sup>(22)</sup> No Sample	eria (A	⊾F33(6	15)-18	314 <sup>(22)</sup>												

				Tabi	Table 5				
		NORMA	L SKIN FI	LORA BY	l AREA,	NORMAL SKIN FLORA BY AREA, AND AUTHOR			
		NOTE: Auth	ors keyec	l by num	ber - see	NOTE: Authors keyed by number - see list at end of table	table		
	General Skin Area	Anal fold	Axilla	Ear	Eye	Fingernails	Scalp	Toenails - interdigital areas	Umbilicus
Staph. aureus	2, 5, 11		14	3, 15, 17	3, 18, 19		21		
Neisseria	11, 22	22	22	22	3, 18, 22		22		
Mima polymorpha			22	22	s				
PPLO		22	22						
Treponema		œ							
<u>Aerobacter</u> aerogenes	22	22	2, 13, 22	17	18, 22	20			
D. Pneumoniae				r N	ŝ				
Coliforms	7	22		3, 15	3, 18	20			
E. Coli	5	22		e	18,22			22	
Klebsiella				n	e				
Proteus				3, 15, 17	3, 18	20			
Pseudomonas				3, 15	18	20		22	

.

•

		NORMAI	SKIN FL	Table 5 (cont.) ,ORA BY AREA by number - s	(cont.) AREA, a	Table 5 (cont.) NORMAL SKIN FLORA BY AREA, AND AUTHOR	able		
	-			<b>6</b> ~					
	General Skin Area	Anal fold	Axilla	Ear	Eye	Fingernails	Scalp	Toenails - interdigital areas	Umbilicus
Staphylococci	1, 22	22	2, 22	3, 15, 17, 22	3, 18, 19, 22		21	22	22
Aerobic Corvnebacterium	2, 3, 5, 6, 9, 11, 22	2, 22	2, 13, 22	3, 15, 17, 22	3, 18, 19, 22	06	21, 22	2, 8, 22	22
Pityrosporum	ŝ			15			21, 3, 8, 16		
Micrococci	2.9.22	22	22	22	22	20	21, 22	22	22
Streptococci	2, 10	22	22	3, 15, 17	3, 18, 19. 22	20			22
Sarcina	5, 7	22	22	22	18	20			
Gaffyka	11, 22		22						
Corynebact.	3, 5, 6, 9, 22								
Mycobacteria	3, 4	22							
Clostridium		12, 22							
Condido	6	22		3, 22	18	20			
Valimua	2								

----

•

٠

### AUTHORS

- 1. Price, P.B.: (1938)
- 2. Rebell, Gerbert: (1962)
- 3. Rosebury, Theodore: (1958), (1962)
- 4. Cruickshank, J. and Cruickshank, R.: (1931)
- 5. Allende, M. F.; Barnes, G. H.; Levy, S. W.; and O'Reilly, W. J.: (1961)
- 6. Updegraff, D. M.: (1964)
- 7. Meyer, K. A.; and Spector, B. K.: (1932)
- 8. Marples, Mary J.: (1965)
- 9. Gleeson-White, M. H.: (1960)
- 10. Evans, C.A.; Smith, W.M.; Johnston, E.A.; and Giblett, E.R.: (1950)
- 11. Christie, R.W.: (1958)
- 12. Price, D.J.E.; and Shooter, R.A.: (1964)
- 13. Shehadeh, N. H.; and Kligman, A. M.: (1963)
- 14. Shelley, W.B.; and Perry, E.T.: (1956)
- Singer, David, E.; Freeman, Elizabeth; Hoffert, Warren; Keys, R.J.; Mitchell, R.B.; and Hardy, A.V.: (1952)
- 16. Whitlock, F.A.: (1953)
- 17. Linthicum, Jr., Fred H.: (1964)
- 18. Cason, L.; and Winkler, Jr., C.H.: (1954)
- 19. Das, Tulsi; Sur, M. L.; and Chaddah, M. R.: (1955)
- 20. Stone, Orville, J.; and Mullins, J. Fred: (1962), (1963), (1965)
- 21. MacKee, George M.; and Lewis, George M.: (1938)
- 22. Republic Aviation Corporation: Contracts AF33(615)-1814 and NAS 9-4172

A corollary study (23) on eight men, six of whom were under a high oxygen environment, was performed at the Naval Crew Equipment Laboratory in Philadelphia and this study gives some insight into the effect of oxygen at altitude, the wearing of space suits and minimal personal hygiene procedures on the skin flora, as well as additional data on the normal flora in certain skin areas. The results of the microbiological tests were interesting as the total colony counts from the axilla and groin increased as the experiment progressed; however, by mid-point in the experiment the counts seemed to plateau and remain relatively stable. The bacteria involved in the build-up of microflora in the axilla and groin were staphylococci or micrococci and Corynebacterium species. The build-up of corynebacteria in most instances represented a relative increase of the rod over the cocci. This build-up was most marked in the body areas where sweat is a factor and this pattern appeared to be the result of the minimal personal hygiene procedures on men in a confined environment. There was no marked difference in the microflora of the subjects during the period of 100% oxygen at 5 psia for 20 days or in the wearing of the space suit for three weeks.

### Summary

The divergence of opinions of varied authors on the indigenous microflora seems to be a reflection of their sampling and cultural techniques. For this reason Table 5 has been compiled giving the flora of the various areas as determined by differing authors. Each author whose work is used in the table is numerically keyed and identified at the end of the chart.

One of the major areas of disagreement is in the presence or absence of <u>Corynebacterium acnes</u> which is dependent on cultural techniques as well as the depth from which the samples were secured. Another example of the importance of cultural technique is in the recovery of <u>P. ovale</u>, as an oil overlay of the slant seems essential for their growth.

When the present knowledge is implemented by detailed studies performed under the same conditions of collection and culture it will be possible to truly define the indigenous biota of man.

### SPECIALIZED SKIN FLORA

The biota of the general skin areas has been reviewed and since certain specialized areas support a slightly different flora, due to their own individual characteristics, they warrant separate consideration. The scalp, in many individuals, has an extensive hair covering, at least for certain periods of their life. The ear has a specialized secretion, cerumen, and its flora is rarely, if ever, disturbed by washing: The axilla differs from other body areas in several respects as this area has a number of apocrine glands, is often shaved, or is hair covered and in many individuals has antiperspirants frequently applied. The anal folds are prone to contamination with fecal bacteria and other fecal matter which provides a heavy bacterial inoculum and appropriate nutrients. An ideal area for bacteria to live and thrive is under the fingernails; the interdigital webs or toenail areas offer fungus a chance to thrive since the area is often covered by clothing and perspiration offers sufficient growth material. The eye seems to come equipped with its own anti-bacterial secretions, yet many bacteria may grow there.

# Anal Fold Microflora

One of the few articles that discuss the flora of the anal folds was that of Price and Shooter  $(1964)^{(24)}$  who isolated <u>Clostridium welchii</u> from the anal folds and frequently from the skin some distance away. These commensal strains varied widely in their ability to form toxin, which raises the question whether their habitat influenced the toxin production.

The Republic Aviation Corporation study <sup>(22)</sup> also considered the anal folds as a specialized area since the possibility of fecal contamination is extremely high, particularly under the experimental conditions imposed in these trials. The findings of this study are extremely interesting and the bacteria present are summarized in Table 6. Both facultative and obligate anaerobes were found, many of which were typical fecal bacteria. This work is still in progress and more complete results will be found in the final report.

							Table 6	9									
	Ŭ	luppc	RREN	OCCURRENCES OF	F VARI	VARIOUS MICROORGANISMS ON ANAL FOLD <sup>a</sup>	пско	ORGA	3W SIN	NO S	ANAL	FOLD	a a				
Subject Number	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
Micro-flora	ļ																3
E. coli		×	×	×		×	×		×						×	-	
Aerobacter				×		×									:	+	
<u>Alk. dispar</u>						×								+	×	+	
PPLO	×	×	×	×		T	T		x	×			×	×	:	+	
Streptococci			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	1	13	i ni	0041	-
Corynebacteria	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	: ×	-   ×			19010	-
Micrococci	×		×			1	$\uparrow$		T			-	;	•	{	<	
Clostridium					×	1	1	1	T		T	T		+		-+-	
Alcaligenes				×			1-	T	T	T	T	T	+			+	T
Lactobacillus							×	×	1	T	T		1	+	+	+	
Bacillaceae		×				×	×	×					+-	+-	+	+	İ
Proactinomyces				×	×		×	×					+	+	-		
Neisseria									1		×	1	+			+	Τ
Anaerobes	x	x	×	×	+	+-	+-	$\uparrow$	$\uparrow$	1	-			+-	+-	-+-	
Staphylococcus	x	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	+-		Τ
Obligate anaerobe	x	×	×	×			+	No.	ork in	progr	ress			-	-	:	
Fac. anaerobes	×	x	×	×				No.	ork in	progr	ress	+-	+		+-	-	
Candida					×			1	-	2	+	1	+	+	+	+	
Trichosporium					+-	+	×	+-		×	×		╋	╋	-	+	Τ
Sarcina	×	×					+-	$\uparrow$	╞				+	+	┥,	+	Τ
Scopulariopsis sp.								+	×	+		×	+	-	~	+	Τ
<sup>a</sup> Biomedical Criteria		(AF33(61	5)-181	615)-1814). (22)	$\vdash$	┝	+-	┢	╞	$\uparrow$	╞	╞	+	╇	╉	+	
						1		-	-		-	-	-	-	-		]

The fact that <u>E. coli</u> was not always recovered may be an important consideration since staphylococcus, streptococcus, and corynebacterium were recovered in the great majority of tests, and it is felt that these types of bacteria may represent the true predominating flora of the anal folds.

# Axillary Microflora

"A knowledge of the organisms which normally inhabit the axilla is very scanty owning to lack of systematic study" according to Shehadeh, et al<sup>(25)</sup>. These authors performed a thorough study to implement the knowledge of the bacterial flora of the axilla, and they differentiated between the resident and transient flora.

### Table 7

# 'NORMAL AXILLARY FLORA

Resident Flora	Number	Percent
Coagulase negative staphylococci	49	98
Diphtheroids	38	76
Gram negative aerobacter	22	44
Alkaligenes fecalis	16	32
		_
<u>Transient Flora</u>	Number	Percent
<u>Transient Flora</u> Sarcina	<u>Number</u> 7	Percent 14
Sarcina	7	14
Sarcina Staphylococci aureus	 7 4	14 8

In many hundreds of axillary cultures, they<sup>(25)</sup> never isolated a culture displaying strict anaerobiosis. The authors felt that the resident corynebacteria are facultative. This finding is extremely important since many of the earlier authors neglected to establish the degree of anaerobiosis of their cultures and unless the oxidation-reduction potential of the medium has been established, the true anaerobiosis of the culture is in question. They<sup>(25)</sup> were unable to confirm the finding of Shelley, et al:  $(1953)^{(26)}$  that <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> occurred in 8% of his subjects. The successive axillary counts obtained by these authors<sup>(25)</sup> are a valuable contribution to knowledge of the axillary flora. (Table 8)

Rebell<sup>(2)</sup> recovered large numbers of diphtheroids from the axilla as well as the standard micrococcal flora and felt that <u>Aerobacter aerogenes</u> played an important role in many instances.

Republic Aviation Corporation's study  $^{(23)}$  found the normal axillary flora to consist of corynebacteria, varied staphylococci, micrococcus, occasional sarcina, aerobacter, <u>E. coli</u>, and actinomyces. (Table 9)

The other similar Republic Aviation Corporation study<sup>(22)</sup> is in general agreement with these findings, as is shown in Table 10, and the axillary counts obtained in the study <sup>(22)</sup> are summarized in Table 11.

Since topical application of antibacterial substances to the region of the axilla is a cultural requirement in many strata of society, a consideration of the effects of this application on the resident flora of the axilla is important. A detailed study was made by Kligman and Shehadeh (1963)<sup>(27)</sup>. They considered the dominant resident flora to consist of coagulase-negative staphylococci, diphtheroids, Aerobacter sp and alkaligenes. Staphylococcus aureus appeared transiently. Five agents including several antibiotics alone or in combination with aluminum salts were applied to one axilla for several months and an inert vehicle was applied to the opposite control axilla. 'With penicillin and streptomycin the staphylococci rapidly became resistant and deodorization is lost. Susceptible strains return to the axilla after treatment. The aluminum salt depresses the total count but does not alter the proportions of the resistant organisms. The use of neomycin alone or in combination with aluminum salts markedly suppresses the gram positive organisms and allows an overgrowth of gram negatives. The gram negatives which become dominant are those originally resistant to the antibiotic. Despite the change from a dominantly gram positive to a dominantly gram negative flora, deodorization is maintained as long as the antibiotic is used. With neomycin, bacterial resistance, sensitization, superinfection and colonization by fungi did

		Table 8	······································	
"SUCCESSIV	E BACTERIAL CO	DUNTS OF THE SA	ME AXILLA (MILLIO	$NS/cm^2)^a$
Subject	_0	2 Weeks	4 Weeks	8 Weeks
1	0.68	0.44	0.65	0.81
2	0.78	0.59	1.20	0.83
3	0.50	0.41	0.69	0.41
4	0.66	0.29	1.11	0.58
5	0.52	0.58	0.96	0.66
6	1.48	1.02	1.06	0.83
7	0.53	1.20	1.44	2.01
8	5.93	6.31	4.72	5.72
9	4.78	5.78	4.26	4.22
10	4.33	3.04	4.40	3.39
11	3.20	2.91	2.86	2.34
12	3.33	2.17	3.57	3.13
13	3.28	2.24	3.93	3.19
14	0.58	0.83	1.19	0.84
15	4.13	2.68	3.80	2.43
16	0.36	0.46	0.35	0.30
17	1.05	0.76	1.02	1.25
18	Q <b></b> 92	0.75	1.23	0.86
19	1.12	2.07	1.52	1.15
20	5.84	5.09	3.88	3.47
21	3.44	1.87	2.54	2.07
22	0.63	1.69	1.14	1.35
23	3.68	3.79	3.34	2.80
24	3.07	3.30	3.25	3.72
25	4.29	4.98	3.43	4.10
Avg.	2.36	2.21	2.30	2.10 "
a Shehadeh	n et al <sup>(25)</sup>			

,

		<u>-</u>	Table 9						
000	OCCURRENCE OF VARIOUS MICRO ORGANISMS ON AXILLA <sup>a</sup>	ARIOUS N	MICRO OF	GANISM	S ON AX	ILLA <sup>a</sup>			
Microflora	Subjects	T	5	ę	4	2	9	qL	ф.
Corynebacteria		×	x	×	×	1	×	x	x
Staph:									
phage + staph			x					x	
MSA + coag +		х	×					x	
MSA + coag -		х	x	x				x	×
MSA growth - no acid		х	x		×	×	x	x	×
Sarcina			×	x					
Micrococcus		x	×	×	×	×	×	x	×
<u>Aerobacter A</u>		x		x					
<u>E. Coli</u>					x				
Unident gram neg. rod					×				
Pro-actinomyces sp.					×	×		×	
Trichosporum			x						
a Effect of Diet & At & At & Skin Flora (23)	Atmosphere on Intestinal	estinal	Stapł	Staph = Staphylococci	ylococci				
b control subject			MSA		= Mannitol salt agar	ıgar			

۰,

																	ſ
						H	Table 10	0									
		occu	IRREN	CES C	F VAI	<b>OCCURRENCES OF VARIOUS MICRO-ORGANISMS ON AXILLA<sup>a</sup></b>	MICR	0-0R(	GANIS	MS OI	IXA N	LAa					
Subject Number	· 17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
Micro-flora																	
Aerobacter		x	x	X										_			
PPLO													×				
Streptococcus	×																
Corynebacteria	x	х	x	х		х	×			x	x	x	x	×	×	×	
Micrococcus	×		X	x													
Bacillaceae	×			x		x	x		x	x							
Proactinomyces	×		x	x	x	x	×	x	x			×					
Neisseria		х	x	х	x										×		
Staphylococcus	x	x	X	х	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	х	x	
Sarcina	×	x															
Obligate Anaerobes	×																
Fac. Anaerobes		х	x														
Mimae		x															
Yeast							×				-						
Gaffkya																×	
Helminthosporium sp.									x								
Mycelia sterila											x						
Nitrate neg. rod.									×								
Haemophilus								×									
					1000												

<sup>a</sup>Biomedical Criteria (AF33(615)-1814).<sup>(22)</sup>

.

.

					Table 11	11				
				AXILLA	AXILLA - (BACTERIAL COUNTS) <sup>a</sup>	AL COUNT	S) <sup>a</sup>			
					Cult. Period	Period				
Subject no.	1	2	e	4	5	9	2	œ	6	10
1	116,000	21,000	TNTC	TNTC	1,019,000	002	1, 030, 000	2,700	2,500	TNTC
3	2,600	TNTC	TNTC	10, 100	12, 100	TNTC	200	300	1,800	102,800
e	2,000	TNTC	TNTC	20,500	100, 500	13,500	202,900	100,500	12,800	52,400
4	7,000	TNTC	TNTC	2,100	5, 000	10,000	7, 500	5, 000	10, 100	7,500
5	700	800	1, 000	1,500	115,000	3, 500	8, 000	75, 000	50,000	250, 000
9	100	TNTC	1,000	25,000	150,000	7,500	300, 000	200,000	TNTC	TNTC
7	3, 500	TNTC	TNTC	39, 500	40, 000	TNTC	760, 000	TNTC	507,000	10,000
œ	400	TNTC	1,000	62, 500	230, 000	TNTC	70,000	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC
Counts e	Counts equivalent to 10 <sup>-3</sup>	to 10 <sup>-3</sup> b	bacteria							
a Effect	t of Diet 8	Ł Atmosph	tere on Int	testinal an	Effect of Diet & Atmosphere on Intestinal and Skin Flora <sup>(23)</sup>	23)				

•

٠

•

not occur even after three months of daily use. Neomycin would appear to be a safe and effective deodorant in the above concentration.  $"^{(27)}$ 

## Ear Microflora

The external auditory canal, as distinguished from the general skin area, is credited with the following flora by Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup>: Coagulase-negative staphylococci, coagulase-positive staphylococci, <u>Strep. mitis</u> and undifferentiated alpha and gamma streptococci, <u>D. pneumoniae</u>, aerobic corynebacteria, undifferentiated "coliforms", <u>E. coli</u>, <u>Klebsiella aerogenes</u>, <u>Proteus mirabilis</u>, <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>, <u>Alcaligenes faecalis</u>, <u>Candida albicans</u> and other candidas.

In a consideration of the flora of the external auditory canal, Singer, et al:  $(1952)^{(28)}$  studied the flora of 1,377 normal external auditory canals and the following bacterial groups were recovered.

## Table 12

### MICROFLORA OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITORY CANAL

		No. of Cultures Occurring	Percentage
''1.	Normal Ears		
	Diphtheroids	374	17
	Sporeformers	18	. 8
	Non-Hemolytic Staph citreus	26	1.2
	Beta-Hemolytic <u>Staph citreus</u>	14	. 6
	Non-Hemolytic <u>Staph aureus</u>	33	1.5
	Beta-Hemolytic Staph aureus	24	1.1
	Non-Hemolytic <u>Staph albus</u>	1,065	48.1
	Beta-Hemolytic Staph albus	1,420	64.5
	Gamma streptococcus	515	23.4
	Beta strep	2	. 1
	Alpha strep	4	. 2
	Paracolon group	2	. 1
	Alcaligenes group	24	1.1
	<u>Coli-aerogenous sp</u>	90	4.0
	Proteus	5	. 2
	Pseudomonas	29	1.3 "

In addition, these authors isolated <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u> in large numbers from the soft wax of the ear.

In a study by Hardy, et al:  $(1954)^{(29)}$  on the etiological agents of otitis, pseudomonas, other gram-negative rods, and streptococcus were isolated. These organisms are present in the minority in the normal ear and the authors did not feel that otitis is the result of an autoinfection by the normal flora.

In the more detailed study by Slavin, et al:  $(1946)^{(30)}$  of 100 cases of external otitis the following organisms were listed as causing external otitis:

## Table 13

## CAUSATIVE MICROORGANISMS OF EXTERNAL OTITIS

"Bacteria Present	Numbers
Actinomyces israeli	4
Aspergillus niger	3
Aspergillus flavus	4
<u>Aspergillus terreus</u>	4
Pseudomonas species	45
Staph albus	27
Unidentified diphtheroid	14
Streptococcus viridans	9
Chromobacter species	9
Sarcina lutea	2
Hemolytic streptococcus	2
Staph aureus	1 "

<u>Pseudomonas species</u> were not isolated from the normal ear canals of the controls.

In an effort to determine the mycological flora of the healthy external auditory canal, 120 subjects between the ages of 17 and 33 were examined by Lea, et al:  $(1958)^{(31)}$ .

The following organisms were isolated:

## Table 14

No. of Cultures	Frequency
6	20%
3	10%
3	10%
3	10%
3	10%
3	10%
2	6.6%
2	6.6%
1	3.3%
1	3.3%
1 .	3.3%
1	3.3%
1	3.3% "
	6 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1

## MICROFLORA OF EXTERNAL AUDITORY CANAL

In a recent study by Linthicum  $(1964)^{(32)}$ , 200 external auditory canals yielded positive cultures in 90% of the cases. The following bacteria were recovered:

## Table 15

# MICROFLORA OF EXTERNAL AUDITORY CANAL

'Types of Organisms Present	Percentage
Hemolytic <u>Staph aureus</u> Coagulase Negative	43%
Non-hemolytic Staph aureus coagulase negative	23%
Hemolytic Staph aureus coagulase positive	12%
Non-hemolytic <u>Staph aureus</u> coagulase positive	7%
Diphtheroids	<del>6</del> %

## Table 15 (cont.)

## MICROFLORA OF EXTERNAL AUDITORY CANAL

'Types of Organisms Present	Percentage
<u>B-subtlis</u>	2%
Staphylococcus	2%
Proteus	2%
Aerobacter	2%
Streptococcus	1% "

The data in Table 16 show the flora isolated from the normal ear of the subjects in the Biomedical Criteria Study to be corynebacteria, <u>Bacillaceae sp</u>, pro-actinomyces, staphylococcus, and in certain subjects - micrococcus, lacto-bacillus, neisseria, mimae, sarcina, candida, and moraxella. The gram nega-tive rods were conspicuous by their absence which is not in general agreement with the literature.

## Eye Microflora

Two studies by Winkler, et al: (33, 34) conclude that the normal flora of the eye is <u>Staphylococcus albus</u>, corynebacteria, <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u>, and occasionally gram negative rods, found in 8% of the subjects.

The results of the Republic Aviation Corporation study  $(^{22})$  on the normal flora of the eye show staphylococcus, occasionally <u>E. coli</u>, aerobacter, corynebacteria, micrococci, proactinomyces, neisseria, moraxella and in one instance each, an obligate anaerobe, and a facultative anaerobe to be present. (Table 17)

As summarized by Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> the microflora indigenous to the conjunctiva consists of: Coagulase-negative staphylococci, coagulase-positive staphylococci, <u>Str. mitis</u>, <u>Str. pyogenes</u>, <u>D. pneumoniae</u>, <u>N. catarrhalis</u>, aerobic corynebacteria, undifferentiated "coliforms" <u>Klebsiella aerogenes</u>, <u>Proteus mirabilis</u>, <u>Alcaligenes faecalis</u>, <u>Moraxella lacunata</u>, <u>Mima polymorpha</u>, <u>M. vaginicola</u>, <u>Haemophilus influenzae and H. aegyptius</u>.

															-	
		33														
	ŀ	32		×				Τ			×			×		
	Ī	31		×							×					
	Ī	30									×					
	Ī	29		×							×			×		
3a		28		х				×		×	×					
Table 16 OCCURRENCE OF VARIOUS MICRO-ORGANISMS IN EAR <sup>a</sup>		27		x			×	×			х			×		
I SMSI		26		x							×					
RGAN		25		×			×				x					
6 3RO-O		24						×	х		х					
Table 16 US MICF		23					х	х			х					
T ARIOU		22				×	x	х	×		×					
OF V		21				×	×	x			×			х	х	22)
ENCE		20		×	×		×	×			×		x			F33 (615) [814).
URRI		19		×	T			×	×		×		×			615)-1
000		18		×			×	×			×	×				A F 33
		17		×	×						×	×				ria (A
				ria.				ces		sp.	ns					cal Crite
		Subject Number	Micro-flora	Corvnebacteria	Micrococci	Lactobacillus	Bacillaceae	Proactinomyces	Neisseria	Penicillium sp.	Staphylococcus	Mimae	Sarcina	Candida sp.	Moraxella	<sup>a</sup> Bio medical Criteria
			∑		2		<u> </u>	۱ <u>۳</u>	Z		1 N	ſ	l w		[	

.

						-	Table 17	17									
		ŏ	OCCURRENCE OF VARIOUS MICROORGANISMS IN EYE <sup>a</sup>	ENCE	OF V	ARIOU	JS MIC	ROOR	(GA NE	II SMS	и ЕУЕ	æ_					
Subject Number	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
Micro-flora																	
E. coli		x													;		
Aerobacter		x													*		
Streptococci				×													
Corynebacteria	×	×		×					1						-	-	
Micrococci		×		x					1	1						+	
Proactinomyces						×			+	1				+		-+	
Neisseria			x						+				1		+	+	
Staphylococcus	×	×	x	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
Moraxella		×			×			×					+	1	1		
Fac. anaerobes				×											+		
Ob. anaerobes	×											1		+		+	
<sup>a</sup> Bio medical Criteria (AF33(615)-1814), (22)	ia (A	F33(6	315)-18	14). (2:	5)												

•

•

.

.

The bacteriology (as reflected by the normal flora) of the eye is of extreme importance to surgeons and most of the studies of the normal flora of the eye have been made for this reason. An exhaustive study of 1,604 patients who were pre-operative cataract patients was performed by Cason, et al:  $(1954)^{(35)}$ . The following organisms were recovered by Cason and Table 18 also includes the results of Khorazo and Thompson  $(1935)^*$ .

The coagulase test performed on certain of the cultures showed that the <u>S. albus</u> was always negative, but that both hemolytic and non-hemolytic <u>S. aureus</u> were occasionally coagulase-positive. The authors felt that the skin was the most common source of the organisms. It is interesting to note that the percentage of gram-negative rods reported was greater than that found by other authors.

As shown by Winkler, et al: (1954)<sup>(36)</sup> in an attempt to relate post-operative infection to pre-operative flora of 1,653 cataract patients panophthalmitis developed post-operatively in 11 patients. In 10 of these cases, the causative organism was a gram-negative rod of the enteric group. "The role of gram negative bacilli as 'opportunists' in causing infection was suspected after the first case of panophthalmitis. Subsequent infections confirmed the potential pathogenicity of members of the enteric group of bacilli."

In an effort to establish the bacteriological causes of infection following the use of contact lenses, Bettman  $(1963)^{(37)}$  cultured the fornices of the eye of 69 control subjects: of these, 36 were sterile, 31 carried <u>Staph. aureus</u>, 2 carried <u>Staph. albus</u>, 4 carried alpha or gamma hemolytic strep, 2 carried diphtheroids, and 1 carried <u>B. subtilis</u>.

An interesting study was performed by Das, et al: (1955)<sup>(38)</sup> who studied the bacteriology of the conjunctival discharge of 50 persons. In addition, the discharge from meibomian glands in 25 normal persons as well as washings from the lachrymal sac in 25 subjects were studied and the bacterial flora of the external auditory meatus was determined in 25 normal subjects and compared with the findings from 100 cases of corneal ulceration (Table 19).

<sup>\*</sup> Khorazo, D.; and Thompson, R.: Am. J. Ophthalmol., vol. 18, 1935, pp. 1114.

## Table 18

•

•

•

## MICROFLORA OF EYE

		njunctiva		ds	Results of K&T
" Organism	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	Percent
Staph albus	1097	68	1531	95	41
Staph aureus	105	7	199	12	23
Micrococcus citreus	7	1	15	1	
Diphtheroids	531	33	612	40	36
Sarcina	19	1	58	3	1
Strep. pyogenes	4	1	2	1	1.2
Strep. viridans (sp.)	7	1	4	1	3.4
Indifferent strep.	2	1	3	1	
Pneumococcus	8	1	7	1	2.6
<u>Neisseria catarrhalis</u>	3	1	10	1	
<u>Neisseria sicca</u>	3	1	4	1	
<u>B. subtilis</u>	5	1	26	2	(9)
A. aerogenes	21	1	25	2	(1)
<u>P. vulgaris</u>	19	1	24	1	(6)
<u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>	8	1	11	1	(4)
<u>E. coli</u>	3	1	3	1	(5)
<u>A. faecalis</u>	1	1	3	1	(3)
K. pneumoniae	0		3	1	
Unidentified Gram Negative Rods	23	1	38	2	
<u>Monilia (Candida)</u>	2	1	3	1	(5)
Cryptococcus	1	1	0	1	(5)
No Growth	374	23	45	3	(17)
() = Actual Number, No	t Perce	ent ''			

\* Khorazo, D.; and Thompson, R.: Am. J. Ophthalmol., vol. 18, 1935, pp. 1114.

## Table 19

## RESULTS OF CULTURES BY DAS

17

#### No. Occurring 6 Normal Conjunctiva: pneumococcus 3 Strep. viridans 2 Staph. pyogenes 29 C. xerosis 19 Non-pathogenic staph Negative 16 Pneumococcus 2 Meibomian Glands: 4 Strep. viridans Staph. pyogenes 2 10 C. xerosis Non-pathogenic staph 8 1 Micrococci Non-hemolytic strep 1 9 Negative 1 Strep. viridans Lachrymal Sac: 8 C. xerosis Non-pathogenic staph 12 Micrococci 1 1 N. catarrhalis Negative 8 10 External Auditory Meatus C. xerosis Non-pathogenic staph 17 3 Micrococcus tetragenus 3 Negative

## Table 19 (cont.)

## RESULTS OF CULTURES BY DAS

Corneal Ulcer:

	No. Occurring
Pneumococcus	8
Strep. viridans	8
Staph. pyogenes	31
<u>C</u> xerosis	35
Non-pathogenic staph	22
Strep. haemolyticus	2
B. pyocyaneous	14
M. tetragenes	3
<u>N. catarrhalis</u>	1
Non-haemolytic strep	1
* Negative	19

\* Note: 5 of the 19 showed either gram positive cocci or gram positive bacilli on smear. "

### Finger and Toenail Microflora

The normal bacteriological flora of the finger or toenail has never been completely defined since most of the studies have dealt with the organisms present in paronychia or similar condition and with the fungi of the toewebs rather than of the toenail. The only references reviewed revealed that histopathology results from penetration of the epidermis in the vicinity of the nail and the nail itself seems to be sterile (Stone, et al: (1962 and 1965)<sup>(39, 40)</sup>. In a further investigation of the role of <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u> in nail disease, the following organisms were recovered in culture with pseudomonas by Stone, et al: (1963)<sup>(41)</sup>: "<u>Candida albicans</u>, <u>Geotricum species</u>, <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>, <u>Proteus mirabilis</u>, Alpha hemolytic streptococcus, streptococcus (enterococci group), gamma hemolytic streptococci, <u>Escherichia intermedium</u>, <u>Micrococcus species</u>, <u>Sarcina species</u>, <u>Aerobacter</u> <u>aerogenes</u>, <u>Paracolobacterium aerogenes</u>, as well as unidentified gram negative rods and diphtheroids." The predominant interdigital flora of the toewebs as shown in Table 20 seems to be composed of staphylococcus, corynebacteria, proactinomyces, and occasionally micrococci, bacillaceae, and various members of the fungal family.

## Scalp Microflora

In a thorough study of the scalps of 100 individuals by MacKee, et al:  $(1938)^{(42)}$ , an interesting separation of the numbers of differing kinds of microorganisms was possible on the basis of whether the scalps were: (1) "normal", (2) dry with a hair loss, (3) oily, or (4) showed seborrheic eczema. The results of this study are summarized in Table 21.

It is interesting to note the high percentages of anaerobic diphtheroids and scurf staphylococci in alopecia. This author's work was in agreement with the findings of Templeton  $(1926)^{(43)}$ .

Further work on <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u> was done by Spoor, et al:  $(1954)^{(44)}$  who found this organism present in 60% of the subjects, but felt that proof was lacking for the indictment of <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u> as a causative agent of dandruff. Work was done on several hundred scalps both normal and seborreheic in the age bracket of 15-55 years. When the subjects were separated by age category the incidence of <u>P. ovale</u> was 70% up to the age of 45 years and 40% between the ages of 45-60.

The "scalps" cultured during the Air Force study  $(^{22})$  yielded a flora mainly composed of corynebacterium and staphylococci with sporadic occurrence of other micro-organisms as shown in Table 22.

## Umbilicus Microflora

No papers on the microflora of the umbilicus were found in the literature, but the flora of the umbilicus as shown by Republic Aviation Corporation studies is recorded in Table 23 and consisted mainly of staphylococci with sporadic appearance of streptococci, corynebacteria, micrococci, bacillaceae, proactinomyces, and neisseria.

			T	<u> </u>	T T	T	-	1		1		r	(		
		33			ļ										
		32		×	×				×						
		31							×					×	
		30			×				×				х		
		29			×				×			x			
	ES <sup>a</sup>	28			×				×						
	N TO	27			×				×			×			
	SMS (	26			x				x						
	RGANI	25			×				×						
20	OCCURRENCES OF VARIOUS MICROORGANISMS ON TOES <sup>8</sup>	24						×	×						
Table 20	JIM SU	23						x	×						
	ARIOI	22					x	x	×						
	OF V	21						x	×		x				
	NCES	20			x	x			×						14).
	URRE	19						x	×	×					15)-18
	000	18							×						F336
		17			x			x	×						ia (A
		Subject Number	Micro-flora	E. coli	Corynebacteria	Micrococci	Bacillaceae	Proactinomyces	Staphylococcus	Yeasts	T. rubrium	Penicillium sp.	Pseudomonas	T. mentagrophytes	<sup>a</sup> Biomedical Criteria (AF33(515)-1814).

.

.

•

		Number	Scalp	Roots
	Normal	20		
	Staph albus		70	25
	Staph epidermis		20	
	Scurf staph		50	30
_	Staph aureus		10	
	Diphtheroids		5	15
	Unidentified		55	25
	Pityrosporum ovale		70	
:.	Dryness with Hair Loss	33		
	Staph albus		81	21
	Staph epidermis		6	3
·	Scurf staph		90	39
	Staph aureus		6	
	Diphtheroids		3	62
	Unidentified		30	33
	Pityrosporum ovale		97	
3.	Oiliness	10		
	Staph albus		80	10
	Staph epidermis		20	10
	Scurf staph		70	50
	Staph aureus			
-	Diphtheroids			70
	Unidentified		20	20
	Pityrosporum ovale		100	

٠

• .

46

-

		Table 21 (cont.)	)	
		Number	Scalp	Roots
4.	Seborrheic Eczema	50		
	Staph albus		50	12
	Staph epidermis		12	
	Scurf staph	Ĩ	12	24
-	Staph aureus		12	24
	Diphtheroids		12	62
وتكتنون	Unidentified		62	50
	Pityrosporum ovale		75	<b>– –</b>

The fungi found irregularly were:

-

٠

.

•

Aspergillus Macrosporium

Alternaria

Rhizopus

Chaetomium

Mucor

Cryptococcus

Torula

Dematium

Mycoderma "

a MacKee et al (1938)<sup>(42)</sup>

<u> </u>					•		1				
	33			ĺ							
	32		×					×			
	31							×			
	30		×					×			
	29		×					×			
1LP <sup>8</sup>	28							×			
N SC/	27		×					x	x		
O SMS	26		x					х			
GANIS	25		×					x			
Table 22 OCCURRENCE OF VARIOUS MICROORGANISMS ON SCALP <sup>8</sup>	24					x		х			
Table 22 US MICR	23					x		×			
T	22							×			
OF VA	21							×			
NCE	20						x	×		х	(AF33(615)-1814). <sup>(22)</sup>
URRE	19							×			15)-18
occ	18		x		х			×			F33(6
	17			×				×			
	Subject Number	Micro-flora	Corynebacteria	Micrococci	Bacillaceae	Proactinomyces	Neisseria	Staphylococcus	Trichosporum	Fac. anaerobes	<sup>a</sup> Biomedical Criteria

J	occui	RENC	CE OF	VARI	Table 23 OCCURRENCE OF VARIOUS MICROORGANISMS IN UMBILICUS <sup>a</sup>	Table 23 MICROO	13 ORGAI	SWSIN	IN NI	MBILI	cusa					
Subject Number 17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
Micro-flora								· · ·								
Streptococci		x	x													
Corynebacteria		х				x						×		×		
Micrococci x	x	x														
Bacillaceae						x	х			x						
Proactinomyces						x	×	<u></u>								
Neisseria x		х														
Staphylococcus x	x	x	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
Fac. anaerobes		х														
<u>Penicillium sp.</u>										x						
Scopulariopsis								×								
<sup>a</sup> Biomedical Criteria ( <sup>e</sup>	AF33(	(AF33(515)-1814). (22)	814).	22)												

.

٠

.

•

## Borderline Between Normal and Pathogenic Microflora

Since the borderline between normal and potentially pathogenic skin flora is so close the various articles reviewed including those on fungi, viruses and staphylococci, will be treated in this section rather than in the section on normal flora.

## Mycological Flora

The mycological flora of the skin is important both from a medical and endemological viewpoint.

In an effort to establish this "normal" mycological flora of the skin, many papers were reviewed and those considered most pertinent will be discussed. Connell, et al: (1953)<sup>(45)</sup> cultured 250 normal subjects between the ages of 17 and 30 (unbathed for 3 days) from the axilla, lumbar region, inframammary area, umbilicus, and between the fingers and toes. One thousand one hundred twentyone (1, 121) organisms were isolated. These included <u>Cryptococcus aerius</u>, <u>Cryptococcus minor</u>, <u>Cryptococcus rotundatus</u>, <u>Lycomyces starkeyi</u>, and <u>Candida</u> <u>mesenterica</u>. The following organisms were isolated from the body and the air: <u>Cryptococcus albidus</u>, <u>Cryptococcus diffluens</u>, <u>Cryptococcus laurentii</u>, <u>Crypto-</u> <u>coccus var</u>. <u>flavescens</u>, <u>Cryptococcus luterhu</u>, <u>Candida lepolytic</u>, and <u>Candida</u> <u>zeylanoides</u>. The largest number of recoveries was from the toe area closely followed by the fingers, and roughly equal recoveries were made from the other body areas.

Benham, et al (1933)<sup>(46)</sup>, in an attempt to define the etiological relationship of fungi recovered from the skin to the flora of the intestinal tract, studied 100 "normal" individuals. He recovered yeast-like fungi from 72%; in 38, two or more species were recovered from the skin and nails and in 23, cryptococci were recovered from two differing skin areas. He could establish no relationship between the intestinal flora and that of the skin except in two instances of Candida. He discussed the paper by Greenbaum, et al: (1922)\* who studied 150 "normal"

\*Greenbaum, S.S.; and Klauder, N.V.: Yeast Infections of the Skin. Arch. Dermat. Syphilol., vol. 5, 1922, pp. 332-336. patients who yielded 35 strains of yeast-like fungi. They concluded that yeasts were found normally, and under certain circumstances the yeasts became pathogenic and caused superficial infections. In addition Benham reviewed the paper of Jessner, et al: (1925)\*\*, who had found fungi under the fingernails of 60% of the ''normal'' population in agreement with the findings of Stachlin, et al: (1932)\*\*\*. In direct opposition to these articles is the work of Falchi (1926)\*\*\*\* who found fungi under the nails of only 10% of the ''normal'' population. Another pertinent paper mentioned by this author was that of Ravaut, et al: (1929)\*\*\*\* who had observed 150 ''normal'' individuals and cultured yeast-like fungi from approximately 75%.

Increase in the absolute quantities of sebum on the surface of the scalp which occurs after puberty is a factor in the immunity of adults to certain types of scalp ringworm. It seems probable that the fatty material is presented to the skin population in the form of triglycerides, and that members of the community which occupy the fat-splitting ecological niche hydrolyze the triglyceride, thus producing free fatty acids with anti-microbial powers.

One of the principal investigators who dealt with the position of dermal fungi was diMenna who, in one of her many studies  $(1954)^{(47)}$ , found the non-lipophilic yeast flora of the skin was like that of the air, both in species and proportion, and found that the four dominant species were <u>Debaryomyces sp.</u>, Cryptococcus sp., Rhodotorula sp., and Cladosporium sp.

In a study by Skinner, C.E.; Connell, G.H.; and Hurd, R.M.: (1952) (quoted from di Menna) yeasts were isolated from 50% of 275 persons repeatedly, and the

\*\* Jessner, M.; and Kleiner, S.: Arch. F. Dermat-u. Syph., vol. 149, 1925, pp. 363.

\*\*\* Stachlin, A.; Mu, J.W.; and van Schouren, M.: Arch. F. Dermat-u. Syph., vol. 165, 1932, pp. 294.

\*\*\*\* Falchi, G.: Arch. F. Dermatol-u. Syph., vol. 152, 1926, pp. 427.
\*\*\*\*\* Ravaut, P.; Rabeau, H.; Longhin; and Slomovici, L.: Bull. Soc.
franc de Dermat et Syph., vol. 36, 1929, pp. 607.

authors felt that the cultures originated in the environment. Of the positive cultures 10% were <u>Rhodotorula sp.</u>, 85% were cryptococcus, and 5% miscellaneous.

In a study of <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u>, Spoor, H.J., et al  $(1954)^{(44)}$  found this organism present in 60% of the persons, and felt that was not related to sebor-rheic infection, but that the age susceptibility may play a part. In a study of 196 males, up to age of 45 about 70% of the males showed positive cultures of P. ovale, between ages 45-60 less than 40%, and above 60 years of age 70%.

Ravits  $(1948)^{(48)}$  studied 100 patients with various dermatoses and 100 "normal" controls. Seventy-five percent of the "normals" carried cryptococcus while only 54% of the patients with the dermatoses exhibited positive cultures. This is in contrast to Felsenfeld (1944)<sup>\*</sup> who found cryptococcus in 30% of his "normal" controls. In Ravits' study<sup>(48)</sup> the toes and fingers were about equally infested while the umbilicus and axilla showed half as much and the inframammary region had none.

In a recent study by Bohme (1965)<sup>(49)</sup>, 11.6% of the hair and nails of his subjects were infected with fungi; i.e., dermatophytes. Only one-third of these were identified and they fell into the following groups: <u>Trichosporon cutaneum</u>, <u>Debaryo-</u><u>myces kloeckeri</u>, <u>Candida parapsilosis</u>, <u>Candida albicans</u>, rhodotorula, torulopsis, and <u>Candida guilliermondii</u>.

As part of the study by Blank  $(1964)^{(50)}$ , 100 subjects were sent from Virginia to Panama for a period of six weeks. After their stay in Panama 60% of the men had pathogenic fungi somewhere on their skin, 50% had erythrasma of the toe webs, and 12% had significant pseudomonas infection of the skin. It is felt that mosquitoes, ants, and flies helped in the spread of these troublesome cutaneous bacterial infections.

Friedman  $(1960)^{(51)}$ , in a study of a large number of children, found that approximately 56% had positive cultures of dermatophytes, but only 22% were actually infected as determined by finding endothrix or ectothrix hairs which could be confirmed by fluorescence with Wood's light.

<sup>\*</sup> Felsenfeld, O.: Amer. J. Med. Sci., vol. 207, Jan. 1944, pp. 60.

In an examination of 839 subjects, Carion  $(1963)^{(52)}$  found the following distribution of ringworm:

## Table 24

## DISTRIBUTION OF RINGWORM

Tinea pedis	327 cases	39% of total
Tinea unguium	202	24.1%
<u>Tinea</u> corporis	172	20.5%
<u>Tinea capitis</u>	97	11.6%
Candidiasis	18	2.1%
<u>Tinea nigra</u>	11	1.3%
Tinea nodosa	7	0.8%
<u>Tinea</u> barbae	5	0.6% "

11

Only five cases of skin candidiasis were found between 1939 and 1949.

The indigenous character of Candida has often been in question. An interesting case of an infant born with moniliasis without prior known rupture of the membrane is reported by Jahn and Cherry  $(1964)^{(53)}$ 

In a search to establish the prevalence of <u>Candida albicans</u>, Marwin (1949)<sup>(54)</sup> cultured 200 normal subjects, average age 25 years and 109 'pathological' subjects (average age of 45). He found only 1.5% of the 'normals' carried <u>Candida albicans</u> as compared to 6.4% of the 'pathologicals' who carried it. The majority were isolated from the skin of the toes, axilla, and umbilicus.

One of the largest groups of men to be examined for the determination of the presence of skin disease or dermatomycosis was in a series studied by Cullen  $(1963)^{(55)}$  (Table 25).

The endemic or epidemic character of <u>Tinea capitis</u> is an interesting problem and the study performed by Kallos  $(1962)^{(56)}$  summarizes the importance of <u>Tinea</u> <u>capitis</u> among the dermatophytes, since an extremely large portion of the population

### Table 25

#### PRESENCE OF SKIN DISEASE

" Pyoderma Group	123	0.46%
Herpes Simplex	19	0.07%
Leprosy of skin	1	0.0004%
Syphilis of Skin	2	0.007%
Verruca vulgaris	180	0.67%
Zoster	4	0.01%
The dermatomycosis:	5.92%	
Total: 1,580		4.39%
Tinea versicolor	1,171	4.39%
<u>Tinea cruris</u>	286	1.07%
<u>Tinea</u> pedis	40	0.15%
<u>Tinea circinata</u>	14	0.05%
Onychomycosis	8	0.03% "

of varying countries is affected and until recently man seemed unable to fight the disease with any appreciable success. The geographic distribution is admirably summarized in the following chart. (Table 26).

In a further geographical survey, Chaglassian, et al:  $(1962)^{(57)}$  discusses the epidemiology of the cutaneous diseases in the Middle East. He studied 2,652 patients. Only 7% of these showed skin diseases of bacterial origin while 12% of the skin diseases could be traced to mycotic causal agents. The cultural distribution of the dermatophytes is summarized in the following chart (Table 27).

Several papers considering the factors affecting infection with fungi were reviewed.

In order to determine the indigenous character or the susceptibility to infection with <u>Tinea versicolor</u>, Burke's  $(1961)^{(58)}$  study determined the following causal factors: (1) genetic, (2) chronic illness, (3) malnutrition, (4) lack of

			Table 2	6		
'' RELAT	IVE INCI			SING TINEA C. SCHOENLEIN		LUSIVE
Country	Micro	phyton	······································			
	Canis	Audouini	Violaceum	Tonsurans*	Mentagr.	Ferrugineun
France	+++	++++	+	++		
Spain	+		+++++	++		
Portugal	+		+++++	++		
Italy	+	++	++++	++		
Yugoslavia		+	++++	+		++
Greece			++++	ļ		
Turkey	<b>+++</b>	+	+	+		
Israel			<del>***</del>	++		
Iran			++++			
Egypt			<b>┽┼┾</b> ╋	+		
Libya	5 2		++	+++		
Tunisia		+	<b>+++</b>	++		
Algeria		+	<del>++++</del>	++		
Morocco		+	<del>+++</del> +	++		
Cameroun		+	++++	++		
Haute Volta		++	<del>*</del> ++	++++		
Tchad.		+	++	++++		
Guinea	ļ	+	++	++++		
Ivory Coast		++++		+++		
Nigeria		++++				
Angola			+	++		<del>++++</del>
Congo			+	++		<del>+++</del> +
South Africa	++++		+			
India		+	<b>++</b> ++	+	++	++
Malaya	++		++++	+		+++
U. S. S. R.	++		++++	+		+++
Japan			++	+		<del>+++</del> +
Australia	<b>+++</b> +	+	+	+		
New Zealand	+++	+	+	+		

-

a Kallas (1962)(56)

•

•

L

i

.

Table 26 (continued)         RELATIVE INCIDENCE OF FUNGI CAUSING TINEA CAPITIA EXCLUSIVE									
RELATI	IVE INCII	DENCE OF OF TRYC	FUNGI CAU	SING TINEA C. SCHOENLEIN	APITIA EXC I <sup>a</sup>	LUSIVE			
Country	Miero	sporum			ophyton				
	Canis	Audouini	Violaceum	Tonsurans*	Ferrugineum				
England	++++	+++	+	+					
Ireland	+++	+++							
Denmark	+++	+							
Finland	+		++++	++					
Germany	+	++++	+	++					
Holland	++++	+							
Belgium	+++	++							
Switzerland	++	+							
Hungary	<del>++++</del>	++	+++	++					
Poland		+	++++	+					
Checkoslov.	+		+	+	++++	+			
Rumania	1		++++	+					
Bulgaria			++++						
Peru	+++		+	+					
Argentina	***		+	+					
Chile	++++	+							
Uruguay	++++		+	+		j .			
Brazil	++++		+++	++					
Venezuela	++++			++					
Mexico	+			++++					
El Salvador				++++					
Guatemala	+++			+					
Honduras	+++			+					
Nicaragua	+++			+					
Costa Rica	<b>+</b> +++			+		1			
Cuba	<b>+++</b>			+++					
Jamaica		++++							
U.S.A.	+++	++++		+					
Porto Rico	+	+		++++					
Canada	++++	+++		+		<u> </u>			

\* <u>Trichophyton tonsurans</u>, <u>Trichophyton soudanensi</u> and <u>Trichophyton Yaoundei</u> were included under the same heading."

a Kallas (1962)(56) "

Table 27

----•

٠

.

٠

" CULTURAL DISTRIBUTION OF DERMATOPHYTES<sup>a</sup>

JATOT	38	20	23	45	62	58	45	308 "
M. canis	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	3++	e
muəsqug . M	I	I	ł	ı	ı	I	8+	ø
E.floce	I	ł	1	4	35	80	I	48
<u>inisInsodoz.T</u>	ı	ı	I	I	ł	1	ი	4
<u>soouttev.T</u>	·	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	1
angunanot.T	ı	I	61	ł	I	1	ი	9
.gstnəm . T	I	ı	1	19	ß	10	7	37
muəəsloiv.T	1	ı	2	1	2	4	21	30
murdur . T	7	ı	9	6	17	25	4	68
C. albicans	31	20	al** 11	12	20	6	ı	103
	Nails	Oro-ano-genital*	Hands & Interdigital** 11	Feet	Groin	Body	Scalp	TOTAL

- \* \* + ‡
- Includes angle of the mouth. From palmar lesions. Repeated cultures from two patients. Repeated cultures from one patient.
- a Chaglassian (1962)<sup>(57)</sup>

vitamins, and (5) changes induced by abnormally high indigenous or administered plasma cortisone levels.

A study of 297 women by Buck and Hasendiver  $(1963)^{(59)}$  to determine the relative sensitivity and specificity of skin and agglutination tests in relation to the presence or absence of Candidiasis and of the saprophytic growth of the fungus resulted in the conclusion that there was a negative association between the size of the induration and the skin reaction and agglutination titers.

An effort was made to simulate infection by the inoculation of various dermatophytes on hair, and an interesting conclusion was drawn to the effect that appearance of the invasion by dermatophytes is different in simulated infection than that cf actual disease. It was felt by Raubitschek  $(1963)^{(60)}$  that the common dermatophytes such as <u>Trichophyton-mentagraphytes</u>, <u>Trichophyton rubrum</u>, <u>Trichophyton</u> <u>tonsurans</u>, <u>Trichophyton violaceum</u>, <u>Trichophyton schoenleini</u>, and <u>Epidermophyton</u> <u>floccosum</u> were present without disease in many subjects.

## Viral Flora of Skin

The common viral inhabitants of the skin are numerous and the part that they play in the ecology of the microflora has never been clearly defined. Much further work is necessary to clarify the part they play in the economy of the skin.

Several members of the poxvirus group can become temporary inhabitants of the skin and one, <u>Poxvirus mollusci</u> lives only in the layers of the skin and possibly is a true member of the cutaneous biocenose.<sup>(6)</sup> In addition to causing tumor-like growths on the skin it can infect the conjunctiva. It is possible that members of this group have an inhibitory effect on the growth of pathogenic bacteria but no detailed information exists on this possibility. Marples' view is that, since these poxviruses are present without apparent infection in large numbers, they may be members of the normal flora.

<u>Herpesvirus Hominis</u> is a virus which may be considered to fall within a discussion of the normal biota of the skin. In more than 90% of the population an attack of herpesvirus has no symptoms and is sub-clinical in nature. Its identification is made by demonstrating a specific antibody. However, after an invasion, whether asymptomatic or symptomatic, the virus remains quiescent for the duration of the host life. Whenever the resistance of the host becomes sufficiently lowered the herpesvirus may easily cause symptoms. Marples<sup>(6)</sup> states that "<u>Herpesvirus hominis</u> is an extremely successful and well-adapted parasite of man. It is able to invade the superficial tissues of the majority of individuals and can so enter into the life of the host cells that it survives and divides with them unrecognized, except during a few fleeting incidents when multiplication and dissemination can occur."

Bacterial invasion of a herpes lesion has not been recorded. In a recent publication, Schneierson and Shore  $^{(61)}$  demonstrated that antibacterial activity was possessed by the herpesvirus in vitro and this activity may be responsible for the lack of bacterial invasion of herpes lesion.

Another common skin lesion produced by virus is a wart. It is believed that these viruses are members of the Papova group. Recent studies revealed information on the etiology of warts and it is felt that infective particles are often present without frank wart formation, as they can inhabit the epidermis without substrate change.

Plantar warts, as studied by Grigg & Wilhelm<sup>(62)</sup> revealed the high incidence of 4.47% in the normal school population of 2,389 children. The authors felt that approximately 23% of the families with school aged children in-cluded wart viruses among their skin flora.

An excellent summary of virus infections of the skin by Church  $(1964)^{(63)}$  serves to focus attention on the fact that "Bacterial and fungus diseases of the skin are no longer the problem they once were. Of virus diseases we know a great deal concerning the organisms and the serological reactions which they provoke but when it comes to treatment we are no further forward than Kebra (1866) "Experience then teaches that an expectant treatment is the best, so long as an herpetic eruption is present."

A survey of East Anglian schools revealed an incidence of plantar warts of approximately 6.5% and other warts 10%. The plantar warts were twice as

numerous in girls as in boys and it was felt that was not a sex-linked characteristic but rather due to the fact that girls were bare-footed during gymnastics.

'The herpes simplex virus can produce a secondary infection on skin damaged by eczema."  $^{(63)}$ 

'The concept of a primary infection followed by a dormant virus which can be provoked into activity by a variety of stimuli has been illustrated by the example of herpes simplex. The same sequence of events is thought to occur in herpes zoster, the primary infection being chickenpox." (63)

## Staphylococci

Since some of the predominating members of the skin flora are the various staphylococci strains, it is essential to consider the possible conditions underlying the transition from normal to pathologic flora. Many excellent papers deal with varying aspects of this problem and representative areas will be reviewed.

In an attempt to define the parameters in this transition Bowers, R.E.;  $(1964)^{(64)}$ , in a study of the pyogenic infections of the skin, felt that although the skin resistance to bacterial invasion and damage is great, its powers of surface disinfection are very limited. Most of the areas which are considered to be "carrier" sites are moist, warm places; i.e., anterior nares, axillae, and perineum. Pathogenic bacteria growing on these areas do not necessarily cause manifest disease in the host or his contacts, but when they do, they appear to achieve this state by being spread in such large numbers that the natural defenses are overwhelmed. There seems to be some correlation between carrier sites and areas affected by the disease; i.e., recurrent boils of the thighs and groin area would signify perineal carriage; a lesion on the face or neck - nasal carriage.

The author  $^{(64)}$  felt that the predisposing factors to staphylococcal infection are the following:

- 1. Eczema
- 2. Nasal folliculitis, fissures behind the ears
- 3. Poor personal hygiene
- 4. Parasitic infection

In an effort to establish the self-sterilizing power of the skin, Ricketts, et al:  $^{(65)}$  performed a series of in vitro experiments demonstrating the bactericidal powers of fatty acids on cultures of pathogenic streptococci and staphy-lococci.

One of the parameters necessary for pathogenicity of an organism is its ability to become established and sustained by the host. For example, as mentioned by Panos,  $(1963)^{(66)}$ , staphylococcus has the following prominent exotoxins: enterotoxin, leucocidin, hemolyosins, coagulase, and fibrinolysin; hyaluronidase, and dioxyribonuclease are also present in strains of staphylococcus, but their ability to cause disease is in proportion to the ease with which an infectious process can become established. Usually, this is the result of physical injury or an alteration in the host resistance or an increased susceptibility to the pathogen.

Juhlin  $(1965)^{(67)}$  feels there is a connection between hygienic measures used and the incidence of infection in thousands of hospital patients. An extensive study demonstrated the necessity of isolating any patient with a staphylococcal infection and of the hospital personnel wearing protective coats and gloves and using a "bac" wash.

In a study in Turkey, Cetin  $(1962)^{(68)}$  demonstrated that many individuals are carriers of potentially pathogenic bacteria, particularly on the skin, which might cause auto-infection when a favorable background is available. In particular, those strains that are antibiotic-resistant are responsible for infection in individuals whose resistance is low. He was able to phage type 225 strains of <u>Staphylococcus</u> aureus recovered from skin infection.

Popchrestov, P., et al: (1965)<sup>(69)</sup> performed an interesting experiment by tagging staphylococci with P32 in order to determine the spread of the organisms. It was felt that the normal skin flora possessed an antagonistic action which prohibited the growth of the organism, since the spread of staphylococcus was so minute on the borders of colonies that a Geiger counter could not follow the P32 marked staphylococci. In addition the cultures possessed a weakened biological characteristic after growth on the skin.

In another approach, Wallace, H.J. (1964)<sup>(70)</sup> felt that many cases of chronic staphylococcus infection suggest "seborrheic background" possibly an inherited tendency of the skin to break down in characteristic areas which are well supplied with sebaceous and sweat glands. Such breakdown may be precipitated <u>inter alia</u> by systemic infections, excessive sweating, or a secondary infection. It is possible that a carrier state may exist in the peri-anal area as well as the nares. Less frequently, carrier states have been found in the axilla, fingernails, ears and sometimes even in the margin of the eyelids.

The possibility of susceptibility to staphylococci infection being a sex linked characteristic has been explored in a recent study by Thompson, et al:  $(1963)^{(71)}$ . This exhaustive study dealt with 2,147 newborn infants of which 1,938 were followed for a substantial period. The frequency of colonization of males by <u>Staphylococcus</u> <u>aureus</u> ranged 6.4% higher than in females and there were 2.7 sites per diseased male. The localization of the lesions in the male were in the anterior diaper area, the groin, the superpubic area and the lower abdominal area, while in the females the eye was the most frequently infected area, followed by the face.

Among the few studies directed at establishing the relationship of the size of inoculum to the lesion is the fine work of  $Elek^{(72)}$ .

ĺ

ł

In a study of the "Problems of the Initiation of Dermal Staphylococcal Lesions",  $Elek^{(72)}$  attempted to elucidate the nature of the interaction between the microbe and the man, and used the hypothesis that <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> effects on animal cells could possibly explain the production of lesions in man. <u>In vivo</u>, he found it was necessary to use 5 million cocci to produce a pustule. In rabbits, the dosage was ten times greater. The chemical basis of the virulence of staphylococci is different in man and rabbits and it is a fallacy to try to project <u>in vitro</u> results in rabbits to <u>in vivo</u> results in humans. The author postulated that an intermediate mechanism allowing a small inoculum to multiply for a few hours unhindered was necessary to produce a dermal lesion and for this reason felt that the answer was in the host rather than in the parasite.

Another interesting observation of Elek  $(1965)^{(72)}$  was the fact that it required 7.5 x  $10^{-6}$  <u>Staphylococcus pyogenes</u> microorganisms when introduced by interdermal injection to consistently produce pus formation, but a single

suture contaminated with roughly 100 microorganisms consistently produced a pustular lesion.

The potential pathogenicity of a staphylococcal strain is an important factor in any definition of infection. Elston's  $(1964)^{(73)}$  study was a determination of the physiological characteristics in relationship to the pathogenicity of the culture. The DNASE activity paralleled the coagulase reaction in 98.8% of the cultures while the manitol salt agar fermentation paralleled the coagulase reaction in only 85.9%. The mannitol broth fermentation paralleled the coagulase reaction in 97.17 of the cultures if they were incubated from 2 to 7 days.

Many authors believe that <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> is a more prevelant member of the skin biota than is commonly supposed. In a study by Kudsin, et al:  $(1963)^{(74)}$ 388 subjects showed a 57% rate of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> skin infection, and 25.6% had some active infection such as boils, impetigo, mastitis, pimples, etc. The author cultured the washing of these subjects and found that after home laundry at 55-64°C a recovery of 80,000 to 84,000 staphylococcus per ml was achieved and this could account for the intrafamily incidence of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u>.

In the differentiation of strains occurring in the body, Rosendal  $(1963)^{(75)}$  has shown that the skin strain predominated in all age groups for all cultural sites.

### Table 28

## STAPH STRAIN RECOVERED

" Body Area	No. of Cultures	Percentages	Phage Type 83A
Hands	472	6.8	2
Eczema & Skin Diseases	12	0.2	1
Eye	119	1.7	0.8
Ear	240	3.4	6 ,, (75)

In an effort to characterize the skin strain of staphylococcus, Jones, et al:  $(^{76})$  based their differentiation on a study of <u>Staphylococcus epidermis</u> on the following points: (1) the ability to grow anaerobically in a glucose media, (2) an inability to

produce coagulase, and (3) an inability to ferment mannitol anaerobically. These authors found that 93% of the <u>Staphylococcus epidermis</u> isolated required uracil for anaerobic growth.

A <u>logical corrolary</u> to the definition of the normal flora is the use of this flora to prevent or circumvent infection. Many papers on implantation of staphylococcus have been written by Shinefield and his associates. In a recent review an editorial of JAMA<sup>(77)</sup> states that Shinefield and his associates (1964) demonstrated the phenomenon of microbial interference by implantation of one strain of <u>Staphy-</u> <u>lococcus aureus</u> at a particular site (nasal or umbilical) and showed that this produced an immunity or pre-immunization against other strains of <u>Staphylococcus</u> <u>aureus</u>. This technique is of particular importance in the prevention or termination of staphylococcal epidemics in the nursery for the newborn.

In a study of epidemic staphylococci Rycheck  $(1963)^{(78)}$  found that staphylococcus with a group 2 pattern produced severe exfoliative dermitis. He considered Ritter's disease to be a staphylococcal skin disease with a group 2 phage pattern. The authors reported a severe nursery infection and classified the appearance of the staphylococci that appeared.

In a study of 1,000 patients by Mirolynbov, V.I.:  $(1960)^{(79)}$  it was found that the most common sites of pyodermic foci were the exposed skin areas, especially the face, because of the ease with which cocci from oral and nasal cavities infect the face, as well as the disregard for rules of personal hygiene while shaving and using cosmetics.

Ì

### Actinomyces - Pro-Actinomyces Group

The part played by members of the actinomyces and pro-actinomyces or Nocardia groups in the normal flora is ill-defined. In Krassilnikov's, N.A.:  $(1949)^{(80)}$  book, sufficient recovery of various pro-actinomyces i.e. <u>P. gedanensis</u>, <u>P. pinoyi</u>, <u>P. pangenensis</u> as well as <u>P. dicussatus</u> from the skin of man seems to give some basis for their inclusion in the normal flora, either as permanent or transient members. Rosebury,  $T.:(1958)^{(81)}$  feels that the obligately indigenous character of actinomycetes has become accepted, at least as far as mucous membranes are concerned, but does not list them among the normal skin flora.

During the Republic Aviation studies (22) (23), members of the pro-actinomyces group were recovered with sufficient frequency to feel that their indigenous character should be elucidated.

## Pathogenic vs Normal Flora

Sometimes microflora considered to be normal may cause frank infections, while in other instances pathogens appear to become part of the normal flora. Several papers tell of specific instances of such occurrences.

In a series of 1,653 cataract patients, an attempt was made by Winkler (1959)<sup>(82)</sup> to relate post-operative infection to the pre-operative flora or exogenous source. Panophthalmitis occurred post-operatively in 11 patients. In 10 of these cases, the causative organism was a gram negative rod of the enteric group. 'The role of gram negative bacilli as 'opportunists' in causing infection was suspected after the first case of panophthalmitis. Subsequent infections confirmed the potential pathogenicity of members of the enteric group of bacilli.''

Miles A. Galin  $(1962)^{(83)}$  attempted to establish a relationship between the lid flora and the disease. He found that massaging the lids often restored the normal flora; however, he did not really define the normal flora. In his thirty cases the following organisms were present: <u>Staph aureaus</u> coagulase-positive, Alpha strep, Beta strep, Pneumococcus, Proteus, Pseudomonas, Budding yeast, and Staph.

Choyce, D. P.:  $(1964)^{(84)}$  discussed the etiology of trachoma which is caused by a virus, but which often includes the effects of a superimposed bacterial infection which leads to difficulties in the treatment.

Many bacteria ordinarily associated with pathogenic processes may in some instances be members of the normal flora as is illustrated by the following articles.

"Leprosy is a chronic infectious disease affecting chiefly the skin, mucous membranes of the upper respiratory tract and certain peripheral nerves."<sup>(85)</sup> The prevailing opinion is that the bacilli entered the body through the injured skin and that in many individuals living in close association with known cases, the bacteria may thrive on the skin without resultant infection.

Two members of the panel "Problems in Diagnosis and Management of Gonorrhea" add salient points to the discussion since at times the gonococcus is at least a transient member of the flora.

"As regards gonorrhea, available information indicates that this disease is widespread, remains uncontrolled, and is now one of the most challenging health problems in many parts of the world. There are so many unreported cases of gonorrhea, that probably the incidence is ten or more times higher than actually is reported, and we may say that the reservoir of gonorrhea does not appear to have substantially reduced since the second World War." Many women and homosexual men spread gonorrhea without realizing they are infected and it is essentially a part of the normal flora of these people<sup>(86)</sup>.

Catterall and Williamson  $(1963)^{(87)}$  investigated the appearance of relatively insensitive strains of gonococci. They felt that this instance was related to the increasing frequencies of treatment failure in gonorrhoea following penicillin therapy.

It is necessary to consider the role that the transient flora may play in skin infection since in many specific instances the transient flora may become part of the normal flora of a particular individual.

deGrosz, I.: (1962) <sup>(88)</sup> has attempted to define the position of <u>Mycoplasma</u> <u>hominis</u> which is considered to be a potential pathogen as well as a symbiont. "The elucidation of the role of PPLO in the conjunctiva requires further research. The commensal nature of these organisms does not exclude their potential pathogenicity."

Additional evidence on the pathogenic character of PPLO has been supplied by Shepard, et al:  $(1965)^{(89)}$  who have identified PPLO as being present in systemic lupus erythematosus and in Reiters' syndrome. Whether a condition should be considered a disease when it is present in 20% of the normal population and is due to a bacterium closely allied to the normal flora has never been established. A recent study by Sarkany, I. et al:  $(1963)^{(90)}$  has provided evidence of the bacterial nature of this disease (erythrasma). It was long thought to be due to the actinomycete, <u>Nocardia minutissima</u>, but these authors have given conclusive evidence that the etiological agent is <u>Corynebacterium</u> <u>minutissimum</u>. It affects the groin, the axilla and the toe web primarily.

This supports a study performed by Sarkany, I. et al:  $(1961)^{(91)}$  who found that 22 of 107 normal individuals had erythrasma. It was felt that the causative organism was a gram positive rod 1-2 $\mu$  by .3 to .6 $\mu$ , pleomorphic and gram negative in old cultures. It was a nonmotile and nonacid fast rod.

#### Acne

There is marked disagreement between authors regarding the possible factors indicted in the appearance of acne vulgaris.

In a recent study by English (1964)<sup>(92)</sup> three factors were felt to be responsible for the appearance of acne vulgaris in most patients. These include: (1) androgenic hormones, (2) folliculer plugging, and (3) bacterial infection. They believe that antibiotics have a positive effect in acne due to their antibactericial properties. The specific bacteria indited is a gram positive anaerobic diphtheroid which produces propionic acid from cebum. This bacteria has been termed "Propionebacteria, <u>Corynebacterium acnes</u>, or acne bacillus." The only pathogenic role this bacteria plays in the human is in the production of propionic acid from cebum. The bacteria are mainly present in those areas where the sebaceous gland is best developed; i.e., areas of the back, chest, face, and neck. The greatest concentration is in the sebaceous follicles and composes most of the plug in a comedo or whitehead. One can express literally thousands of these bacteria in a wormy extrusion from the side of an "adolescent nose".

Blau (1965)<sup>(93)</sup> whose study defined the resident bacteria on the face to include <u>Staphylococcus</u> albus and <u>Corynebacterium acnes</u> felt that these bacteria inhabited the lesions of acne together, since they were seldom found alone. Eight percent of the blackheads contained a minor number of diphtheroids which also occurred in 3% of the pustules and 12% of the nodules. Aerobacter was found in 5% of the blackheads and E. coli in 3% of the pustules.

Kirschbaum, J.O., et al<sup>(94)</sup> was able to produce typical acne vulgarus by injecting <u>Corynebacterium acnes</u> into sterile sebaceous glands. This experimental demonstration of a normally harmless organism bringing about a rupture of a silent cyst may illuminate how inflammatory lesions arise in acne vulgaris.

Shehadeh, et al:  $(1963)^{(95)}$  in a review of the microbiology of acne vulgaris felt that the exact role of bacteria in the production of acne has never been clearly defined. Authors are in disagreement as to the causative organism, Sabouraud favored <u>C. acnes</u>, while Andrews, Becker and Cronk<sup>\*\*</sup> felt that staphylococcus might be the causative organism. Bacteriological studies have also yielded virulent staphylococci, diphtheroids, and coliforms or completely sterile lesions. These authors <sup>(95)</sup> examined 60 patients and the dominant organism recovered in practically all instances was <u>C. acnes</u>. In addition, <u>Staphylococcus albus</u> was present in smaller numbers. In purulent lesions, <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> and diphtheroids were recovered. In direct opposition to the work of Evans (1950), this author failed to recover anaerobic <u>C. acnes</u> except from cases of acne. This author<sup>(95)</sup> felt that the discrepancy was due to the fact that Evans had not transferred his cultures to aerobic conditions and found that the diphtheroids were in reality facultative.

A different approach was taken by Tanaka, et al:  $(1963)^{(96)}$  who felt that acne vulgaris occurs in those areas where active sebaceous glands are densely distributed. The initial change in acne consist of elongation, dilatation and hyperkeratosis of the follicular neck due to the hyperfunction of the upper follicle. It is possible that there is, in addition, a hyperfunction of the sebaceous glands.

<sup>\*</sup>Sabouraud

<sup>\*\*</sup>Andrews, Becker and Cronk

The few references sited should point out the divergence of opinions on the etiology of acne vulgaris and it is felt that this particular review should not include an exhaustive study of acne, but rather highlight the role the "normal" skin flora seems to play in acne.

# **Protective Mechanisms**

To adequately understand the shift from the normal flora to a frank infection, a thorough knowledge of environment, the physiology of the particular bacteria, the commensal possibilities, and individual resistance levels is necessary. In a paper given by Ericsson (1962)<sup>(97)</sup> these factors are so well summarized that many of the author's ideas are being quoted at length. "...the skin as a potential habitat for bacteria. The healthy skin for reasons which are not clearly understood, is highly unfavorable to bacterial growth. Some pathologic change in the function or morphology of the skin must be present if bacterial invasion is to succeed. This is true even when a microorganism, which from the purely bacteriologic viewpoint is to be regarded as highly virulent, is applied to the skin. Lesions which favor bacterial invasion are characteristic of eczema, juvenile seborrhea and burns, whereas other severe pathologic changes, for instances psoriasis, are remarkably unsuitable as a bacterial environment."

"The second ecologic problem is the mode of life of bacteria -- parasitic saprophytic or commensal where commensal means **share** the same food without interfering with each other. Typical commensal bacteria thus are normally present in the intestinal tract and the upper respiratory tract. Most skin bacteria are saprophytic and some few are parasitic. There is sometimes a tendency to exaggerate the pathogenic importance of bacteria, for instance of coagulase-negative staphylococci and corynebacteria in juvenile seborrhea, and to underestimate the importance of other bacteria, such as coagulase-positive staphylococci in burns. In healing burns we have found that even infections which from the clinical point of view look fairly superficial and harmless, nevertheless involve the whole immunityproducing system and therefore have a general effect on the body."

"The third ecologic problem in skin infections is the habits of bacteria. In this connection the sensitivity or resistance to antibiotics is of paramount importance."

### 'Summary

- (1) Prerequisites for skin infections are functional and/or anatomic disorders of the skin.
- (2) Elimination of these disorders is necessary for permanent cure of the infection.
- (3) Antibiotics only bring about a shift of the bacterial flora, but do not effect permanent cure.
- (4) The shift of the bacterial flora changes the clinical type of infection, sometimes to serious fulminant sepsis.
- (5) These factors have led to problems of hospital cross-infections in dermatologic wards. They motivate changes in the planning, equipment and staffing of dermatologic clinics. "(97)

The skin displays an unusual ability to inhibit the growth of certain kinds of bacteria. Whether this is due to the resident bacterial flora or to certain antibacterial substances in the skin is a point of discussion between many authors. The work of Sprunt et al  $(1964)^{(98)}$  is extremely interesting since it involved newborn babies whose skin flora theoretically should be non-existent. In this study the authors tried numerous <u>in vitro</u> experiments to determine whether vernix had any significant bactericidal activity against staphylococci or streptococci, but no conclusive results were reached. However, babies who were born with 'no vernix' showed very high counts of staphylococci and seemed to acquire these high bacterial counts very rapidly.

Burtenshaw  $(1948)^{(99)}$  wrote an interesting article on the self-sterilizing powers of the skin due to the presence of unsaturated fatty acids which have fungicidal and bactericidal powers. This is in agreement with Ricketts et al  $(1951)^{(100)}$  who demonstrated the bacterial effects of fatty acids on pathogenic streptococci and staphylococci <u>in vitro</u>.

An excellent summary of protective mechanisms was written by H. Irvin Blank  $(1959)^{(101)}$  who considered the resident flora to consist of micrococci, diphtheroids, corynebacterium and propionibacteria and who felt that they did not cause disease as long as they remain on the surface, and that they may or may not be pathogenic, dependent upon the rate of reproduction. He felt that the mechanisms of protection are: (1) integrity of skin, (2) phagoycytosis, (3) antibacterial substances,

and (4) formation and action of antibodies. Upon penetration, bacteria need not enter the capillaries, but can travel through the lymphatic system. In the lymphatic system a fibrin clot may act as a barrier mechanism.

The purpose of a study by O'Brien  $(1963)^{(102)}$  was to gain evidence of modes of invasion of staphylococci and coliform bacilli. This was done by the application of a nutrient media to the skin which was selected for the organism concerned; strains of the respective bacteria were incubated in pure culture on the skin. The staphylococcal group of organisms invaded through the natural orifices of the skin; i.e., sweat pore, hair follicle. Once infection is established the staphylococci tend to localize. There is a multiplicity of lesions rather than a diffuseness. The lesions produced by <u>E. coli</u> showed many interesting differences. When they are incubated on the skin, an intense itching develops with a diffuse maculo-papular rash. Multiple vesicles form in the epidermis which are not connected with the sweat ducts. These vesicles are then invaded by the bacteria. The bacilli actually seem to enter the skin at the point of an intense cell inflammatory congregation. Simply, it is a toxic vasiculation followed by a bacterial invasion and the skin is no longer intact.

Among the many efforts which have been directed to determining the presence or absence of defense mechanisms in or on the human skin is a recent study by Rothman, et al:  $(1963)^{(103)}$ . These authors listed the resident flora of the skin as <u>Staphylococcus albus</u>, diphtheroid lypophilic bacteria, <u>Pityrosporon ovale</u> and <u>Propionebacterium acnes</u> (in the grooves of skin folds and the canals of pilosebaceous apparatus). They listed the transient flora as hemolytic streptococci, <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u>, gram negative bacilli of fecal origin, and a variety of saprophytic bacteria. Enhanced susceptibility (agamaglobulinemia) was found to be a prominent cause of cutaneous pyrogenic infections. "Cutaneous resistance to viral attack may be based on classical immune mechanisms dependent on antibodies linked firmly to lymphoid cells." (103)

Scholtz, Jud R.:<sup>(104)</sup> studied the "chemical" barrier of the human skin and felt that the defense mechanism presented by the natural lipid surface film is extremely important particularly in the management of atopic dermatitis.

Burnett, J.W. (1963)<sup>(105)</sup> in a study designed to specify the pathogenic character of microorganisms found that "since the advent of antibiotic chemotherapy organisms regarded as normal flora in one part of the body have appeared as pathogens in other parts of the body with increasing frequency. One of the important problems in differential diagnosis facing the clinician today is the separation of pathogenic from nonpathogenic bacteria in a given infection." The following bacteria were viewed as potential pathogens: Listeria monocytogenes, <u>Pasteurella multocida</u>, <u>Mima polymorpha</u>, <u>Chromobacteria</u>, <u>Salmonellae</u>, <u>Erysi-</u> pelothrix, <u>Bacteroides</u>, <u>Bacillus subtilis</u>, and <u>Alkaligenes fecalis</u>.

In another study by S. Selwyn  $(1965)^{(106)}$  of an endemic situation, the external skin lesions of in-patients were readily colonized by pathogenic bacteria present in the environment and a dynamic relationship existed between the bacterial flora. The bedding often yielded heavy cultures of prevalent pathogens, usually strains other than those of the bed occupant. Sixty percent of the hand cultures yielded pathogens. The incidence of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> was very high as well as that of gram-negative bacilli.

One hundred nine of 233 patients to whom anti-bacterial measures were not applied developed infected lesions after admission. Fifty-three percent of these were thought to be cross-infections, while 34% were superinfections. Fifteen cases, a small but significant group, were those in which autogenous infections occurred. Early recognition and elimination of clinical and subclinical infection in skin lesions is essential if gross environmental contamination is to be prevented.

One of the principal reasons for determining the normal flora of the skin is to define the role these organisms play in infection and disease, and the importance of environmental conditions upon the skin. It is also necessary to consider the effect of antibiotics on the normal skin flora, since if the equilibrium of the normal flora is upset either members of the normal flora or transient organisms can become predominant and overgrow. In addition the development of resistant strains is particularly important in the consideration of the staphylococci.

# **Physiological Factors**

Localized physiological activity of bacteria has been studied by many authors from many viewpoints.

Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> states that "Host factors acting in skin against both indigenous and nonindigenous microbes have been reviewed by Rebell et al (1950). Marcheonini and his co-workers (1928-39) presented evidence that alkalinity resulting from  $NH_3$  production by bacteria in sweat favor proliferation of skin bacteria..." Additional information on the physiology of the human axillary apocrine sweat glands has been obtained by Shelly et al (1953)<sup>(26)</sup> who felt that the action of this localized bacterial population is a basic factor in the odors associated with sweat.

An interesting thesis study by Lizgunova, A.V.  $(1960)^{(107)}$  has attempted to define the physiological protective function of the skin. A total of 499 specimens were taken from 373 humans and 545 cultures were investigated in detail. It was noted that the quantity of microorganisms per 1 sq. cm. of the skin depended on the age, living conditions, and occupation of the individual and ranged from 115 thousand to 32 million. The bactericidal properties of the skin varied according to the site. For example <u>B. prodigiosus</u> placed on the skin of the fingers died after 8 to 12 minutes; whereas on the skin of the back and forearms it survived 2-1/2 to 3 hours. Some strains of staphylococci which normally inhabit the skin surface were found <u>in vitro</u> to have protection properties enhancing the bactericidal function of the skin. The author<sup>(107)</sup> studied the protective powers of saprophytic microorganisms and the immunity reactions produced by the penetration of microorganisms into the skin of mice.

The shift from normal to pathological activity by ordinary cutaneous bacterial flora, as studied by Andrews et al  $(1963)^{(108)}$ , showed that this shift from normal to pathogenic activity of ordinary cutaneous bacterial flora is dramatic and may, in the presence of a minor dermatitis, suddenly be transformed so that normally harm-less saprophytic staphylococcus, streptococcus, or <u>Candida albicans</u> assume a pathogenic role and cover the body surface. This was demonstrated by culture, intradermal, and patch tests. There is a rapid response of these eczematous eruptions to the proper antibacterial and antimycotic remedies.

Miles, A.A.  $(1955)^{(109)}$  found that there was a marked difference in the resistance to bacterial infection which was dependent upon the route of entry of the bacteria; i.e., after intravenous injections the tolerance was higher than after subcutaneous injections.

Whether the inhibitory powers of the skin exist and, if so, what they are and against what are they effective has been studied by Hill et al  $(1933)^{(110)}$  who performed 1,444 tests using 12 strains of bacteria in a series of six subjects. The skin inhibited the growth of bacteria in 199 cases or 13.7%. Its action was most marked on gram positive spore-forming bacilli and less on the staphylococci and gram negative bacilli testing. Individual inhibitory action varies from 5.4% to 27.9%.

In a more recent study Scheiman et al (1960)<sup>(111)</sup> studied the effects of sterilization of skin surfaces and felt that this sterilization suppressed the skin's natural lypolytic activity. In addition they felt that probably surface bacteria participate in the formation of free-fatty acids on the surface, and considering the fungistatic and bacteriostatic effects of some of these free fatty acids that one might regard bacterial origin of free fatty acids a new example of ecological equilibrium in bacterial flora. Some bacterial species produced substances which keep other bacterial and fungal species in check.

In a different approach to the bactericidal activity present in the skin Buharin, O.V.: (Oct. 1962)<sup>(112)</sup> concluded that Vitamin  $B_{12}$  is a major factor in increasing bactericidal activity in diseases of the skin.

Arnold, L. (1930)<sup>(113)</sup>defines the self-disinfecting power of the body surfaces as the ability to destroy exogenous bacterial life. The one function common to all body covering layers is the ability to control endogenous bacterial flora growing on them. There is an obligate microbic flora upon various body areas which is relatively constant, and the exogenous strains seem to be destroyed. The author performed experiments using various strains of bacteria both on living skin and the skin of cadavers. His conclusion was that living skin did have an inhibitory effect upon the growth of bacterial cultures. He also investigated strains of <u>Staphylococcus albicans</u> from several body areas in an effort to determine whether there was a difference in the varying skin strains. Two hundred twentyfive strains obtained from under the fingernails did not show the same biological activity as strains from other skin areas. These strains were deficient in lactose fermentation. A particularly apt quotation from Rebell, G. (1959)<sup>(114)</sup> follows: 'It may safely be assumed that whenever in nature two or more species of microorganisms grow in intimate association, each will interact with the other, and if, as in the present instance, the microorganisms grow upon the host organism then the host will be influenced by the interactions. "<sup>(114)</sup>

The production of antibacterial substances by other bacteria as discussed by Rosebury<sup>(3)</sup> has certain pertinent highlights. For example, in a paper by Su, T. L.<sup>\*</sup>, micrococcin is discussed, along with its bacteriostatic effect against <u>Bacillus subtilis</u>, staphylococci, streptococci, <u>Str. faecalis</u>, <u>Corynebacterium diphtheria</u>, <u>B. anthracis and streptomyces</u>. In papers by Heatley, et al<sup>\*\*</sup> and Halbert, et al<sup>\*\*\*</sup> staphylococcus cultures obtained from patients with conjunctivitis were studied and the authors found 9 different antibiotic agents which acted significantly only against grampositive <u>Corynebacteria hofmanni</u>, <u>Sarcina lutea</u>, <u>Mycobacterium smegmatis</u>, streptococci other than enterococci, <u>Bacillus species</u>, clostridia, and staphylococci. In a study of 500 skin staphylococci by Lizgunova, A. V. \*\*\*\* 50 strains were found, including both albus and aureus strains, that inhibited the range of Enterobacteriaceae and both hemolytic and nonhemolytic streptococcus.

\* Su, T.L.: (1948b), Ibid, vol. 29, pp. 473.

\*\* Heatley, N.G.; Kelly, B.K.; and Smith, N.: 1952, J. Gen. Microbiol., vol. 6, pp. 30.

\*\*\* Halbert, S. P.; Swick, L.S.; and Sonn, C.: 1953, J. Immunol., vol. 70, pp. 400.

\*\*\*\* Lizgunova, A.V.: 1958, J. Microbiol. Epidemiol., vol. 29, pp. 297.

The inhibitory activity of cultures of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> against corynebacteria were established by Parker, et al <sup>\*</sup> who found that one-half of the cultures of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> recovered from impetigo inhibited corynebacteria.

A specific example of the bactericidal effect of certain substances formed by bacteria is highlighted by Hellerstrom,  $Sven^{(115)}$  in a discussion of Problems in Diagnosis and Management of Gonorrhea. 'Sometimes, the mixed bacterial flora on the mucous membranes, particularly in women, is a serious problem. It may, for instance, be gonococci and staphylococci which latter bacteria can form a substance, <u>penicillinase</u> which renders the effect of the penicillin inactive. "<sup>(115)</sup>

In an article by Miyakawa, M.  $(1959)^{(116)}$  the interesting result of these germ free animal studies seems to indicate that the normal flora contributes to the healing process by inhibiting the epidermal layer reconstitution and hence establishing the inner-outer sequence of healing.

Compound infections are the rule rather than the exception in many dermatoses and the course of the disease is never simple. One of the outstanding discussions of compound dermatoses is by Tumarkin, B. M.  $(1960)^{(117)}$ who in a study of 70 patients noted the development of the staphylodermitis in 68 which coincided with the rapid improvement of the main dermatosis (chronic eczemia or progressive psoriasis). The improvement of the main dermatosis, due to a fall of the allergic reactions of the organism, is connected with a depression of the immunological processes while the state of increased reactivity gives way to a state of increased susceptibility.

In addition to the influence of those substances produced by the normal flora and those applied knowingly by man to his skin, marked influences are generated

<sup>\*</sup> Parker, M.T.; Tomlinson, A.J.H.; and Williams, R.E.O.: 1955, J. Hyg., vol. 53, pp. 458.

by environmental conditions and as stated by Marshall (1964)<sup>(118)</sup> 'Race, climate, nutrition and way of life are also contributory to the incidence of skin disease.''

Few reports have been based on genetic incidence of skin disease. An outstanding report is that of Newhouse, Muriel L.  $(1964)^{(119)}$  who studied a series of Europeans and found that the occurrence of skin diseases was inversely related to the degree of pigmentation of the group. A statistically significant 5% level of confidence was reached. In a survey of 1,233 workers, acne vulgaris was present in 8.2%, tinea pedis in 7.4%, psoriasis in 4.1%, warts in 4.1% and lichen planus in 0.8%.

In another large series of patients (2,000) El Zawahry, M.<sup>(120)</sup> found that skin diseases due to bacteria and caused by infection were 653 and 32.65% of the dermatoses were due to infection, usually fungi; i.e., ringworm of the scalp.

In a localized effort to determine the causative factor of nail disease White et al  $(1963)^{(121)}$  studied microscopically 1,252 cases of diseases of the nail. Five hundred eighty-nine were due to ringworm, 44 were due to <u>Candida albicans</u>, and 113 were due to mixed fungus and bacteria, 81 were due to staphylococci, and 2 were due to lepra bacilli.

A factor in individual susceptibility is the immunoresponse to a particular bacterial strain as explained by Ouchterlony, Orjan  $(1963)^{(122)}$  'Immunodiffusion analyses can sometimes help us to determine the immunoresponse in individuals exposed to infections, particularly if the infections are repeated or of a chronic type." (122)

Rostenberg, Jr., Adolph  $(1965)^{(123)}$  dealt with allergic sensitization and felt that the delayed sensitization would include bacterial as well as eczematous and homograph agents.

Marked hypersensitivity as a function of immunoresponse is discussed by Millman, Milton  $(1964)^{(124)}$ . A symmetrical eruption on the palms or soles, or both, of tiny vesicles and sterile pustules may result from distant skin infections similar to "id" reactions of trichophyton. In addition, there is a marked

hypersensitiveness to certain bacterial substances such as the <u>Bacillus</u> <u>tuberculosis</u>. The author discusses the use of staphylococcus toxoids or autogenous vaccines in the treatment of furuncles and carbuncles.

In any consideration of immunology and allergy, particularly those due to a bacterial source, certain basic questions are raised as summarized by Miescher, P. et al  $(1963)^{(125)}$ .

- "(1) Do skin specific antigens really exist, and if so, what is their chemical nature?
- (2) Do autoimmune skin reactions occur in human disease due to antibody and/or delayed type of hypersensitivity?
- (3) Are such autoimmune reactions pathogenic for the organism?
- (4) Can the skin be the site of autoimmune reaction involving autologous antigens derived from other organs?" (125)

A study by Maibach, H. (1963)<sup>(126)</sup> attempted to examine a large number of individuals to determine the effectiveness of Staphylococcus toxoids. 'The great natural variability of rates of infection at different times of the year necessitates the simultaneous treatment of both patients and controls." Three hundred individuals were sampled. One hundred fifty were a control group and 150 were divided into groups receiving immunizations. 'There were essentially the same number of total infections in each group whether one compares the number of individuals with one infection, two to four infections or five or more infections. Again, these differences are not statistically significant." 'We think that it can be clearly stated that the vaccines used in this study had very little effect on either the number of individuals infected or the number of lesions in a given patient." (126)

In an investigation of the biology of the human sebaceous gland Kligman, et al  $(1958)^{(127)}$  made the following observations: The physical state of sebum is important in maintaining flexibility of the skin. The integrity of the skin is highly important in preventing microbial infection. 'The chemical nature of sebum is of still greater importance in the ecology of the skin, since certain of its constituents have been shown to be inhibitory to the growth of a number of potentially pathogenically pathogenic microorganisms."<sup>(127)</sup> There is also evidence that <u>Pityrosporum ovale</u> are able to utilize sebaceous products. The fatty acids play a significant part in determining the pattern of life on the skin. They appear to be a by-product of metabolism of lipolytic organisms. It is reasonable to assume that propionibacterium is responsible. It is also significant that this bacterial species can utilize sebum as a nutrient. This information is in agreement with that obtained by Strauss et al<sup>(128)</sup>.

Marples, M. (1965)<sup>(6)</sup> has discussed extensively the nutrients in the skin as a prime factor in the ecology of the skin. She felt that the surface of the skin has an oily mixture dispersed in a weak saline solution. The surface is bathed with a dilute solution of electrolytes. Part of the nitrogenous material on the surface of the skin is locked-up in fragmentating keratin (only dermatophytes can utilize this material). She considers only the soluble nitrogenous substances as contributing to the nutrition of the skin population. Rothman in 1954 showed that substances can be dissolved in the eccrine sweat or can be formed as soluble by-products of keratinisation reaching the surface by the transepidermal route.

The nitrogen present on the skin is dependent upon the environment, i.e., if the protein intake is 98 grams per day the nitrogen dermal loss is 15 millegrams in a comfortable environment but 152 millegrams in a hot and humid environment. The nitrogen is available as urea and as amino acids. Extensive work on the amino acids has been done by Flesh, P.  $(1958)^{(129)}$  who felt that the free amino acids were important as water binders in regulating the trans-epidermal flow of water.

The proportion of amino acids in sweat in contrast to those in blood plasma were determined by Hier, S.W.  $(1946)^{(130)}$ . A specific study was done by Silva, M.  $(1958)^{(131)}$  who studied the stimulatory and inhibitory effects of amino acids identified on the skin against varying strains of bacteria in vitro.

Chiang, S.P. et al  $(1955)^{(132)}$  determined the protein fraction of the normal cerumen and found that this protein fraction includes the debris of the skin, hair, and bacteria and accounts for 25% of the fraction. The lipid fraction is from 40-50% and 20% of the cerumen is non-lipid protein material. The size of this fraction may

be dependent upon the freshness of the sample and is a product of metabolic activity.

The neutral proteolytic activity of the human epidermis in normal and pathological conditions was studied by Finzi, A.  $(1963)^{(133)}$  who stated "With this research, the total (endo- and exopeptidasic) neutral proteolytic activity of human epidermis was studied for the first time, under the most physiologic conditions, i.e., without enzymatic extractions, which are always incomplete and denaturing, and using the optimum substratum, the proteins of the epidermis. The results obtained in patients with psoriasis do not agree with recent findings which attribute a pathogenetic importance to the decrease of the amino acids and polypeptides of the skin, due to reduction of local proteolytic activity. The results reported by others may depend on the non-uniformity of the material examined (e.g. whole skin, scales only, etc.). It is obviously difficult to determine quantitatively the percentage of ortho- and parakeratotic products present in the tissues studied -- products which, being almost completely devoid of metabolic activities, are obviously also low in enzymatic activities."

The study of Rockl, H. et al  $(1959)^{(134)}$  considered the quantitative distribution and depth of the normal microbes of the skin in the stratum corneum as well as the microbial distribution in the excretory ducts of the sweat and sebaceous glands of the skin. They used the 'Tesafilm tear'' method to obtain the specimens. The sweat and sebaceous fluids were carefully extracted. About 75% of the bacteria were found between the hornlamella of the "Pars disconjuncta" and the remaining 25% in the "Para conjuncta". These authors did not find any microbes in the sweat and sebaceous glands and their excretory ducts which is in direct contrast to the work of many authors, but is supported by the work of Lovell, D. L.  $(1945)^{(135)}$  who found in a determination of the resident flora of the sebaceous glands that all bacteria were in reality outside the body and none were seen in or between living cells. They considered the resident flora to be <u>Staphylococcus albus</u> and <u>Staphylococcus citreus</u> and transient flora could be composed of any microorganisms.

The possibility that the sympathetic system is involved in the ecology of the skin was investigated by Balenska et al  $(1964)^{(136)}$  who examined the condition of the

receptor function of the skin in 48 patients with boils. Changes were recorded in the excitability of the skin reaction with a tendency toward an increased excitability. Hyper reaction of the sympathetic system seemed to accompany the skin infection.

In an effort to elucidate the parameter defined as penetrability or permeability, a study by Monash  $(1957)^{(137)}$  used typical anesthetics, antihistamines and histamines to establish the exact location of the barrier to skin penetration. He found by the removal of the outer half of the stratum corneum they increased the skin penetrability markedly.

# Influence of Physical Factors

In civilized countries many areas of the body are frequently submitted to the application of soap and water and its effect upon the indigenous flora has been defined by many authors. An excellent study by Miedler, Leo J. et al (1960)<sup>(138)</sup> dealt with subjects who were male medical students or members of the hospital staff. They used antiflora detergent or soap bar exclusively. They were examined initially, at four, and at eight weeks. Thirty-nine of the 60 volunteers had mycotic infections. The mycological activities were not particularly marked for anaflora. In the bacteriological studies made from the foreheads of the subjects, coagulase positive staphylococci were isolated initially from three subjects, but not on subsequent culturing. However, the coagulase-negative staphylococci increased markedly at subsequent cultural periods. Hemolytic streptococci were isolated from 9 subjects initially, but dropped by 60% in subsequent cultures. Non-hemolytic streptococci remained constant. The authors' conclusions: anaflora is more active against potential pathogens than against non-pathogenic bacteria.

Another study of the effects of soaps on the skin was performed by Bettley  $(1960)^{(139)}$  who felt the skin of the face is a poorly colonized habitat probably due to the effect of soap and water. However, the sebaceous glands may become enlarged and become invaded by Demodex folliculorum. Also, lesions of Tinea corporis due to <u>M. canis</u> are more likely to occur on the face than elsewhere. In males the bearded area is vulnerable to infection and sycosis barbae as a result

of invasion either by fungal or bacterial pathogens - probably the result of the trauma of shaving. Also, in sunburn you may expect extensive lesions of Herpes simplex.

The customs of society in many areas of the world today require the application of deodorants to the axilla and a study of the effect of these Topical Antibacterial Agents on the Bacterial Flora of the Axilla was performed by Kligman (1963)<sup>(140)</sup>. These authors<sup>(140)</sup> felt that it was important to determine the effect of the topical application of antibacterial substances on the resident microflora of the axilla. Dominant resident flora were coagulase-negative staphylococci, diphtheroids, <u>Aerobacter species</u> and alkaligenes. <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> appeared transiently. It is particularly important to realize the inherent danger of fungal invasion following topical applications.

An extraneous factor which may or may not influence the normal flora of the skin is ultraviolet light. The article by Lorincz, A.  $(1960)^{(141)}$  establishes the physiological effects of ultraviolet light upon the skin and establishes an acquired tolerance to sunshine subsequent to repeated exposures due to two mechanisms --- increased melanin pigmentation and thickening of the horney layer. Sweat also affords some protection of the skin against sunburn. In animal research it was found that marked blood changes followed ultraviolet irridation including an increase in the histamine content of the blood, a decrease in the serum chloresterol, and a flattening of the glucose tolerance curve as well as a decrease in serum tryosine. No mention was made of the effect of ultraviolet upon the bacterial flora of the skin.

In contrast the influence of ultraviolet light on post-operative infections was discussed at length in an editorial in JAMA  $(1964)^{(142)}$ . Five universities and medical centers installed ultraviolet lamps in operating rooms, adhered to a double blind random treatment protocol and recorded observations for 27 months. Two thousand two hundred nineteen plates showed a mean colony count reduction of 56.3% in the use of ultraviolet lamps. There was a statistically significant result in the rate of the post-operative infection drop from 3.8% to 2.9% in those patients operated on under ultraviolet lamp conditions. The interesting side

result was that infections occurred more frequently in irridiated wounds than in non-irridiated wounds, although irridation reduced the risk 25%.

The effect of temperature upon the skin flora has been ill defined. One of the few articles considering the importance of this factor is by Hertzman, A.B.  $(1953)^{(143)}$  who believed that temperature may well be the localizing factor in the invasion of the foot by the dermatophytic species. Bacteria on the legs and the feet must be able to withstand marked fluctuation in temperature.

Important both in the physiology of the flora and of the skin is pH since it will determine the extent of growth or the limitation of growth of many bacterial specimens. In a study, Beare, et al  $(1956)^{(144)}$  determined the acid-base balance of the skin. The pH of the skin surface of children with seborrheic dermatitis was compared with unaffected children. They found that the pH of much of the skin was 5.0, but that in the inguinal area the pH of skin approached neutrality due to the specialized character of the skin in the inguinal area.

Additional work on pH as related to the human ear canal was performed by Shelley, et al  $(1956)^{(145)}$  who found that freshly secreted cerumen has a pH of 5.0 to 5.5 and its change towards alkalinity is part of a biological process.

One of the basic requirements for bacterial growth is the presence of moisture in sufficient quantities to encourage reproduction. In a basic study performed by Blank et al  $(1958)^{(146)}$  the effect of moisture content of sheets of callus on the growth of various microorganisms was determined.

# Table 29 EFFECT OF MOISTURE

'Organism	Prevents Growth	Allows Growth
M. pyogenes	23	29
Micrococci	23	29
Coliform bacillus	36	50
Diphtheroids	50	70 ''

That "few if any bacteria can successfully penetrate the normal cornified epithelium" Hughes, W. H.  $(1948)^{(147)}$  is a well known fact and for this reason the

establishment of the water lipid coefficient was felt to be necessary by Clendenning et al (1962)<sup>(148)</sup> who performed <u>in vitro</u> tests of skin taken from breasts and legs in order to determine the penetration of the superficial epidermal barrier by weak non-electrolytes. Consideration was given to molecular size, viscosity, hydration, temperature and period of contact.

Of particular importance in any consideration of space travel is the effect of abnormal atmospheres upon the indigenous microflora of man. An excellent study has been performed by McAllister  $(1963)^{(149)}$  on the inhibitory effects of hyperbaric oxygen upon bacteria and fungi.

The effects of oxygen at increased pressures in the treatment of anaerobic infections is well known, but little attention has been directed to the effects of hyperbaric oxygen on aerobic microorganisms. Different microorganisms vary in their susceptibility to increased O2 tension with Pseudomonas pyogenes, Staphylococcus aureus, E. coli, Candida albus, and Aspergillus fumigatus being most affected. 'The basic effect of hyperbaric oxygen appears to be inhibitory rather than cidal. <u>Pseudomonas pyocyanea</u>, <u>Staph aureus</u>, and E. coli appeared to be permanently altered by their exposure to hyperbaric oxygen and they failed to attain the appearance of the controls. Staph aureus after 42 hours exposure continued to grow but as stunted non-pigmented colonies but they were slide-coagulase positive. A few colonies (well separated) were larger, atypical and hyperpigmented - 'Hyperbars''. "...there seemed to be no dramatic-alteration in the antibiotic sensitivity." 'It is essential to know the oxygen tensions at which individual bacterial species might be stimulated or inhibited, and growth/oxygen-pressure curves for each should be drawn to avoid alteration of normal body flora or the differential stimulation of pathogens in infection. "(149)

In a more recent study Ross et al  $(1965)^{(150)}$  studied the possible protective action of hyperbaric oxygen in mice with pneumococcal septicaemia and found that exposure to oxygen at 2-3 atmospheres markedly inhibited the growth of some aerobic and obligatory anaerobic bacteria as well as changing their colonial morphology. It was found that hyperbaric oxygen could alter the course of an aerobic septicaemia and can by its antibacterial activity significantly prolong the survival . of the infected host in pneumococcal septicaemia. The author felt that infections, by the following sensitive aerobic bacteria, <u>Staph aureus</u>, <u>E. coli</u>, <u>Pseudomonas</u> <u>pyocyanea</u> and <u>Streptococcus veridans</u> might be amenable to treatment with hyperbaric oxygen either alone or in combination with conventional antibiotics providing that the bacteria are in situations where the antibacterial oxygen tensions are readily available such as the skin.

., č

### RECOMMENDATIONS

The importance of devising standard sampling techniques cannot be overstressed since many of the discrepancies in the literature are the direct result of the varying sampling techniques. Studies evaluating the varying collection methods such as those of Price<sup>(1)</sup> who cultured the rinse following a surgical scrub, Evans<sup>(4)</sup> who used a scraping technique, Pillsbury<sup>(12)</sup> who devised a rotating brush technique for collection, Updegraff<sup>(10)</sup> who standardized the Scotch Tape stripping technique, and Gorrill<sup>(151)</sup> who used a velvet replicating plate technique should be undertaken.

Of equal importance are the procedures used for the culturing of the samples. Proper media, including both aerobic and anaerobic, are essential and, in addition, the OR potential of the media should be determined. In specific instances, special nutrients must be included in the media to insure the recovery of all bacteria present in the sample. A study of the OR potential of medias which are used to recover the <u>Corynebacter species</u> from the skin are particularly needed to clarify the position <u>C. acnes</u> plays in the normal flora of the skin. In addition, any study of the scalp flora should include media supplying the oil requirement of **P**. ovale.

The importance of studying bacteria in the particular microbial community which they inhabit cannot be overstressed since no <u>in vitro</u> study of single cultures can possibly elucidate the interactions between varying microbial species or even intraspecies reactions. Cooperative and competitive interactions should be defined. <u>In vitro</u> studies may contribute to an understanding of the factors leading to homeostasis.

The host-parasite relationship as portrayed in the ecology of the dermal microflora illustrates the fact that the pathogen must compete with the normal flora for nutrients and space to establish his colony. The delicate balance of the normal flora when disturbed by the application of topical materials, particularly antibiotics or corticosteroids, may be completely upset since microbial members of the flora that hold pathogens in check may be wiped out, allowing the pathogens

or other members of the flora to appear in large numbers with possible undesirable effects; i.e., fungal takeovers are hard to cope with, since only one antifungal agent is particularly effective.

Another area requiring more study is the mode of spread or invasion of the skin by undesirable members of the biocenosis. This is particularly important in hospitals where cross-contamination is a severe problem as in burn cases or in dermatological wards.

Among factors requiring more investigation is the determination of the probable seasonal rhythm associated with skin microflora. This may be a factor resulting from the drying of the skin in the winter, since higher bacterial counts are associated with oily skin and those areas where perspiration is excessive. This study should investigate seasonal variation in concentrations of lipids and moisture of different body skin areas. In addition to the effect of the seasons and humidity on the skin flora, the zenith distance of the sun, the altitude, the ozone in the atmosphere, the degree of pigmentation of the host, habits of his dress or undress are all important factors determining climatic influence on flora.

The role that pure oxygen environment at reduced pressure plays in the physiology of the aerobic bacteria has not been defined. Studies involving the hyperbaric use of oxygen have shown changes in colony formation and physiological patterns of bacteria that seem to point out the necessity for <u>in vitro</u> studies to elucidate the role that  $100\% O_2$  at reduced pressure may play in the potential pathogenicity of the normal flora.

In addition, the role that radical changes in temperature and/or humidity play in the stability or instability of the normal flora has not been clarified and should be studied. In a recent Republic Aviation study the fluctuation of total skin counts may have been a reflection of the extreme variations in humidity.

The host-parasite relationship is an interactive balanced ecology, with not only competitive but cooperative modes of life, established on the skin. A thorough

understanding of the delicate balance necessary to maintain a "normal" situation is necessary to evaluate those shifts in the normal flora caused by the use of antibiotics, adverse environmental conditions, allergic sensitivity, or a radical change in personal hygiene procedures. It is necessary to study the dynamic equilibrium of the microflora and to clarify the part the intrinsic and extrinsic factors play in this equilibrium.

The literature seems to reflect that insufficient research has been performed to establish sufficient knowledge of the kind and significance of host defense mechanisms against bacterial contamination and the relationship of the degree of contamination to the severity of the bacterial invasion. This knowledge is necessary to evaluate many modes of medical treatment.

A study of bacterial inhibition phenomena should be undertaken in order to determine whether this is due to antibiotic substances produced by the effector species, and to consider the possibility of using different species of bacteria to limit frank infections which do not respond to antibiotics, in much the same way that staphylococci implantation has been effective in the limitation of certain hospital epidemics of staphylococci in newborn nurseries.

It is difficult to find statistics concerning the incidence of many common skin infections. It is possible that symptomatology may be completely absent in many people and for this reason it is difficult to determine the actual incidence. In addition, little has been done to determine the effect of specific disease on the normal inhabitants of the skin or the effect of the inhabitants on the specific disease.

In many recorded cases, shifts of bacterial flora change the clinical type of infection, sometimes to a serious fulminating sepsis. It is important to remember that prerequisites of skin infection are functional or anatomical disorders of the skin.

The epidemiology of cutaneous disease is being studied and it is hoped future research will clarify the methodology of the evaluation of factors such as race, geography, and personal habits upon endemology. These studies should include sufficient data to evaluate the age and sex incidence of specific cutaneous diseases. The necessity for establishing criteria determining the microbial compatibility of men who will be living in close proximity for long periods of time in a "closed" community is essential. For example, <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> is a predominant organism in the nares of many individuals, and is an essential member of the balanced flora of these individuals; however, individuals who do not carry this strain would be particularly susceptible in a "closed" environment and "natural" defense mechanisms against continual exposure to large quantities of microorganisms might not be sufficient to maintain health.

The identification of varying strain types of the indigenous gram-positive rods and cocci is extremely difficult since no identification schema exists. As many as 56 strains of corynebacter or unidentified gram-positive rods have been recovered from one body area. There has been no classification developed (similar to the work done by Kaufman and White on the gram-negative rods) and this research area requires immediate emphasis. This is necessary, not only from the viewpoint of identification and classification, but to determine the actual role this large group of predominating organisms assumes in the microbiota. More work is currently being done on the gram-positive cocci in order to differentiate the staphylococci from the micrococci, but wide areas of research remain in this segment of the bacterial flora.

The most important studies which should be undertaken immediately are:

- (1) Clarification of the host-parasite relationship.
- (2) Microbial compatibility between hosts.
- (3) Effect of atmospheres peculiar to space flight on normal flora in vitro.
- (4) Development of identification schema for gram-positive rods.
- (5) Standardization of sampling techniques for skin studies.
- (6) Definition of nutritional requirements of all species, both aerobic and anaerobic, present on the skin.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Price, P.B.: The Bacteriology of Normal Skin. A New Quantitative Applied to a Study of the Bacterial Flora and the Disinfectant Action of Mechanical Cleansing. J. Infect. Dis., vol. 63, 1938, pp. 301.
- 2. Rebell, Gerber: Bacteria of the Human Skin. pp. 1005-1008. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 3. Rosebury, Theodor: Microorganisms Indigenous To Man. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1962, 435 pp.
- 4. Evans, C.A.; Smith, W. M.; Johnston, E.A.; and Giblett, E.R.: Bacterial Flora of Normal Human Skin. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 15, 1950, pp. 305.
- 5. Pachtman, E.A.; Vicker, E.E.; and Brunner, M.J.: The Bacteriologic Flora in Seborrheic Dermatitis. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 22, 1954, pp. 389-396.
- 6. Marples, Mary J.: The Ecology of the Human Skin. Springfield, Illinois, 1965, Charles C. Thomas, Publisher.
- Fritsch, C.J.; and Fritsch, W.C.: Effect of Topical Fluoremetholone on Infected and Uninfected Dermatoses. A Clinical and Microbiological Study. Arch. Derm., vol. 90, Dec. 1964, pp. 604-613.
- 8. Gleeson-White, M.H.: The Skin Flora and the Staphlococcus. Progress in the Biological Sciences in Relation to Dermatology. Ed. by Arthur Rook, Cambridge, University Press, 1960, pp. 155-167.
- Allende, M. F.; Barnes, G. H.; Levy, S. W.; and O'Reilly, W.J.: The Bacterial Flora of the Skin of Amputation Stumps. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 36, 1961, pp. 165-166.
- 10. Updegraff, D. M.: A Cultural Method of Quantitatively Studying the Microorganisms in the Skin. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 43, no. 2, Aug. 1964, pp. 129-137.
- 11. Pollack, M.R.; Wainwright, S.D.; and Manson, E.E.D.: The Presence of Oleic Acid Requiring Diphtheroids on the Human Skin. J. of Path. Bact., vol. 61, pp. 274-276.
- 12. Pillsbury, D. M.; and Kligman, A. M.: Some Current Problems in Cutaneous Bacteriology, Chapter 11, Modern Trends in Dermatology, 2nd series, Butterworth, 1954, pp. 187-213.
- 13. Marples, M.J.; and Bailey, M.J.: A Search for the Presence of Pathogenic Bacteria and Fungi in the Interdigital Spaces of the foot. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 69, 1957, pp. 379-388.

- 14. Rebell, Gerbert C.: Staphylococci and Hemolytic Streptococci from Normal Skin, and from Cutaneous Infections. J. Invest. Dermat., vol. 8, Jan. 1947, pp. 13.
- 15. Markham, N.; Stenhouse, A.C.: A Bacteriological Investigation of Wound Infection in Rarotonga, Cook Islands. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg., vol. 53, 1959, pp. 404-409.
- Cruickshank, J.; and Cruickshank, R.: The Normal Bacterial Flora of Man, In: A System of Bacteriology in Relation to Medicine, London, Chapter XI, 1931, pp. 334-378.
- 17. Edwards, L.B.; and Palmer, C.E.: Isolation of "Atypical" Mycobacteria from Healthy Persons. Amer. Rev. Resp. Dis., vol. 80, 1959, pp. 747-749.
- 18. Meyer, K.A.; and Spector, B.K.: Incidence of Tetanus Bacillus on Skin and in Stools. Surg. Gynec. & Obst., vol. 54, 1932, pp. 785.
- 19. Heynier, T.: Existence of Streptomyces Coelicolor on Human Skin and Mucous Membranes and its Fungiastic Effect. Arch. Klin. Exp. Derm., vol. 205, 1957, pp. 212-218.
- 20. Melczer, N.; and Vasarhelyi, P.: Pleuropneumonia-Like Organisms Among the Airborne Germs of the Normal Skin. Hautaryt., vol. 10, 1959, pp. 202-205.
- 21. Christie, R.W.: Bacterial Variations in the Nasopharynx and Skin of Isolated Arctic Scientists. New Eng. J. Med., vol. 258, 1958, pp. 531-533.
- 22. Republic Aviation Corporation, Farmingdale, New York: Research on Biomedical Criteria for Personal Hygiene. AF33(615)-1814 (in progress).
- 23. Republic Aviation Corporation, Farmingdale, New York: Effect of Diet and Atmosphere on Intestinal and Skin Flora. NAS 9-4172 (in progress).
- 24. Price, D.J.E.; Shooter, R.A.: Toxin Production of Faecal Strains of Colostridium Welchii. Brit. Med. J., vol. 2, 1964, pp. 1176-1177.
- 25. Shehadeh, N. H.; and Kligman, A. M.: The Effect of Topical Antibacterial Agents on the Bacterial Flora of the Axilla. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 40, 1963, pp. 61-71.
- 26. Shelley, W. B.,; Hurley, H.J.; and Nichols, A.C.: Axillary Odor: Experimental Study of the Role of Bacterial Apocrine Sweat and Deodorants. Arch. Dermatol. & Syphilol., vol. 68, 1953, pp. 430-446.
- 27. Kligman, A. M.; and Shedhadeh, N. H.: The Effect of Topical Antibacterial Agents on the Bacterial Flora of the Axilla (pp. 1009). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.

- Singer, David D.; Freeman, Elizabeth; Hoffert, Warren; Keys, R.J.; Mitchell, R.B.; and Hardy, A.V.L.: Otitis Extern-Bacteriological and Mycological Studies. Ann. Otol. Rhinol. and Laryngol., vol. 61, June 1952, pp. 317-321.
- Hardy, A.V.; Mitchell, R.B.; Schreiber, M.; Hoffert, W.R.; Yawn, E.; and
   Young, F.: Bacteriological Studies of Otitis Externa. Laryngoscope, vol. 64, 1954, pp. 1020-1024.
- 30. Salvin, S. B.; and Lewis, M.L.: External Otitis, With Additional Studies on the Germs Pseudomonas. J. Bact., vol. 51, 1946, pp. 495-506.
- Lea, Jr., W.A.; Schuster, D.S.; and Harnell, E.R.: Mycological Flora of the Healthy External Auditory Canal. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 31, 1958, pp. 137-138.
- 32. Linthicum, Jr., Fred H.: Bacteria and Stapedectomy. Arch. Otolaryng., vol. 80, Nov. 1964, pp. 489-493.
- 33. Winkler, Jr., Charles H.; and Dixon, Joseph M.: Bacteriology of the Eye.
  IIIA. Effect of Contact Lenses on the Normal Flora. B. Flora of the Contact Lens Case. Arch. Ophthal., vol. 72, Dec. 1964, pp. 817-819.
- 34. Winkler, Charles C.; and Dixon, Joseph: Bacteriology of the Eye. Arch. of Opthal., vol. 72, Dec. 1964, pp. 817.
- 35. Cason, L.; and Winkler, Jr., C.H.: Bacteriology of the Eye: I. Normal Flora. AMA Arch. Opthal., vol. 51, 1954, pp. 196-199.
- Winkler, C. H.; and Cason, L.: Bacteriology of the Eye: I. Role of Gram-Negative Bacilli in Infections Following Cataract Extraction. Arch. Ophthal., vol. 51, 1954, pp. 200.
- 37. Bettman, Jr., J.W.: Contact Lens Storage, Wet or Dry? Amer. J. Opthal., vol. 56, 1963, pp. 77-84.
- 38. Das, Tulsi; Sur, M.L.; and Chaddah, M.R.: Sensitivity of Bacteria to Antibiotics. Brit. J. Opthal., vol. 39, 1955, pp. 21-28.
- 39. Stone, Orville J.; and Mullins, J. Fred: Chronic Paronychia Microbiology and Histology. Arch. Derm., vol. 86, 1962, pp. 324-327.
- 40. Stone, Orville J.; and Mullins, J. Fred: Role of Candida Albicans in Chronic Disease. Archives of Dermatology, vol. 91, Jan. 1965, pp. 70-72.
- 41. Stone, Orville J.; and Mullins, J. Fred: The Role of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa in Nail Disease. J. of Invest. Dermatol., vol. 41, no. 1, July 1963, pp. 25-26.
- 42. MacKee, George M.; and Lewis, George M.: Dandruff and Seborrhea. The Flora of "Normal" and Discount Scalps. J. of Invest. Derm., vol. 1, 1938, pp. 131-139.

- 43. Templeton, H.J.: A Study of Dandruff and of Pityrosporum of Molassey. Arch. Dermatol. & Syph., vol. 14, Sept. 1926, pp. 270.
- 44. Spoor, H.J.; Traub, E.F.; and Bell, M.: Pityrosporum Ovale Types Cultured From Normal and Seborrheic Subjects. Arch. Derm., vol. 69, 1954, pp. 323-330.
- 45. Connell, G.H.; and Skinner, C.E.: The External Surface of the Human Body as a Habitat for Non-Fermenting Non-Pigmented Yeasts. J. Bact., vol. 66, 1953, pp. 627-633.
- 46. Benham, R.W.; and Hopkins, A. McH.: Yeastlike Fungi Found on the Skin and in the Intestines of Normal Subjects. Arch. Dermat. Syphilol., vol. 28, 1933, pp. 532-543.
- 47. diMenna, M.E.: Non-Pathogenic Yeasts of the Human Skin and Alimentary Tract: A Comparative Study. J. Path. Bact., vol. 68, 1954, pp. 89-99.
- 48. Ravits, Harold G.: Cutaneous Cryptococcasis. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 12, 1948, pp. 271-283.
- 49. Bohme, Von H.: Die Sprosspilzbesiedlung der Haut., Band 151, Jan. 1965, Heft 4.
- 50. Blank, H.: Factors Which Influence the Water Content of the Stratum Corneum. Milit. Med., vol. 129, no. 1, 1964, pp. 58-60.
- 51. Friedman, Lorraine; Derbes, Vincent J.; Hodges, Elizabeth P.; and Sinski, James T.: The Isolation of Dermatophytes From the Air. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 35, no. 1, July 1960, pp. 3-5.
- 52. Carion, Arturo: Dermatomycoses in Puerto Rico. Arch. Derm., vol. 91, May 1963, pp. 431-438.
- 53. Jahn, Charles L.; and Cherry, James D.: Congenital Cutaneous Candidiasis. Pediatrics, vol. 33, no. 3, Mar. 1964, pp. 440-441.
- 54. Marwin, R. M.: Relative Incidence of Candida Albicans on the Skin of Persons With and Without Skin Disease. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 12, 1949, pp. 229-241.
- 55. Cullen, Stanley I.: Skin Disease Among Men of Military Age in South Texas. Arch. Derm., vol. 87, Feb. 1963, pp. 219-222.
- 56. Kallos, Andrew: The Epidemic Aspects of Tinea Capitis, pp. 1205-1207. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.

- 57. Chaglassian, H. T.; Furah, Fuad S.; and Kurban, Amal K.: Epidemiology of Cutaneous Diseases in the Middle East, pp. 1141-1148. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962. Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 58. Burke, R.C.: Tinea Versicolor: Susceptibility Factors and Experimental Infection in Human Beings. J. Invest. Dermatol., vol. 36, 1961, pp. 401.
- 59. Buck, Alfred A.; and Hasendiver, Herbert F.: Epidemiologic Studies of Skin Reactions and Serum Agglutinins to Candida Albicans in Pregnant Women. Amer. J. of Hyg., vol. 78, no. 2, Sept. 1963, pp. 232-240.
- 60. Raubitschek, F.; and Evron, R.: Experimental Invasion of Hair by Dermatophytes. Arch. Derm., vol. 88, no. 6, 1963, pp. 837-845.
- 61. Schneierson, S.S.; and Shore, B.: Antibacterial Activity of Herpes Simplex Virus Grown in Tissue Culture. Nature, vol. 199, 1963, pp. 721-722.
- 62. Grigg, W.K.; and Wilhelm, G.: Epidemiological Study of Plantar Warts Among School Children. Public Health Rep., vol. 68, 1953, pp. 985-988.
- 63. Church, Ronald: Virus Infections of the Skin, The Practitioner Symposium on Diseases of the Skin, May 1964, vol. 192, pp. 629-638.
- 64. Bowers, R.E.: Pyogenic Infections of the Skin. The Practitioner, vol. 192, May 1964, pp. 616-620.
- 65. Ricketts, C.R.; Squire, J.R.; and Topley, E.: Human Skin Lipids with Particular Reference to Self-Sterilizing Power of the Skin. Clin. Sci., vol. 10, pp. 89-111.
- 66. Panos, Charles; and Ajl, Samuel J.: Metabolism of Microorganisms as Related to their Pathogenicity. Annual Review of Microbiology, vol. 17, 1963, pp. 297-328.
- 67. Juhlin, Ingmar; and Ericson, Carl: Hospital Infections and Hospital Hygiene at Malmo General Hospital. J. Hyg., Camb., vol. 63, 1965, pp. 35.
- 68. Cetin, Enver Tali: Studies on the Strains of Staphylococcus Pyogenes Aureus Isolated from the Nasal and Throat Swabs of Medical Students. New Istanbul Contribution to Clinical Science, vol. 5, 1962, pp. 126-132.
- 69. Popshrestov, P.; Jordanov, A.; Todorov, A.; and Machov, K.: Study of the Spreading of the P32 Marked Staphylococci on the Skin of Guinea Pigs and Humans. Dermatologische Worhenschisft., Band 151.
- Wallace, H.J.: Chronic Staphylococcal Skin Infection. Practioner, vol. 192, no. 1148, 1964, pp. 258-259.

- 71. Thompson, Donovan J.; Gezon, Horace M; Hatch, Theodore F.; Rycheck, Russell R.; and Rogers, Kenneth D.: Sex Distribution of Staph Aureus Colonization and Disease in Newborn Infants. New Eng. J. Med., Aug. 1963, pp. 336-341.
- Elek, Stephen D.: Problems of the Initiation of Dermal Staphylococcal Lesions. pp. 1013-1015. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 73. Elston, Harry R.; and Fitch, Donald M. Determination of Potential Pathogenicity of Staphylococci. Amer. J. of Clin. Path., vol. 42, no. 4, Oct. 1964, pp. 346-348.
- 74. Kudsin, Ruth B.; Walter, Carl W.; Ipsen, Johannos; and Brubaker, Mary Day: Ecology of Staphylococcal Disease. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 185, July 1963, pp. 159-162.
- 75. Rosendal, Kirsten; Stenderup, Aksel; Helms, Peder; and Eriksen, Knud Riewerts. Staphylococcus Aureus Strains Isolated in Danish Hospitals from April 1 to December 31, 1960. Scandinavica, vol. 58, 1963, pp. 72-84.
- 76. Jones, Dorothy; Deibel, R. H.; and Niven, Jr., C. F.: Identity of Staphylococcus Epidermidis. J. Bact., vol. 85, Jan. 1963, pp. 62-67.
- 77. J. Amer. Med. Assoc. Editorial: Resistance to Infection with Staphylococcus Aureus. Vol. 19, Oct. 1964, pp. 391-392.
- 78. Rycheck, Russel; Taylor, Paul M.; and Geyon, Horace M.: Epidemic Staphylococcal Pyoderma Associated Ritter's Disease and the Appearance of Phage Type 3B/71. New Eng. J. Med., vol. 269, 1963, pp. 332-337.
- 79. Mirolynbov, V.I.: Discussion of Cases of Pyodermatitis Propindus. Vestn. Derm. i. Vener., vol. 7, 1960, pp. 25-27.
- Krassilnikov, N.A.: Section Pertaining to Actinomycetes from Guide to the Identification of Bacteria and Actinomycetes, Academy of Sciences, USSR, Moscow, 1949, Edited by John B. Routien, Chas. Pfizer & Company, Inc. 1957.
- Rosebury, T.; and Sonnenwirth, A. C.: Bacteria Indigenous to Man. Chapter 31: Bacterial and Mycotic Infections of Man. Lippincott, 1958, pp. 626-653.
- 82. Winkler, C.H.; and Cason, L.: Bacteriology of the Eye: II. Role of Gram-Negative Bacilli in Infections Following Cataract Extraction. Arch. Ophthal., vol. 51, 1954, pp. 200.

- 83. Galin, Miles A.: Bacteriological Aspects of Blepharitis. Arch. of Opthal., vol. 67, 1962, pp. 746-749.
- 84. Choyce, D.P.: Tropical Opthalmology. The Pract., vol. 193, Aug. 1964, pp. 165-174.
- 85. Doull, James A.: Epidemiology of Individual Diseases of the Skin Leprosy, (pp. 1161-1165). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 86. Hermans, E.H.: Problems in Diagnosis and Management of Gonorrhea (pp. 935-936). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood, Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 87. Catterall, R. D.; and Williamson, G. M.: A Study of the Sensitivity of Gonococci to Penicillin in a British Industrial Town (pp. 1307-1310). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 88. deGrosz, I.: Significance of Mycoplasma in the Pathology of Uveitis. Acta Ophthalmologica, vol. 40, 1962, pp. 600-607.
- 89. Shepard, Maurice C.; and Calvy, George L.: The role of Mycoplasma in Human Disease. New Eng. J. Med., Apr. 1965, pp. 848-851.
- 90. Sarkany, I.; Taplin, D.; and Blank, H.: Erythrasma, A Bacterial Disease pp. 1010-1012. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarance S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 91. Sarkany, Inrich; Taplin, David; and Blank, Harvey: The Etiology and Treatment of Erythrasma. J. Inv. Derm., vol. 37, 1961, pp. 283-290.
- 92. English, Robert; and Witkowski, Joseph: Etiological Factors in Acne, West Virginia Med. J., July 1964, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 171-181.
- 93. Blau, Saul; and Kanof, Norman B.: Acne, From Pimple to Pit, New York State J. of Med., Feb. 1965, pp. 417-424.
- 94. Kirschbaum, J.O.; and Kligman, A.M.: The Pathogenic Role of Corynebacterium Acnes in Acne Vulgaris. AMA Arch. Derm., vol. 88, Dec. 1963, pp. 832-833.

- 95. Shedhadeh, Najib H.; and Kligman, Albert M.: Microbiology of Acne Vulgaris pp. 969-970. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 96. Tanaka, Hiroshi; and Sato, Yoshio: Variations in Function, Size and Distribution of Sebaceous Glands in Relation to the Hair Follicle, pp. 954-956. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 97. Ericsson, Hans: Acquired Bacterial Resistance in Out-Patient Clinics and Hospital Wards (pp. 1042-1044). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. D., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 98. Sprunt, Katherine; and Redman, Winifred M.: Vernix Caseosa and Bacteria. Amer. J. Diseases of Children., vol. 107, Feb. 1964, pp. 125-130.
- 99. Burtenshaw, J. M. L.: The Autogenous Disinfection of the Skin, Modern Trends in Dermatology, Butterworth, London, 1948, pp. 158-185.
- 100. Ricketts, C.R.; Squire, J.R.; and Topley, E.: Human Skin Lipids with Particular Reference to Self-Sterilizing Power of the Skin. Clin. Sci., vol. 10, 1951, pp. 89-111.
- 101. Blank, H. Irvin: Protection Against the Invasion of Bacteria and Fungi, The Human Integument, Normal and Abnormal. Stephen Rothman (Editor), Washington, 1959, pp. 47-64.
- 102. O'Brien, J. P.: The Contrast Between Early Staphylococcal and Coliform Infection (pp. 1401-1409). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 103. Rothman, Stephen; and Lorincz, Allan L.: Defense Mechanisms of the Skin. Ann. Rev. of Medicine, vol. 14, 1963, pp. 215-242.
- 104. Scholtz, Jud R.: Management of Atopic Dermatitis: A Preliminary Report. California Medicine, vol. 100, no. 2, Feb. 1964, pp. 103-105.
- 105. Burnett, Joseph W.: Uncommon Bacterial Infections of the Skin (pp. 1524). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.

- 106. Selwyn, S.: The Mechanism and Prevention of Cross-Infection in Dermatological Wards. J. Hyg. Camb., vol. 63, 1965, pp. 59-63.
- 107. Lizgunova, A.V.: The Physiological Protective Function of the Skin. Dept. Microbiol., I.N. Pirogov Second Medical Inst., Moscow. Thesis (Moskva), 1960.
- 108. Andrews, George Clinton; and Domonokos, Anthony N.: Diseases of the Skin. W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 5th Edition, 1963.
- 109. Miles, A.A.: Reactions to Bacterial Invasion. In: Lectures of the Scientific Basis of Medicine, vol. III, 1953-54. University of London, The Athlone Press, London, 1955, pp. 235-258.
- 110. Hill, Justina H.; and White, Edwin C.: Action of Normal Skin on Bacteria. Arch. Surg., vol. 26, 1933, pp. 901-908.
- 111. Scheimann, L.G.; Knox, K.; Sher, D.; and Rothman, S.: The Role of Bacteria in the Formation of Free Fatty Acids on the Human Skin Surface. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 34, 1960, pp. 171-174.
- 112. Buharin, O.V.: The Mode of Action of Vitamin B12 in the Treatment of Skin Disease. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 36, Oct. 1962, pp. 49-53.
- 113. Arnold, L.; Gustafson, C.J.; Hull, T.G.; Montgomery, B.E.; and Singer, C.: The Self-Disinfecting Power of the Skin as a Defense Against Microbic Invasion. Am. J. Hyg., vol. II, 1930, pp. 345-361.
- 114. Rebell, G.; Pillsbury, D. M.; deSaint Phalle, M.; and Ginsberg, D.: Factors Affecting the Rapid Disappearance of Bacteria Placed on the Normal Skin. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 14, 1950, pp. 247-263.
- Hellerstrom, Sven: Discussion, pp. 937-938. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Charence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 116. Miyakawa, M.: Some Observations on Wound Healing Transplantation and Foreign Body Inflammation in the Germ-Free Guinea Pig. In: Recent Progress in Microbiology. Published by Alinquist and Wiksell, Stockholm, 1959, pp. 304-313.
- 117. Tumarkin, B. M.: Furuncles and Hydrogrodemitis Supervening on the Basis of Other Dermatoses. Vestn. Derm. i. Vener., vol. 6, 1960, pp. 63-65.

- 118. Marshall, James: Epidemiology of Cutaneous Diseases According to Geographical Locale: North, Central and South Africa. From Proceedings of the International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, Edited by Donald M. Pillsbury & Clarence S. Livingood, pp. 1149-1152.
- 119. Newhouse, Muriel L.: Epidiemology of Skin Disease in an Automobile Factory. Brit. J. Ind. Med., vol. 21, 1964, pp. 287.
- 120. El Zawahry, M: The Ten Most Common Skin Diseases and Some Rare and Interesting Dermatoses in Egypt. pp. 1528-1529. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 121. White, Cleveland J.; and Laipply, Thomas C.: Diseases of the Nails.
  pp. 1621. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 122. Ouchterlony, Orjan: Immunodiffusion Methods and Their Application to some Problems in Biology and Medicine, pp. 1019-1033. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 123. Rostenberg, Jr., Adolph: The Pathogenesis of Eczematous Sensitization. Acta. Derm-Venereol, vol, 45, 1965, pp. 1-8.
- 124. Millman, Milton: Bacterial Allergy and Infection. Ann. Allergy, vol. 22, July 1964, pp. 369-373.
- 125. Miescher, Peter; and March, Cyril H.: Autoimmune Diseases Involving the Skin, pp. 1048-1053. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 126. Maibach, Howard I.: Staphylococcus Toxoid: A Controlled Clinical Study pp. 1035-1036. From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D.C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.
- 127. Kligman, A. M.; and Shelly, W. B.: An Investigation of the Biology of the Human Sebaceous Gland. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 30, 1958, pp. 99-124.

- 128. Strauss, J.S.; and Mescon, H.: The Chemical Determination of Specific Lipases in Comidones., J. Invest. Derm., vol. 33, 1959, pp. 191-192.
- 129. Flesh, P.: Chemical Data on Human Epidermal Keratinisation and Differentiation. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 31, 1958, pp. 63-73.
- 130. Hier, S.W.; Cornbleet, T.; and Bergheim, O.: The Amino-Acids of Human Sweat. J. Biol. Chem., vol. 166, 1946, pp. 327-333.
- 131. Silva, M.: The Effect of Amino-Acids on the Growth and Sporulation of Trichophyton Rubrum: Possible Applications to Diagnosis and Therapy. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 30, 1958, pp. 69-76.
- 132. Chiang, S. P.; Lowry, O. H.; and Senturia, B. H.: Microchemical Studies on Normal Cerumen. 1. The Lipid and Protein Content of Normal Cerumen As Affected by Age and Sex. Laryngoscope, vol. 65, 1955, pp. 927-934.
- 133. Finzi, Aldo F.: Neutral Proteolytic Activity of the Human Epidermis in Normal and Pathological Conditions, pp. 1423-1425.
- 134. Rockl, H.; and Muller, E.: In Reference to the Localization of the Microbes of the Skin. Archiv. fur Klinische u. Experimentelle Dermatologie, vol. 209, 1959, pp. 13-29.
- 135. Lovell, D.L.: Skin Bacteria. Their Location with Reference to Skin Sterilization. Surg. Gynec. Obstet., vol. 80, 1945, pp. 174-177.
- 136. Balenska, N; Mustakov, G.; Jones, S. et al: On Certain Functional Changes in Pyogenic Infections of the Skin. Dermatol. i. venerol., vol. 3, no. 2, 1964, pp. 98-101.
- 137. Monash, Samuel: Location of the Superficial Epithelial Barrier to Skin Penetration. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 29, no. 5, Nov. 1957, pp. 367-376.
- 138. Miedler, Leo J.; Bocabo, Florante; and Wheeler, Albert H.: Anaflora -A New Anionic Detergent. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 35, no. 5, 1960, pp. 269-272.
- 139. Bettley, F.R.: Some Effects of Soap on the Skin. Brit. Med. J., vol. i, 1960, pp. 1675-1679.
- 140. Kligman, A. M.; and Shehadeh, N. H.: The Effect of Topical Antibacterial Agents on the Bacterial Flora of the Axilla (pp. 1009). From Proceedings of the XII International Congress of Dermatology, September 1962, Washington, D. C., volume II, edited by Donald M. Pillsbury and Clarence S. Livingood. Excerpta Medica Foundation, 1963.

- 141. Lorincz, Allan, L.: Physiological and Pathological Changes in Skin from Sunburn and Suntan. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 173, July 1960, pp. 1227-1231.
- 142. J. Amer. Med. Assoc. Editorial: Influence of Ultraviolet Light on Postoperative Infection., vol. 187, Aug. 1964, pp. 128-129.
- 143. Hertzman, A.B.: Some Relations Between Skin Temperature and Blood Flow. Amer. J. Phys. Med., vol. 32, 1953, pp. 233-251.
- 144. Beare, Martin J.; Cheeseman, E.A.; Gailey, A.A.H.; and Neill, D.W.: The Acid-Base Balance of the Skin. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 63, 1956, pp. 283-296.
- 145. Shelley, W.B.; and Perry, E.T.: The Physiology of the Aprocrine Gland of the Human Ear Canal. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 261, 1956, pp. 13-22.
- Blank, I. H.; and Dawes, R. K.: The Water Content of the Stratum Corneum. IV. The Importance of Water in Promoting Bacterial Multiplication on Cornified Epithelium. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 31, 1958, pp. 141-144.
- 147. Hughes, W.H.: The Fibrin Barrier Regarded as a Filter in Inflammation. Brit. J. Exptl. Pathol., vol. 29, 1948, pp. 173-180.
- 148. Clendenning, William E.; and Stoughton, Richard B.: Importance of the Aqueous/Lipid Partition Coefficient for Percutaneous Absorption of Weak Electrolytes. J. of Invest. Derm., vol. 39, no. 1, July 1962, pp. 47-49.
- 149. McAllister, T.A.; Stark, J.M.; Norman, J.N.; and Ross, R.M.: Inhibitory Effects of Hyperbaric Oxygen on Bacteria and Fungi. Lancet, vol. II, 1963, pp. 1040-1042.
- 150. Ross, R. M.; and McAllister, T.A.: Protective Action of Hyperbaric Oxygen in Mice with Pneumococcal Septicaemia. Lancet, vol. I, March 1965, pp. 579-581.
- 151. Gorill, R. H.; and Penikett, E.J.: New Method of Studying the Bacterial Flora of Infected Open Wounds and Burns. Lancet, vol. II, 1951, pp. 370-372.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

## General Skin Area

Abe, T.: Experimental Study of Mycotic Epidermal Reaction. II. Epidermal Feature of Experimental Dermatophytid as seen from Comparative Exanthematology. Bull. Pharm. Res. Inst. (Takatsuki), vol. 49, Mar. 1964, pp. 12-21.

Ackerman, W. Wilbur; and Kurtz, Hilda: The Relation of Herpes Virus to Host Cell Mitochondria. J. Exp. Med., vol. 96, no. 2, 1952, pp. 151-157.

Aizawa, K.; Okawa, S.; Suzuki, S.; Otani, F.; and Toshioka, T.: Effects of Modified Tissue Metabolism on the Resistance to Bacterial Infection. Nikon Univ. J. Med., vol. 5, 1964.
Report I - Effects of Malonate Administration (pp. 549-579).

Report II - Effects of Administration of Acetate and Citrate (pp. 581-599).

Report III - Effects of Administration of Fumarate and Malonate (pp. 601-613).

- Ajello, L.: Geographical Distribution and Prevalence of Dermatophytes. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 89, 1960, pp. 30-38.
- Anderson, D.S.: The Acid-Base Balance of the Skin. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 63, 1951, pp. 283-296.
- Andreen, V.G.: Pathogens of Dermatomycosis in the Kursk Region. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Apr. 1964, pp. 85-86.
- Andrews, G.C.; Domonokos, A.M.; and Post, C.F.: Treatment of Acne Vulgaris. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 146, July 1952, pp. 1107-1112.

Arienich, A.M.: New Lamp for the Luminescent Diagnosis of Skin Diseases. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Apr. 1964, pp. 54-55.

- Artenstein, Malcolm S.: Recent Advances in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Viral Diseases of the Skin. New England J. Med., vol. 27, no. 21, 1964, pp. 1101-1111.
- Bacon, D. F.; and Marples, M.J.: Research in Western Samoa. II. Lesions of the Skin and their Bacteriology. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg., vol. 49, 1955, pp. 76-81.

Barber, M.; and Kuper, S.W.A.: Identification of Staphylococcus pyogenes by the Phosphatase Reaction. J. Path. Bact., vol. 63, 1951, pp. 65-69.

Barber, M.: Hospital Infection, Yesterday and Today. J. Clin. Path., vol. 14, 1961, pp. 2-10.

- Barlow, A.J.E.; and Chattaway, F.W.: The Attack on Chemically Modified Keratin by Certain Dermatophytes. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 24, 1955, pp. 65-69.
- Baughman, R. D.: A Dozen Digital Devices in Dermatologic Diagnosis. Med. Times, vol. 92, Nov. 1964, pp. 1076-1081.
- Baum, G. L.; and Schwartz, J.: North American Blastomycosis. Amer. J. Med. Sci., vol. 238, 1959, pp. 661-684.
- Becker, F.T.; and Fredericks, M.G.: Evaluation of Antibiotics in Control of Pustular Acne Vulgaris. AMA Arch. Derm., vol. 72, Aug. 1955, pp. 157-163.
- Beerman, H.: Pinta A Review of Recent Etiological and Clinical Studies. Amer. J. Med. Sci., vol. 205, 1943, pp. 611-621.
- Benedek, T.: A New Dermatophyte, Thallomicrosporon Kuehnii. Mycopathologia, vol. 23, Aug. 1964, pp. 85-98.
- Benham, R. W.; and Hopkins, A. McH.: Yeastlike Fungi Found on the Skin and in the Intestines of Normal Subjects. A survey of One Hundred Persons. Arch. Derm. & Syphilol., vol. 28, 1933, pp. 532-543.
- Benham, R.W.: Species of Candida Most Frequently Isolated from Man: Methods and Criteria for their Identification. J. Chronic. Dis., vol. 5, 1957, pp. 460.
- Berry, L. Joe; and Smythe, Dorothy S.: Effect of Cold on Blood Clearance of Carbon and Bacteria of Different Virulence. Technical Documentary Report AAL-TDR-64-14, Jan. 1965. Prepared under Contract AF41(609)-1764, Dept. of Biology, Bryn Mawr College, Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania.
- Bettley, F.R.: Some Effects of Soap on the Skin. Brit. Med. J., vol. i, 1960, pp. 1675-1679.
- Bienstock, John; and Harding, E. L. T.: Low- Molecular-Weight Dextron (Rheomocrodex) In Ischaemic Ulceration of the Skin. Lancet, vol. 1A, 1964, pp. 524-525.
- Birmingham, Donald J., M.D.: Contact Dermatitis of the Feet. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 190, no. 6, 1964, pp. 563-564.
- Blair, J.E.: Factors Determining the Pathogenicity of Staphylococci. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., vol. 12, 1958, pp. 491-506.
- Blair, J.E.; and Williams, R.E.O.: Phage Typing of Staphylococci. Bull. World. Hlth. Org., vol. 24, 1961, pp. 771-776.
- Blank, I. H.; and Coolidge, M. H.: Degerming the Cutaneous Surface. I. Quarternary Ammonium Compounds. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 15, 1950, pp. 249-256.

- Blank, I.H.: Factors Which Influence the Water Content of the Stratum Corneum. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 18, 1952, pp. 433-440.
- Blank, H.; and Rake, G.: Viral and Rickettsial Diseases of the Skin, Eye and Mucous Membranes of Man. Little Brown & Co., Boston, 1955.
- Blank, I. H. (ed): Conf. Percutaneous Absorption. Dermatol. Res. Lab., Mass. Genl. Hosp., Boston, Jan. 28, 1957.
- Blaschke-Hellmessen, R.: The Occurrence of Keratin-Using Skin-Pathogenic Fungi in Soil Specimens of a Large City. Z.Haut u.Geschlechtskr, vol. 36, Mar. 1964, pp. 169-185.

Blejer-Prieto, H.: Occupational Dermatoses in Ontario 1955 to 1962. Canad. Med. Ass. J., vol. 91, Aug. 1964, pp. 319-324.

- Boardman, Charles R. (M. D.); and Malkinson, Frederick D.: Tinea Versicolor in Steroid-Treated Patients. Arch. Derm. (Chic.), vol. 85, 1962, pp. 44-52.
- Boe, J.: Investigation of the Importance of Bacterial Allergy for the Development of Cutaneous Infection Due to Staphylococci. Acta Derm. Venereol., vol. 26, 1945, pp. 111-115.
- Bogatyreva, A.V.; and Golovina, A.A.: Exudative psoriasis arthropathica in conjunction with viscerogenic endocrine and nervous disturbances. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 9, 1960, pp. 18-21.
- Bohme, H.: Incidence and Dissemination of Soil-Bound Dermatophytes in Berlin. Derm. Wschr., vol. 149, Feb. 1964, pp. 185-200.
- Boogaeerdt, C. A. et al: Some Aspects of Hand Washing in Industry. T. Soc. Geneesk., vol. 42, July 1964, pp. 513-516.
- Bowers, R.E.: Pyogenic Infections of the Skin. Practitioner, vol. 192, no. 1151, 1964, pp. 616-620.
- Buddingh, G.J.: Dermatropic Viruses. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., vol. 3, 1949, pp. 331-356.
- Burke, J.F.; and Miles, A.A.: The Sequence of Vascular Events in Early Infective Inflamation. J. Path. Bact., vol. 76, 1958, pp. 1-19.
- Burtenshaw, J. M. L.: Self-Disinfection of the Skin: A Short Review and Some Original Observations. Brit. Med. Bull., vol. 3, 1945, pp. 161-169.
- Burtenshaw, J. M. L.: The Autogenous Disinfection of the Skin. In Modern Trends in Dermatology Ed. by R. M. B. MacKenna. Paul B. Hoeber, Inc., New York, 1948, pp. 158-185.

- Burtenshaw, J. M. L.: Proc. Intern. Congr. Dermatol., 11th Stockholm, 1957. Acta Dermato-Venereol., vol. 2, 1959, pp. 6-8.
- Cahn, M. M.; and Levy, E.J.: Use of Sulfadimethoxine (Madribon) in Treatment for Papulopustular and Cystic Acne Vulgaris. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sc., vol. 82, Sept. 1959, pp. 84-91.
- Carruthers, Christopher: Biochemistry of the Skin in Health and Disease. Springfield, Ill., Thomas, xviii, 1962, pp. 263 (illus).
- Castellani, A.: A Preliminary Note on a Pleomorphic Slime-Organism Found in Two Cases of a Gummatous-Ulcerative Dermatosis of the Leg. An. Inst. Med. Trop. (Lisb.), vol. 20, Jan.-Dec. 1963, pp. 171-173.
- Castellani, A.: A Peculiar Pleomorphic Slime Organism Associated With A Gummatous-Ulcerative Dermatosis. Lancet, vol. 2, Sept. 1964, pp. 587.
- Chick, E. W.; Sutliff, W. D.; Rakich, J. H.; and Furcolow, M. L.: Epidemiological Aspects of Cases of Blastomycosis Admitted to Memphis, Tenn. Hospitals During the Period 1922-1954: A Review of 86 Cases. Amer. J. Med. Sci., vol. 231, 1956, pp. 253-262.
- Chinn, H.D. et al.: The Topographic Anatomy of Human Skin. Arch. Derm. (Chic.), vol. 89, Feb. 1964, pp. 267-273.
- Christie, R.W.: Bacterial Variations in the Nasopharynx and Skin of Isolated Arctic Scientists. New England J. Med., vol. 258, 1958, pp. 531-533.
- Church, R.: Virus Infections of the Skin. Practitioner, vol. 192, vol. 1151, 1964, pp. 629-638.
- Clancy, J.K.: Mycobacterial Skin Ulcers in Uganda: Description of a New Mycobacterium (Mycobacterium boruli). J. Path. Bact., vol. 88, July 1964, pp. 175-187.
- Code, A.R.: An <u>In Vivo</u> Method for Determining the Degerming Efficiency of Soaps Containing Hexochlorophene. Special Technical Publication No. 115, American Society for Testing Materials, 1952, pp. 33-39.
- Cohen, E.L.: Incidence of Localization of Acne. Brit. J. Dermat., vol. 57, 1945, pp. 10-14.
- Cole, W.R. et al.: Relationship of Skin Carriage to Postoperative Staphylococcal Wound Infection. Surg. Forum., vol. 15, 1964, pp. 52-54.
- Comtois, R.D.; and Bynoe, E.T.: Report on a Particular Phage-Type of Staphylococcus Isolated in Some Hospitals in Canada. Canadian J. of Public Health, Aug. 1963.

- Conant, N.F.; Smith, D.T.; Baker, R.D.; Callaway, J.L.; and Martin, D.S.: Manual of Clinical Mycology, Saunders, 1959.
- Conroy, J.D.: Microsporum Injections in Cats. J. Amer. Vet. Med. Ass., vol. 145, July 1964, pp. 115-122.
- Cooke, E.M.; and Buck, H.W.: Self-Contamination of Dermatological Patients with Staphylococcus aureus. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 75, 1963, pp. 21-25.
- Cornbleet, T.: Comparison OD Demethychlortetracycline and Tetracycline in Acne. Arch. Derm. (Chic.), vol. 89, no. 1, 1964, pp. 144-146.
- Costa, O.G.: Granuloma venereum (Donovanosis) Chap. 23. Handbook of Tropical Dermatology. Vol. I. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1952, pp. 633-652.
- Couperus, M.: Skin Diseases in Tanganyika. Med. Arts Sci., vol. 18, 1964, pp. 25-29.
- Cramer, H.J. et al.: On the Significance of Rhodotorula Yeasts as Pathogenic Germs in Dermatology. Derm. Wschr., vol. 147, Jan. 1963, pp. 563-568.
- Croft, C.C.; and Black, L.A.: Yeastlike Fungi Isolated from Normal Skins. J. Lab. Clin. Med., vol. 23, 1938, pp. 1259-1266.
- Cronk, G.A.; Naumann, D.E.; and Garrison, C.: The Effect of Prolonged Tetracyline Therapy on the Sensitivity of Bacterial Isolates from Acne Patients. Antibiot. Med., vol. 2, 1956, pp. 153-157.
- Davies, R. R.; and Noble, W. C.: Dispersal of Bacteria on Desquamated Skin. Lancet, vol. ii, 1962, pp. 1295-1297.
- Davis, Nour A.; and Davis, G.H.G.: Selective Culture of Coagulase Positive Staphylocci. J. Path. Bact., vol. 89, 1965, pp. 380-386.
- Dawes, E.A.: Nutritional and Environmental Factors Affecting the Endogenous Metabolism of Bacteria. 164th Scientific Meeting, Rowett Research Institute, Bucksburn, Aberdeen, April 11, 1964: Nutrition of Micro-Organisms.
- Derbes, Vincent J.: The Fixed Eruption. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 190, Nov. 1964, pp. 765-766.
- diMenna, M. E.: Non-Pathogenic Yeasts of the Human Skin and Alimentary Tract: A Comparative Study. J. Path. Bact., vol. 68, 1954, pp. 89-99.
- Dineen, P.: Major Infections in the Post-Operative Period. Surg. Clin. N. Amer., vol. 44, Apr. 1964, pp. 553-564.
- Dodge, O.G.: Mycobacterial Skin Ulcers in Uganda: Histopathological and Experimental Aspects. J. Path. Bact., vol. 88, July 1964, pp. 169-174.

- Douglas, H.C.; and Grenter, S.E.: The Taxonomic Position of Cornebacterium Acnes. J. Bact., vol. 52, 1946, pp. 15-23.
- Drake, C.H.: Natural Antibodies Against Yeast-Like Fungi as Measured by Slide Agglutination. J. Immun., vol. 50, 1945, pp. 185-189.
- Droubet, E.: Cutaneous Manifestations of Deep Mycoses. Ann. Med. Nancy, vol. 2, July-Aug. 1963, pp. 1062-1077.
- Dubos, R.J.: Biochemical Determinants of Microbial Diseases. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1954.
- Dubos, R.J.: Bacterial and Mycotic Infections of Man. Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott Co., 1958.
- Duverne, J. et al.: Repeated Hallucinatory Attacks in a Child Treated With Griseofulvin for Multiple Dermatophytosis. Lyon Med., vol. 211, June 1964, pp. 1773-1775.
- Edwards, L.B.; and Krohn, E.F.: Skin Sensitivity to Antigens Made From Various Acid-Fast Bacteria. Amer. J. Hyg., vol. 66, 1957, pp. 253-273.
- Eichenwald, H. F.; Kotsevalov, O.; and Fasso, L.: The Cloud Baby: An Example of Bacterial-Viral Interaction. Amer. J. Dis. Child., vol. 100, 1960, pp. 161-173.
- Elberg, S.S.: Factors Affecting Resistance to Infection. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., vol. 10, 1956, pp. 1-20.
- Evans, C.A.; Smith, W.M.; Johnston, E.A.; and Giblett, E.R.: Bacterial Flora of Normal Human Skin. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 15, 1950, pp. 305.
- Evans, W.P.; and Dunbar, S.F.: Some Effects of Surface Active Agents on Germicides and Preservatives. Presented at Microbiology and Colloid & Surface Chemistry Groups Symposium as reported in Chemistry & Industry, Mar. 1965, pp. 421.
- Fisher, A.A.: Answer to Question on Contact Dermatitis of Food. Arch. Derm. (Chic.), vol. 79, Mar. 1959, pp. 267.
- Fleck, Franz; and Fleck, Margarete: Lehrbuch der Haut-und Geschlechts-Krankheiten. Berlin: VEB Verlay Volk und Gesundheit, 1962, pp. 423.

- Flesch, P.: Chemical Data on Human Epidermal Keratinisation and Differentiation. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 31, 1958, pp. 63-73.
- Flesch, Peter; Roe, D.A.; and Esoda, E.P.J.: The Gram-Staining Material of Human Epidermis. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 34, 1960, pp. 17-29.
- Fodder, J.; and Kreger-Van Rij, N.J.W.: The Yeasts. A Taxonomic Study. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1952.
- Frank, L.; and Stritzler, C.: Long-Term Therapy of Acne with Antibiotics. New York J. Med., vol. 59, Sept. 1959, pp. 3237-3239.

Freiman, N.I.: Infection of the Facial Skin by Shad Mites. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Mar. 1964, pp. 42-44.

Freinkel, Ruth K. (M.D.); and Arthur S. Lurie (M.D.): Some Observations on the Effect of 1-tri-iodothyronine on Acne Vulgaris. J. Inv. Derm., vol. 34, Apr. 1960, pp. 277-279.

Friedrich, E.: On the Terminology of Dermatomycoses and their Pathogens. Derm. Wschr., vol. 148, July 1963, pp. 1-9.

Garza Toba, M.: Trial Evaluation of Psychotherapy in Dermatology. Medicina (Mex.), vol. 44, Aug. 1964, pp. 410-418.

Georg, Lucille K. (Ph. D.); and Moechling, Eugenia H. (Ph. D.): Trichophyton Mentagrophytes (Variety Nodular) A Mutant with Brilliant Orange-Red Pigment Isolated in 9 Cases of Ringworm of the Skin and Nails. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 13, 1949, pp. 339-350.

Gilbert, D.: Demonstration of a Respiratory Control Mechanism in Human Skin in Vitro. J. Int. Coll. Surg., vol. 42, July 1964, pp. 45-49.

Gillespie, E.H.; Devenish, E.A.; and Cowan, S.T.: Pathogenic Staphylococci (Their incidence in the nose and on the skin). Lancet, vol. 2, 1939, pp. 870-873.

Gip, L. et al: Treatment of Dermatophyte-Infected Stocking Material with Antimycotic Powder. Svensk. Lakartidn., vol. 61, July 1964, pp. 2248-2253.

Giss, G.: On the Possibilities of the Use of Water and Soaps in Occupational and Non-Occupational Dermatoses. G. Derm. Wschr., vol. 147, Mar. 1963, pp. 251-258.

Gleeson-White, M.H.: The Skin Flora and the Staphylococcus. In Progress in Biological Sciences in Relation to Dermatology, 155-167 (Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1960, pp. 480).

Gold, S.: Ageing of the Skin, London Clin. Med. J., vol. 5, July 1964, pp. 15-26.

- Goldenberg, I.S.: C-Reactive Protein Test as an Indication of Patient's Condition in Some Skin Diseases. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Apr. 1964, pp. 27-31.
- Gordon, M.A.: Lipophilic Yeastlike Organisms Associated with Tinea Versicolor. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 17, 1951, pp. 267-272.
- Gould, J.C.; and Cruickshank, J.D.: Staphylococcal Infections in General Practice. Lancet, vol. ii, 1957, pp. 1157-1161.
- Green, W.O. Jr., et al: Mycetoma in the United States: A Review and Report of Seven Additional Cases. Amer. J. Clin. Path., vol. 42, July 1964, pp. 75-91.
- Greenberg, A.E.; and Kupka, E.: Swimming Pool Injuries, Mycobacteria and Tuberculosis-Like Disease. Public Health Rep., vol. 72, 1957, pp. 902-904.
- Grube, D. et al: Contribution to the Subject of the Reservoir of Dermatomyces and to the Subject of the Relationships Between the Gymnoascaceae and Dermatomyces. Mycopathologia., vol. 23, July 1964, pp. 1-22.
- Guidry, D.J.; and Bijard, A.J.: Comparison of the Pathogenicity of the Yeast and Mycelial Phases of Blastomyces Dermatitidis. Amer. J. Trop. Med. Hyg., vol. 13, no. 2, 1964, pp. 319-326.
- Hackett, C.J.: The Clinical Course of Yaws in Lango, Uganda. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg., vol. 40, 1946, pp. 206-217.
- Hall, R.; and Burrows, D.: An Analysis of 30,000 Cases of Skin Disease in Northern Ireland. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 69, 1957, pp. 400-404.
- Hasselmann, C. M.: Experimental Evidence and Clinical Studies as Basis for Nomenclature in Framboesia Tropica (Yaws). Arch. Derm. Syph., vol. 66, 1952, pp. 107-122.
- Hassler, O. et al: Experimental Abscess in Brain and Subcutis; a Microangiographic Study in the Rabbit. Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand., vol. 62, 1964, pp. 59-67.
- Hare, R.; and Cooke, E. M.: Self-Contamination of Patients With Staphylococcal Infections. Brit. Med. J., vol. ii, 1961, pp. 333-336.
- Hedberg, Mary: Quantitative Study of Bacteria in Mixed Populations: A Surface Plating Method for Enumerating, Identifying and Determining Antimicrobiol Susceptibility. Am. J. Cl. Path., vol. 3, 1964, pp. 332-336.
- Hellat, A.: Studies on the Self-Disinfecting Power of the Skin. In: Annales Medicinae Experimentalis et Biological Fenniae, vol. 26, suppl. 8, 1948, pp. 92-95.

- Hellier, F.: Acneiform Eruptions in Infancy. Brit. J. Dermat., vol. 66, 1954, pp. 25-29.
- Helve, A.; Oker-Blom, N.; and Tatiala, R.: Beta Hemolytic Streptococci in Disease Groups Eczema Infantum-Prurigo. Acta Paediat. (Uppsala), vol. 39, 1950, pp. 140.
- Herlitz, G.: Bacterial Infection and Infantile Eczema. Int. Arch. Allergy, vol. 8, 1956, pp. 160.
- Hertzman, A.B.: Some Relations Between Skin Temperature and Blood Flow. Amer. J. Phys. Med., vol. 32, 1953, pp. 233-251.
- Heynier, T.: Existence of Streptomyces Coelicolor on Human Skin and Mucous Membranes and its Fungistatic Effect. Arch. Klin. Exp. Derm., vol. 205, 1957, pp. 212-218.
- Hicks, C. C.; Poe, R. H.; and Dooley, E. S.: The Nasal and Skin Carriage of Staphylococcus Aureus in An Artificial Cold Environment. Milit. Med., vol. 129, no. 3, 1964, pp. 264-271.
- Hilgers, Wilhelm E.: Saprophytische und pathogene Bakterien der Haut. Berlin: J. Springer In: Handbuch der haut and geschlechtskrankheiten (Jadassohn), bd. 2, 1932, pp. 301-352.
- Hill, A. M.; Butler, H. M.; and Laver, J. C.: Reduction of Staphylococcal Infection in the Newly Born. Med. J. Aust., vol. 31, Oct. 1959, pp. 633.
- Holyel, A.: Skin Thrush in Early Infancy. Arch. Dis. Child., vol. 28, 1953, pp. 412-415.
- Hopper, S. H.; Beck, A. V. R.; and Wood, K. M.: Comparison Between Phiso-Hex, Actamer and Septisol as Germicidal Agents for the Skin. Bull. Amer. Soc. Hosp. Pharm., vol. 10, 1953, pp. 199.
- Huang, J. S. et al: The Susceptibility of Chick Embryo Skin Organ Cultures to Influenza Virus Following Excess Vitamin A. J. Exp. Med., vol. 120, Aug. 1964, pp. 129-148.
- Huriey, C.; Desmous, F.; and Baelden, J.: Determination of the Levels of Anti-Streptolysin O and Antistaphylolysin in the Serum of Patients with Various Dermatoses. Ann. Derm. Syph., vol. 85, 1958, pp. 5-25.
- Hurst, A.; Stuttard, L.W.; and Woodroffe, R.C.S.: Disinfectants for Use in Barsoaps. J. Hyg., Camb., vol. 58, 1950, pp. 159-163.
- Imaeda, T. et al: Electron Microscope Study of Cutaneous Nerves in Leprosy. Int. J. Leprosy, vol. 31, Apr.-June 1963, pp. 188-210.

- Itoh, S.: Essential Problems in Climatic Physiology, pp. 1-25 (Nankodo Publ. Co., Kyoto, Japan, 299 pp., 1960).
- J. Amer. Med. Assoc. Editorial: Resistance to Infection With Staphylococcus Aureus. vol. 190, Oct. 1964, pp. 391.
- Jadassohn, Josef: Allergie, structure histologique, nombre des microbes dans les dermatoses. Archives dermato-syphile-graphiques, Tome 3, fasc. 3, Sept. 1931, pp. 343-372.
- Jaksch, W.: Dermatomykosen der Equiden, Karnivoren und einiger Rodentier in Osterreich, mit einem Beitrag zur Normalen Pilzflora der Haut. Wiener Tierarztliche Montasschrift Heft, vol. 7, Jahrgang 1963, p. 50.
- Jaksch, W.: Dermatomykosen der Equiden, Karnivoren und einiger Rodentier in Osterreich, mit einem Beitrag zur normalen Pilzflora der Haut. Sonderdruck aus Heft, vol. 9, Jahrgang 1963, pp. 831-862.
- Jaksch, W.: Dermatomykosen der Equiden, Karnivoren und einiger Rodentier in Osterreich, mit einem Beitrag zur normalen Pilzflora der Haut. Sonderdruck aus Heft, vol. 11, Jahrgang 1963, pp. 1077-1099.
- James, A.M.: Surface Active Agents in Microbiology. Presented at Microbiology and Colloid & Surface Chemistry Groups Symposium as reported in Chemistry & Industry, Mar. 1965, pp. 419.
- Janssens, P.G.: Atypical Mycobacterial Skin Ulcers. Trans. Symposium Research in Leprosy. Leonard Wood Memorial, Washington, 1961, pp. 165-175.
- Jarrett, Arthur: Science and the Skin. English Universities Press, London, 1964, 167 pp.
- John, C.L.; and Cherry, J.D.: Congenital Cutaneous Candidiasis. Pediatrics, vol. 33, no. 3, 1964, pp. 440-441.
- Juhlin, I.: Methods for Grouping and Typing of Mycobacteria. III. Differentiation of Anonymous Mycobacteria into Groups, Subgroups or Types. Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand., vol. 50, 1960, pp. 195-207.
- Kakw, H. et al: Autoradiographic Studies on RNA and Protein Synthesis of Human Skin in vivo in Normal and Pathogenic Conditions by 3H-iridine and 3H-leucine. Arch. Histol. Jap., vol. 24, July 1964, pp. 515-523.
- Kaplan, W.; and Georg, L.K.: Isolation of Microsporum audouini from a Dog. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 28, 1957, pp. 313-315.
- Kar, S. et al: Field Method for Concentrating Mycobacterium leprae in Skin Biopsy Specimens. Int. J. Leprosy, vol. 32, Jan.-Mar. 1964, pp. 18-23.

- Kartamyshev, Anatoliy Ioasafovich: Textbook of Skin and Venereal Diseases 2. izd. Kiev. Gos. Med. Izd. USSR, 1959, 415 pp.
- Keddie, F.; Orr, A.; and Liebes, D.: Direct Staining on Vinyl Plastic Tape, Demonstration of the Cutaneous Flora of the Epidermis by the Strip Method. Sabouraudia, vol. 1, 1961, p. 108.
- Keidel, Wolf Dieter: Physiology of the Cutaneous Senses. Handbuch d. Haut-u Geschlechtskr., Suppl. I, Pt. 3, (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1963).
- Keining, Egon; and Braun-Falco, Otto: Dermatologie und Venerologie. Munchen, J. F., Lehmanns Verlag, 1961, 781 p.
- Keller, Philipp: Mechanical Properties of the Skin. Electrophysiology of the Skin. Handbuch d. Haut-u Geschechtskr., Suppl. I, Pt. 3, (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1963).
- Kenward, J.F.: Psychiatric Considerations in Acne Vulgaris. Ill. Med. J., vol. 124, no. 5, Nov. 1963, pp. 427-428.
- Kholodii, P.I. et al: Dermatomycoses in the Cherkassy Region. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Apr. 1964, pp. 86-88.
- Kienitz, M. et al: Staphylococci in the Newborn Nursery. Deutsch Med. Wschr., vol. 89, Spt. 11, 1964, pp. 1744-1751. (German)
- Kimmig, J.; and Wiskemann, A.: Handbuch Haut u Geschlechtskr., Suppl. 5, Pt. 2, (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1959), pp. 1021-1041.
- King, W.C.; and Forbes, Jr., M.A.: Use of Tetracycline in Treatment of Acne Vulgaris: Clinical Study. Southern Med. J., vol. 49, Aug. 1956, pp. 875-879.
- Klegman, A. M.; and Rebell, Gerbert: The Routine Cultural Identification of Microsporum Ringworm of the Scalp. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 13, 1949, pp. 135-137.
- Klegman, A. M.: Are Fungus Infections Increasing as Result of Antibiotic Therapy? J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 149, July 1952, pp. 979-983.
- Klegman, A.M.; and Shelley, W.B.: An Investigation of the Biology of the Human Sebacceous Gland. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 30, 1958, pp. 99-124.
- Kloche, R.A.; Gurtner, G.H.; and Farhi, L.E.: Gas Transfer Across the Skin in Man. Tech. Doc. Rept. No. AMRL-TDR-63-103(I), Oct. 1963, pp. 181-186.
- Klokke, A.H.: Fungous Diseases of the Skin in North India. Derm. Trop., vol. 3, Apr.-June 1964, pp. 108-110.

- Knauer, Jr., W.J. et al: Extramammary Paget's Disease Originating in Moll's Glands of the Lids. Trans. Amer. Acad. Ophthal. Otolaryng., vol. 67, Nov. -Dec. 1963, pp. 829-833.
- Kohnlein, E.: Recent History of Skin Transplantation With Special Reference to Homotransplantation and Heterotransplantation. Hippokrates, vol. 35, Mar. 1964, pp. 232-235.
- Korolev, Yu. F.: Treatment of Seborrhoea and Acne Eruptions. Vestn. Derm. i Vener., vol. 10, 1960, pp. 19-24.
- Kovshova-Mednedena, E.A.: The Importance of Chronic Trichophytosis in the Epidemiology of Mycoses in the Bashkir Republic. Vestn. Derm. i Vener., vol. 1, 1960, pp. 22-24.
- Kreider, M.B.; and Buskirk, E.R.: Supplementary Feeding and Thermal Comfort During Sleep in the Cold. J. Appl. Physiol., vol. 11, 1957, pp. 339-343.
- Krynski, S. et al: Differences Among the Bacterial Flora in the Environment of Aseptic and Septic Wards of Surgical Clinics. J. Hyg. Epidem. (Praha), vol. 8, 1964, pp. 290-300.
- Kumazawa, T. et al: A Plethysmographic Study of the Human Skin Under Various Environmental Conditions. Jap. J. Physiol., vol. 14, Aug. 1964, pp. 354-364.
- Lester, W.; and Colton, R.: A Correlation of the Results of the Agar Double-Diffusion Precipitation Test with the Bacteriological Findings in 210 Consecutive Patients. In: Transactions of the 18th Conference on the Chemotherapy of Tuberculosis, Veterans Administration-Armed Forces, 1959, pp. 232-233.
- Levy, S.W.: The Skin Problems of the Lower Extremity Amputee. Artif. Limbs, vol. 3, 1956, pp. 20-35.
- Lindsay, W.K.; and Birch, J.R.: Thin Skin Healing. Canad. J. Surg., vol. 7, no. 3, 1964, pp. 297-308.
- Lipschutz, Benjamin: Die "einschlusskrankheiten" der haut. (Das filtrierbare virus in der dermatologie.) Berlin: J. Springer, Repr.: Handbuch der haut und geschlechtskrankheiten (Jadossohn), bd 2, 1932, pp. 21-163.
- Lizgunova, A.V.: The Physiological Protective Functions of the Skin. Dept. Microbiol., I.N. Pirogov Second Medical Inst., Moscow. Thesis (Moskva), 1960.
- Lorincz, A.L.: Skin Desquamating Machine -- A Tool Useful in Dermatologic Research. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 28, 1957, pp. 275-282.

Lowbury, E.J.L.; and Fox, J.: The Epidemiology of Infection with Pseudomonas Pyocyanea in a Burns Unit. J. Hyg., vol. 52, 1954, pp. 403-416.

Lubashevskaia, L.N.: C-Reactive Protein Test in Dermatological Clinical Practice. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Apr. 1964, pp. 22-27.

- Lunn, H. F.; and Rees, R. J. W.: Treatment of Mycobacterial Skin Ulcers in Uganda with a Rimno-phenazine Derivative. Lancet, vol. 1A, 1964, pp. 247-249.
- Lythcott, George, J.; and Edgcomb, John H.: The Occurrence of South American Blastomycosis in Accra, Ghana. Lancet, vol. 1B, 1964, pp. 916-917.

Maggiora, A.: Effect of Repeated Irradiation of the Epidermis of the Guinea Pig Flank. Dermatologica (Basel), vol. 129, 1964, pp. 101-110.

Malkinson, F.D.; and Rothman, S.: Handbuch Haut u Geschlechtskr., Suppl. I, part 3, pp. 90-156 (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 858 pp., 1963).

Mariasis, Kh.D.: Characteristics of the Epidermiology of Fungal Foot Diseases in an Industrial Plant. Soviet Med., vol. 28, Apr. 1964, pp. 130-131.

Marinesco, G.: On a Little-Known Form of Cutaneous Anthrax: The Bullous or Multi-Bullous Form. Presse Med., vol. 72, Sept. 1964, pp. 2209-2210.

Markham, N. P.; and Shott, H. C. W.: A Survey of Sepsis in Hospital Patients. New Zeal. Med. J., vol. 60, 1961, pp. 474-480.

Marples, M.J.; and Bailey, M.J.: A Search for the Presence of Pathogenic Bacteria and Fungi in the Interdigital Spaces of the Foot. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 69, 1956, pp. 379-388.

Marples, M.J.: The Incidence of Certain Skin Diseases in Western Samoa: A Preliminary Survey. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg., vol. 44, 1950, pp. 319-332.

Marshall, J.: Dermatology in the Tropics and Subtropics. Practitioner, vol. 193, Aug. 1964, pp. 155-164.

Martin, C.: Corticotherapy of Dermotropic Virus Infections in Children. Arch. Franc. Pediat., vol. 21, Oct. 1964, pp. 1007-1009.

MartinBeare, J.; Cheeseman, E.A.; Gailey, A.A.H.; and Neill, D.W.: The pH of the Skin Surface of Children With Seborrhoeic Dermatitis Compared With Unaffected Children. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 70, 1956, pp. 233-241.

Martin-Scott, I.: The Pityrosporum Ovale. J. Derm., vol. 64, 1952, pp. 258-273.

- Mashkilleison, Z.N.: Infections and Parasitic Diseases of the Skin. Moscow, 1960, 369 pp.
- McAllister, T.A.; Stark, J.M.; Norman, J.N.; and Ross, R.M.: Inhibitory Effects of Hyperbaric Oxygen on Bacteria and Fungi. Lancet, vol. 1A, 1964, pp. 499-500.
- McDermott, W.: Inapparent Infections. Public Health Rept., vol. 74, 1959, pp. 485-499.
- Mehregan, A.H.: Skin Diseases in Iran. Dermatologie (Basel), vol. 129, 1964, pp. 349-358.
- Melczer, N.; and Vasarhelyi, P.: Pleuropneumonia-Like Organisms Among the Airborne Germs of the Normal Skin. Hautarzt., vol. 10, 1959, pp. 202-205.
- Mezer, K. A.; and Spector, B.K.: Incidence of Tetanus Bacillus on Skin and in Stools. Surg. Gynec. & Obst., vol. 54, 1932, pp. 785.
- Microbiology and Colloid & Surface Chemistry Group Symposium: Surface Activity and the Microbial Cell. Chemistry & Industry, March 1965.
- Miescher, G.: Acta Dermato-Venereol. Proc. Intern. Congr. Dermatol., 11th Stockholm, vol. 2, 1957, pp. 9-13.
- Miles, A.A.; Williamson, R.E.O.; and Clayton Cooper, B.: The Carriage of Staphylococci (Pyogenes) Aureus in Man and Its Relation to Wound Infection. J. Path. Bact., vol. 56, 1940, pp. 513-524.
- Millian, S. J. et al: Studies on Incidence of Coagulase Positive Staphylococci in Normal Unconfined Population. Amer. J. Public Health, vol. 50, no. 6, 1960, pp. 791-798.
- Mitchell, A. A. B.: New Epidemic Strain of Staphylococcus aureus. Emergence and Spread in a General Hospital. Lancet, vol. 1B, 1964, pp. 859-862.
- Mitchell, E.S.: Frequency of Serotypes of Streptococcus pyogenes in Different Diseases. J. Clin. Path., vol. 15, 1962, pp. 231-234.
- Mollohan, C.S.; and Romer, M.S.: Public Health Significance of Swimming Pool Granuloma. Amer. J. Public Health, vol. 51, 1961, pp. 883-891.
- Montestruc, E.: Relapses in Patients with Residual Lepromatous Leprosy. (A propos des rechutes chez les malades atteints des lèpre lépromateuse residuelle). Bull. Soc. Path. Exot., vol. 55, May-June 1962, pp. 346-352.
- Morrow, Alison: Pigment Cell Bibliography (Melanoma and Related Subjects).
  In Pigment Cell; Molecular, Biological and Clinical Aspects, Part II, 1961.
  N.Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 100, 1963, pp. 1073-1104.

- Mukerji, S.: Subcutaneous Phycomycosis. Brit. Med. J., vol. 5415, Oct. 1964, pp. 1009-1010.
- Nadel, Claude Jacques Andre: Flore bactérienne des ulcérations cutanées. Paris: Dactylo-Sorbonne, 1958. Paris theses 1958.
- Nathanson, Robert, B.: The Fungistatic Action of Oleics, Linoleic, and Linolenic Acid on Trichophyton rubrum in vitro. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 35, 1960, pp. 261-263.
- Nelson, L.S.; and Stoesser, A.V.: Cleansing Agents Irritating and Non-Irritating to the Skin. Ann. Allergy, vol. 11, 1953, pp. 572-576.
- Neter, E.; and Weintraub, D.H.: An Epidemiological Study of Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Bacillus pyocyaneus) in Premature Infants in the Presence and Absence of Infection. J. Pediat., vol. 46, 1955, pp. 280-287.
- Nikodemusz, I.; and Gonda, Gy.: Contributions to the Animal Pathogenicity of Aerobic Spore Forming Bacilli. Sonderdruck aus dem Zentralblatt fur Bakterieologie, Parasitenkunde, Infektionskrankheiten u. Hygiene, I Orig. 189, 1963, pp. 298-307.
- Noojin, R.O.; Osmet, L.S.; and Winkler, C.H.: Antibiotic and Sulfonamide In Vitro Studies in Pustular Acne Vulgaris. AMA Arch. Derm & Syph., vol. 70, Aug. 1954, pp. 222-227.
- Norton, J. F.; and Novy, M. F.: Studies on the Self-Disinfecting Powers of Skin. Amer. J. Publ. Hlth., vol. 21, 1931, pp. 1117-1119.
- Norton, J. F.; and Novy, M. F.: Further Note on the Disappearance of Bacteria Applied to Skin. Amer. J. Publ. Hith., vol. 22, 1932, pp. 193-195.
- O'Brien, J.P.: The Etiology of Poral Closure. II. The Role of Staphylococcal Infection in Miliaria Rubra and Bullous Impetigo. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 15, 1950, pp. 102-133.
- Ogata, K.: Essential Problems in Climatic Physiology, pp. 26-60 (Nankodo Publ. Co., Kyoto, Japan, 299 pp., 1960).
- Pardo Castello, V.; and Castenedo, C.: Pinta or Carate. Handbook of Tropical Dermatology, Chapter 8, 1952, Amsterdam, Elsevier, pp. 301-315.
- Parker, M. T., Tomlinson, A. J. H.; and Williams, R. E. O.: Impetigo Contagiosa. The Association of Certain Types of Staphylococcus Aureus and Staphylococcus Pyogenes with Superficial Skin Infections. J. Hyg., vol. 53, 1955, pp. 458-473.
- Pastras, T. et al: Some Aspects of Dermatology in Diabetes Mellitus: A Review of Some Recent Literature. Indian Med. J., vol. 58, Sept. 1964, pp. 183-189.

- Peretts, Leo: Significance of Normal Microflora for the Human Organism. Moskva: MEDG12, 1955, 433 pp.
- Perez-Silva, J.; and Rodriguez, D.: Sobre La Posicion Sistematica De Peptostreptococcus Elsdenii. Microbiol. Espan., vol. 16, 1963, pp. 175-178.
- Pick, F.: On the Recovery of Perception of Bites of Hematophogous Reduviioae at the Level of Anesthetic Plaques Observed in a Case of Tuberculoid Leprosy Treated Exclusively with p-aminosolicylic acid. Bull. Soc. Path. Exot., vol. 57, Jan.-Feb. 1964, pp. 43-44.
- Pietrullo, Helen, Comp.: Leitfaden der speziellen Dermatologie für die Fachkosmetikerin. Heidelberg 1961. Blaue Reihe der Heidelberger Kosmetik-Skripten.
- Pillsbury, D. M.; and Rebell, G.: The Bacterial Flora of the Skin. Factors Influencing the Growth of Resident and Transient Organisms. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 18, 1952, pp. 173-186.
- Pillsbury, D. M.; and Kligman, A. M. Some Current Problems in Cutaneous Bacteriology. Modern Trends in Dermatology, Chapter 11, 2nd Series, pp. 187-213, Paul Hoeber, Inc., New York, 1954.
- Pinkerton, M. E.; Mullins, J. F.; and Shepiro, E. M.: The Ecology of Superficial Fungus Infections in Galveston, Texas. A Five Year Survey. Tex. Rep. Biol. Med., vol. 15, 1957, pp. 25-49.
- Pinkus, H.: Examination of the Epidermis by the Strip Method. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 19, 1952, pp. 431-436.
- Polilov, M.I.; and Andreena, N.V.: Incidence and Features of the Course of Some Dermatoses in Elderly and Senile Persons. Vestn. Derm. i Vener., vol. 38, no. 2, 1964, pp. 47-52.
- Pollock, M. R.; Wainwright, D. S.; and Manson, E. E. D.: The Presence of Oleic Acid-Requiring Diphtheroids on the Human Skin. J. Path. Bact., vol. 61, 1946, pp. 274-276.
- Quinn, H.; Voss, J.G.; and Whitehouse, H.S.: A Method for the in vivo Evaluation of Skin Sanitizing Soaps. Appl. Microbiol., vol. 2, 1954, pp. 202.
- Raper, H.S.: Aerobic Oxidases. Physiol. Rev., vol. 8, Apr. 1928, pp. 245-282.
- Rasiewicz, W.: Treatment of Skin Diseases with Diuretics. Pol. Tyz. Lek., vol. 19, Mar. 1964, pp. 512-514.

- Rees, R. B.: Cutaneous Reactions to Antibiotics. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 189, Aug. 1964, pp. 685-686.
- Rees, R.B.: What Cosmetics Can I Use, Doctor? Skin, vol. 3, July 1964, pp. 212-216.
- Reeves, Peter: The Bacteriocins. Bact. Reviews., vol. 29, no. 1, Mar. 1965, pp. 24-45.
- Reiss, Frederick,; Szilagyi, George: Ecology of Yeast-Like Fungi in a Hospital Population. Arch. Derm., vol. 91, June 1965, pp. 611-614.
- Rich, A.R.: Inflammation in Resistance to Infection. Arch. Path., vol. 22, 1936, pp. 228-254.
- Rickenbacher, J.: Infection Experiments With Vaccinia Virus on Human Embryonic Skin in vitro. Path. Microbiol. (Basel), vol. 27, 1964, pp. 624-637.
- Ridley, C.M.: Side Effects of Steroid Therapy in Dermatology: Experiences in 215 Cases. Postgraduate Med. J., vol. 38, Aug. 1962, pp. 444-450.
- Rivlin, M.I.: General Immunologic Reactivity of the Organism of Staphyloderma Patients. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Mar. 1964, pp. 10-14.
- Roberts, G.: Treatment of Acne vulgaris with a Topical Ointment Containing Kanamycin, Amphomycin and Hydrocortisone (kanofotrex-Bristol). Cent. Afr. J. Med., vol. 10, no. 1, 1964, pp. 23-24.
- Robinson, J., H.M.: Role of Antibiotics in Therapy of Acne. AMA Arch. Derm. & Syph., vol. 69, Apr. 1954, pp. 414-417.
- Rose, J. M.: Bacterial Hypersensitivity. Texas J. Med., vol. 51, Feb. 1955, pp. 73-75.
- Ross, J.B.: The Derme-Epidermal Interface in Health and Disease. Brit. J. of Dermatology, vol. 77, Feb. 1965.
- Rothman, S.: Physiology and Biochemistry of the Skin. Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1954, 741 pp.
- Rothman, S.: Acta Dermato-Venerol., Proc. Intern. Congr. Dermatol., 11th Stockholm, 1957, vol. 2, pp. 3-4 and pp. 38-39, 1959.

- Rothman, Stephen (ed): The Human Integument, Normal and Abnormal Symposium 1957 AAAS, Com. on Cosmetics of AMA and Soc. Inv. Derm., Washington, 1959.
- Rubbo, S. D.; Pressley, T. A.; Stratford, B. C.; and Discon, S.: Vehicles of Transmission of Airborne Bacteria in Hospital Wards. Lancet, vol. ii, 1960, pp. 397-400.
- Rubin, Harry: Carcinogenic Interactions Between Virus, Cell and Organism. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., Nov. 1964, pp. 727-731.
- Rubin, L.: Hyperkeratinosis in Response to Mechanical Irritation. J. Inv. Derm., vol. 13, 1949, pp. 313-315.
- Russell, B.: Sources and Carriage of Cutaneous Infection. Trans. St. Johns Hosp. Derm. Soc., vol. 36, 1956, pp. 3-9.
- Saarenmaa, Erkki Johannes: Investigations of the Bacterial Flora, Disinfection and Disinfectants of the Skin. In: Annales chirurgiae et gynaecologiae Fenniae. Helsinki, vol. 35, suppl. 4, 1945 (translated from Finnish).
- Sams, W. M.: Challenges for the Dermatologist. Arch. Derm. (Chicago), vol. 90, Dec. 1964, pp. 539-543.
- Sanderson, P.H.; and Sloper, A.L.: Skin Disease in the British Army in S.E. Asia. I. Influence of the Environment on Skin Diseases. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 65, 1953a, pp. 252-264.
- Sanderson, P.H.; and Sloper, J.C.: Skin Disease in the British Army in S.E.
  Asia. II. Tinea Corporis: Clinical and Pathological Aspects with Particular Reference to the Relationship between T. interdigitale and T. mentagrophytes. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 65, 1953b, pp. 300-309.
- Sanderson, P.H.; and Sloper, J.C.: The Relationship Between Mycotic Infections of the Body and of the Feet. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 65, 1953c, pp. 362-372.
- Sargin, C. et al: A Case of Generalized Sporotrichosis. Tip. Fak. Mec. (Istanbul), vol. 27, 1964, pp. 38-44.
- Sarkany, I.; Grice, Katherine; and Carov, G.A.: Organ Culture of Adult Human Skin. Brit. J. of Derm., vol. 77, Feb. 1965, pp. 65-76.
- Satulsky, E. M.: Dermatologic Problems in the Elderly. J. Med. Soc. New Jersey, vol. 61, Oct. 1964, pp. 441-446.
- Scher, Richard K.: Triamcinolone Acetonide Intramuscularly: Effective Long-Acting Steroid Therapy in Dermatologic Disorders. J. Am. Ger. Soc., vol. 12, 1964, pp. 328-336.

Scherp, H.W.: Neisseria and Neisserial Infections. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., vol. 9, 1955, pp. 319-334.

Schmid, A.H.: Furuncle and Furunculosis (Furunkel und Furunkulose). Ther. D. Gegenw., vol. 103, no. 2, 1964, pp. 170-176.

Schocket, E. et al: Granuloma of the Skin Due to Mycobacterium fortuitum. Southern Med. J., vol. 57, Nov. 1964, pp. 1352-1356.

Seligman, E.: Virulence Enhancing Activities of Aureomycin on Candida albicans. Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med., vol. 79, 1952, pp. 481-484.

Semmola, L.: Subcorneal Pustular Dermatitis. Sneddon-Wilkinson Disease. Russ. Derm. Sif., vol. 17, May-June 1964, pp. 202-216.

- Sevuk, Necdet: Ankarada Muhtelif Orijinli Patojen Stafilokoklarin Patojenite Testi Ve Biyolojib Vasiflari. Turk Hijiyen Ve Tecrubi Biyoloji Dergisi, Cilt. XXII, Sayi I, Ankara, 1962.
- Shehadeh, N. H.; and Kligman, A. M.: The Effect of Topical Antibacterial Agents on the Bacterial Flora of the Axilla. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 40, 1963, pp. 61-71.
- Shelanski, Morris. V.: Cutaneous Toxicity Evaluation of Air Force Development Materials - VI. Technical Documentary Report No. AMRL-TDR-64-13, Feb. 1964.
- Shevlyakov, L.V.: Effect of T-1 Brand Fuel Upon the Skin. Voyenno-Meditsinskiy Zhurnal (Military Medical Journal), no. 5, 1955, pp. 83-84.
- Shinefield, H.R.; Ripple, J.J.: Current Aspects of Infections and Disease Related to Staph aureus. Ann. Rev. Med., vol. 16, 1963, pp. 263-284.
- Shpektorova, R.A.: Ozone Therapy of Some Skin Diseases. Vestn. Derm. Vener., vol. 38, Feb. 1964, pp. 44-46.
- Siegel, Benjamin, V.: Electron Microscopic Studies of the Virus of Human Warts. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 35, 1960, pp. 91-93.
- Silva, M.: The Effect of Amino-Acids on the Growth and Sporulation of Trichophyton Rubrum: Possible Applications to Diagnosis and Therapy. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 30, 1958, pp. 69-76.

Silva, Y.P. et al: Epidemic Familial Sporatrichosis. Hospital, vol. 66, Sept. 1964, pp. 573-579.

Smith, D. T.: Disturbance of Normal Bacterial Ecology by Administration of Antibiotics with Development of New Clinical Syndromes. Ann. Int. Med., vol. 37, Dec. 1952, pp. 1135-1143.

- Smith, E.W. et al: Studies on the Pathogenesis of Staphylococcal Infection.
  VIII. The Human Cutaneous Reaction to Injection of Alpha Hemolysin. Bull.
  Hopkins Hosp., vol. 113, Nov. 1963, pp. 247-260.
- Smith, J. M. B.; and Marples, M. J.: Tricophyton mentagrophytes var erinacei. Sabouraudia, vol. 3, 1963, pp. 1-10.
- Smith, M.A.; and Waterworth, P.M.: The Bacteriology of Acne vulgaris in Relation to its Treatment with Antibiotics. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 73, 1961, pp. 152-159.
- Smith, M.A.; and Waterworth, P.M.: The Bacteriology of Some Cases of Intertrigo, Brit. J. Derm., vol. 74, 1962, pp. 323-325.
- Smylie, H.G.; Webster, C.U.; and Bruce, M.L.: "Phisohex" and Safer Surgery. Brit. Med. J., vol. ii, 1959, pp. 606-608.
- Sompolinsky, D. et al: Influence of Army Service on the Incidence of Carriers of Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus pyogenes. A Study Undertaken in the Israel Defense Forces. Rev. Int. Serv. Sante Armees, vol. 37, July-Aug. 1964, pp. 483-491.
- Spangler, A. S.; Reddy, W.; Bardawil, W. A.; Koby, C. C.; and Emerson, K.: Popular Dermatitis of Pregnancy: A New Clinical Entity? J. Am. Med. Ass. (JAMA), vol. 181, Aug. 1962, pp. 577-581.
- Spector, W.G.; and Willoughby, D.A.: The Inflammatory Response. Brit. Rev., vol. 27, 1963, pp. 117-134.
- Spirov, G.: Studies on the Fungistatic and Fungicidal Properties of Certain Chemical Compounds and Drugs Against the Causative Agents of Epidermophytosis, Trichophyton Gypseum and Aspergillus Niger. Dermatol. i Veneral., vol. 3, no. 2, 1964, pp. 109-112.
- Sternberg, Thomas H.; and Bierman, Stanley M.: Unique Syndromes Involving the Skin Induced by Drugs, Food Additives, and Environmental Contaminants. Arch. Dermatology, vol. 88, Dec. 1963, pp. 779-788.
- Storck, H. et al: A Case for Diagnosis. Leukocytic-Granulomatous Microbid? Cutaneous Sporotrichosis. Dermatologica (Basel), vol. 129, 1964, pp. 193-194.
- Stoughton, R.B.: The Human Integument 3-24. Am. Assoc. Advan. Sci., Washington, Publ. no. 54, 1959, 260 pp.
- Strauss, J.S.; and Kligman, A.M.: The Bacteria Responsible for Apocrine Odor. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 27, 1956, pp. 61-71.

121

- Strauss, J.S.; and Mescon, H.: The Chemical Determination of Specific Lipases in Comidones. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 33, 1959, pp. 191-192.
- Studnicin, A.A.: Use of Artificial Fever in the Treatment of Some Dermatoses. Cesk, Derm., vol. 39, July 1964, pp. 225-228.
- Sugai, T.: On the Passive Cutaneous Anaphylactic Reation With Special Reference to its Applicability in the Field of Dermatology. Jap. J. Allergy, vol. 13, Aug. 1964, pp. 535-542.
- Sulzberger, M.B.; and Witten, Victor H.: What Is Best Way to Treat Acne in Adolescent? Current M. Digest, vol. 20, Jan. 1953, pp. 27-35.
- Sulzberger, Marion B.; and Witten, Victor H.: Management of Acne Today. Med. Clin. North America, vol. 93, May 1959, pp. 887-902.
- Sulzberger, Marion B.; Witten, Victor H.; and Steagall, Jr., Robert W.: Treatment of Acne Vulgaris. Use of Systemic Antibiotics and Sulfonamides. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 173, no. 17, Aug. 1960, pp.1911-1915.
- Surdan, C. et al: Investigations on the Role of Viral Infections in Acneiform Dermatitis. Stud. Cercet. Inframicrobiol., vol. 15, 1964, pp. 43-50.
- Svetovidova, V.M.: The Effect of Associated Microflora on the Susceptibility of a Pathogenic Agent to Antibiotics During Concomitant Growth. Antibiotiki, vol. 5, 1960, pp. 79-82.
- Szakall, A.: The Properties, Origin and Physiologic Function of the Substances in the Stratum Corneum that Determine the H-ion Concentration. Arch. f. Klin. u. Exper. Dermat., vol. 201, 1955, pp. 331-337.
- Szczepanski, L. et al: A Rare Case of Pneumonia Complicated by Subcutaneous Emphysema with Inflammatory Infiltrations in the Jugular fossa. Pol. Arch. Med. Wewnet., vol. 34, 1964, pp. 1109-1112.
- Texier, L. et al: Evaluation of 2 Years in Dermato-Venerology. J. Med. Bordeaux, vol. 141, Oct. 1964, pp. 1580-1587.
- Thianprasit, M.: On the Problem of the Antimycotic Effects of Soaps and Detergents. Derm. Wschr., vol. 147, June 29, 1963, pp. 649-655 (German).
- Thienes, C.H.: A New Monilia-Like Fungus, Associated with Dermatitis Peculiar to Workers in Canneries. Arch. Derm. Syph., vol. 19, 1929, pp. 800-803.

Thomas, C.G.A.; and Griffiths, P.D.: Air-borne Staphylococci and the Control of Cross-infection. Guy's Hosp. Rep., vol. 110, 1961, pp. 76-86.

Thomas, Jr., Francis; and Kurtz, Hilda B.: The Relation of Herpes Virus to the Cell Nucleus. The Yale J. of Biol. and Med., vol. 22, no. 6, July 1950, pp.

- Thomas, M.: The Sticky Film Method of Detecting Skin Staphylococci. Mon. Bull. Minist. Hlth. Lab. Serv., vol. 20, 1961, pp. 37-40.
- Thone, A.W.: Handbook of Tropical Dermatology and Medical Mycology, vol. II: Otomycosis, Chap. 63. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1953, pp. 1161-1166.
- Thorne, N.: Cosmetics and the Dermatologist. Hair Colourings, I. Brit. J. Clin. Pract., vol. 18, July 1964, pp. 427-430.
- Tindall, J. P.; and Smith, Jr., J.G.: Skin Lesions of the Aged and Their Association With Internal Changes. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 186, vol. 12, 1963, pp. 1039-1042.
- Titova, O.V.: Sapromycetin in Some Dermatomycoses. Vestn. Derm. i. Vener., vol. 3, 1964, pp. 86-88.
- Tobias, Norman: Essentials of Dermatology. 6th Ed., Philadelphia, Lippincott, 1963.
- Tomashinskii, D.I.: Actiology, Clinical Features and Treatment of Plantar Warts. Vestn. Derm. i. Vener., vol. 5, 1960, pp. 65-67.
- Tomkin, N.: The Incidence of Allergic Reactions in the Peroral Treatment With Certain Broad Spectrum Antibiotics. Dermatol. i. veneral., vol. 3, no. 2, 1964, pp. 101-103.
- Traub, Eugene, F.; Newhall, Chester A.; and Fuller, John K.: The Value of a New Compound Used in Soap to Reduce the Bacterial Flora of the Human Skin. Surg. Gynec. Obstet., vol. 79, 1944, pp. 205.
- Turanov, M.; and Studnitsin, A.A. (eds.): Handbook of the Organization and Control of Venereal and Infectious Skin Diseases. U. S. Joint Publications Research Service, Washington, 1960, 347 pp.
- Tye, J.J.; and Schiff, B.L.: Treatment of Psoriatic Lesions With Topical Fluocinolone Acetonide and Moist Dressings. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 38, June 1962, pp. 321-322.
- Vanbrenseghem, R.: Pityriasis Versicolor et Cuir Chevelu. Z. Tropen Med. Parisit., vol. 8, 1957, pp. 515-519.
- Van Der Merien, L. et al: Medico-Social Points of View Concerning Occupational Skin Diseases. Criteria For Diagnosis and Reparation. Arch. Belg. Derm. Syph., vol. 20, Mar. 1964, pp. 1-13.
- VanGasse, J.J.; and Miller, R.F.: Incidence of Verruca Plantaris (Plantarwarts) in a School Population. Arch. Pediat., vol. 75, 1958, pp. 279-284.

van Rooyen, C.E.; and Rhodes, A.J.: Virus Diseases of Man. New York, Thomas Nelson and Sons, 1948, pp. 184-186.

Van Scott, E.J.: The Human Integument, Washington, D.C., Assoc. for the Advancement of Science, 1959, pp. 113-167.

Verdon, P.E.: Efficiency Tests on a Series of Common Skin Antiseptics Under Ward Conditions. J. Clin. Path., vol. 14, 1961, pp. 91.

Vignon, G. et al: Apropos of Skin Diseases Observed in Aged Persons in a Geriatric Service. Rev. Franc. Geront., vol. 10, Oct. 1964, pp. 331-334.

Wagner, G.; and Purschel, W.: Clinical and Analytical Studies on the Problem of Neurodermatitis (Klinisch-analytische Studie zum Neurodermitis Problem). Dermatologica (Basel), vol. 125, 1962, pp. 1-32.

Walker, J.: The Dermatophytoses of Great Britain. Report of a 3 Years Survey. Brit. J. Derm. Syph., vol. 62, 1950, pp. 239-251.

Wells, G.C.: In Progress in Biological Sciences in Relation to Dermatology, 120-34. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1960, 480 pp.

Whyte, H.J.: Management of Acne Vulgaris in General Practice. Post-grad. Med. J., vol. 35, no. 5, 1964, pp. 533-542.

Whyte, H.J.; and Baughman, R.D.: Acute Guttate Psoriasis and Streptococcal Infection. Arch. Derm., vol. 89, no. 3, 1964, pp. 350-356.

Wilbur, G.: Some Histochemical Responses of Guinea Pig Tissues to Cold. Technical Documentary Report AAL-TDR-64-9, Feb. 1965.

Williams, R. E. O.; Hirch, A.; and Cowan, S. T.: Aerococcus A New Bacterial Genus. J. Gen. Microbiol., vol. 8, 1953, pp. 475-480.

Williams, R. E.O.: Intramural Spread of Bacteria and Viruses in Human Populations. Ann. Rev. of Microbiol., vol. 14, 1960, pp. 43-64.

Williams, R.E.O.: Carriage of Staphylococci in the Newborn. A Comparison of Infants Born at Home with those Born in Hospital. Lancet, vol. ii, 1961, pp. 173-175.

Wisconsin University: Bibliography on Aspects of the Biology and Pathogenicity of Staphylococcus Aureus, 1957-1958. Madison 1959, 431. (ASTIA AD263141).

Wiseman, G. M.: Some Characteristics of the Beta-Haemolysin of Staphylococcus Aureus. J. Path. Bact., vol. 89, 1965, pp. 187-207.

Witten, V.H.: The Corticosteroids in the Management of Diseases of the Skin. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 82, 1959, pp. 983.

124

- Wolf, Jan: Die innere Struktur der Zellen des Stratum desquamans der menschlichen Epidermis. Zeitschrift für Mikr.-Anat. Forschung, 1939, pp. 170-202.
- Wright, J.C. et al: Observations on the Use of Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents in Patients With Mycosis Fungoides. Cancer, vol. 17, Aug. 1964, pp. 1045-1062.
- Yunis, E. et al: Cell Antigens and Cell Specialization III on the H antigen Receptors of Human Epidermal Cells, Blood, vol. 22, Dec. 1963, pp. 750-756.
- Zelickson, Alvin Sheldon: Electron Microscopy of Skin and Mucous Membrane. With A Chapter on Technics of Electron Microscopy by J. Francis Hartman. Springfield, Ill., Thomas, 1963, xi, 173 p. illus. (American lecture series no. 526. American Lectures in Dermatology).
- Znojeniska, S.: Professional Dermatoses and Their Hygienic Prevention in Central Bohemia Region. Cesk. Hyg., vol. 9, Sept. 1964, pp. 459-464.

### **Specialized Areas**

Anal folds.

Finland, M.; Grigsby, M.E.; and Haight, T.H.: Efficacy and Toxicity of Oxytetracycline (Terramycin) and Chlortetracycline (Aureomycin) With Special Reference to Use of Doses of 250 mg every 4 to 6 Hours and to Occurrence of Staphylococcic Diarrhea. AMA Arch. Int. Med., vol. 93, Jan. 1954, pp. 23-43.

# <u>Axilla</u>.

- Crissey, J.T.; Rebell, G.C.; and Laskas, J.L.: Studies on the Causative Organism of Trichomycosis Axillaris. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 19, 1952, pp. 187-197.
- Gordon, R.E.; and Smith, M.M.: Rapidly Growing Acid-Fast Bacteria. J. Bact., vol. 66, 1953, pp. 41-48.
- Hier, S.W.; Cornblect, T.; and Bergheim, O.: The Amino-Acids of Human Sweat. J. Biol. Chem., vol. 166, 1946, pp. 327-333.
- Partridge, B. M.; and Jackson, F. L.: The Fluorescence of Erythrasma. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 74, 1962, pp. 326-328.
- Shelley, W.B.; and Hurley, Jr., H.J.: The Physiology of the Human Axillary Apocrine Sweat Gland. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 20, 1953, pp. 285-297.
- Shelley, W.B.; Hurley, H.J.; and Nichols, A.C.: Axillary Odor, Experimental Study of the Role of Bacteria: Apocrine Sweat and Deodorants. Arch. Dermatol. and Syphilol., vol. 68, 1953, pp. 430-446.
- Strauss, J.S.; and Kligman, A.M.: The Bacteria Responsible for Apocrine Odour. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 27, 1956, pp. 67-71.
- Stone, Orville J.; Mullins, Fred J.; and Head, Elizabeth S.: Chronic Paronychia Occupational Material. Arch. of Environ. Health, vol. 9, 1964, pp. 585-588.

Causative organisms of skin infection.

- Almeida, J.D.; Howatson, A.F.; and Williams, M.G.: Electron Microscope Study of Human Wards; Sites of Virus Production and Nature of the Inclusion Bodies. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 38, 1962, pp. 337-345.
- Balenska, N.; Mustakov, G.; Jonev, S. et al: On Certain Functional Changes in Pyogenic Infections of the Skin. Dermatol. i. venerol., vol. 3, no. 2, 1964, pp. 98-101.
- Carion, Arturo: Dermatomycoses in Puerto Rico. Arch Derm., vol. 91, May 1963, pp. 431-438.
- Cetin, E.T.: Hemolysin-Inhibiting Substance in Staphylococcus Aureus Strains. J. Bact., vol. 86, no. 3, Sept. 1963, pp. 407-413.
- Dixon, J. M.; Lawaczeck, E.; and Winkler, Jr., C.H.: Pseudomonas Contamination of Contact Lens Containers: Preliminary Report. Amer. J. Opthal., vol. 54, 1962, pp. 461.
- Ericson, Carl; and Juhlin, Ingmar: Hospital Infections and Hospital Hygiene at Malmo General Hospital.
  1. The Incidence of Staphylococcal Infections During 3 Years.
  2. Hygienic Measures and their Correlation with the Incidence of Infection.
  J. of Hyg., Cambridge, 1965, vol. 63, pp. 25.
- Friedman, Lorraine; Derbes, Vincent J.; Hodges, Elizabeth P.; and Sinski, James T.: The Isolation of Dermatophytes From the Air. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 35, no. 1, July 1960, pp. 3-5.
- Galin, Miles A.: Bacteriological Aspects of Blepharitis. Arch of Opthal., vol. 67, 1962, pp. 746-749.
- Greenbaum, S.S.; and Klauder, N.V.: Yeast Infections of the Skin. Arch. Dermat. Syphilol., vol. 5, 1922, pp. 332-336.
- Lovell, D. L.: Skin Bacteria. Their Location With Reference to Skin Sterilization. Surg. Gynec. Obstet., vol. 80, 1945, pp. 174-177.
- Malherbe, H.; and Strickland-Cholmley, M.: Sindbis Virus Infection in Man: Report of a Case with Recovery of Virus from Skin Lesion. S. Afr. Med. J., vol. 37, May 1963, pp. 547-552.
- Middelkamp, J.N.; and Munger, B.L.: The Ultrastructure and Histogenesis of Molluscum Contagiosum. J. Pediat., vol. 64, no. 6, 1964, pp. 888-905.
- Moore, W.E.C.; and Cato, E.P.: Validity of Propionibacterium Acnes. J. Bact., vol. 85, 1963, pp. 870-874.

- Rebell, G.; Taplin, D.; and Blank, H.: Dermatophytes; Their Recognition and Identification. Miami, Florida, Dept. of Dermatology, U. of Miami, School of Medicine, 1964.
- Rook, A.; and Champion, R.E.: Progress in the Biological Sciences in Relation to Dermatology. (Cambridge, Univ. Press), 1964.
- Spoor, H.J.; Traub, E.F.; and Bell, M.: Pityrosporum Ovale Types Cultured from Normal and Seborrheic Subjects. Arch. Derm., vol. 69, 1954, pp. 323-330.
- Steel, K.J.: Micrococcus Violagabriellae Castellani. J. Gen. Microbiol., vol. 36, 1964, pp. 133-138.
- Stenzel, Wolfgang; and Mannheim, Walter: On the Classification and Nomenclature of Some Nonmotile and Coccoid Diplabacteria Exhibiting the Properties of Achromobacteriaceae. International Bulletin of Bacteriological Nomenclasure and Taxonomy, vol. 13, no. 14, Oct. 1963, pp. 195-200.

#### External ear.

- Chiang, S. P.; Lowry, O. H.; and Senturia, B. H.: Microchemical Studies on Normal Cerumen. I. The Lipid and Protein Content of Normal Cerumen as Affected by Age and Sex. Laryngoscope, vol. 65, 1955, pp. 927-934.
- Haley, L.: Etiology of Otomycosis; i. Mycotic Flora of the Ear. Arch. Otolaryng., vol. 52, 1950a, pp. 202-207.
- Haley, L.D.: Etiology of Otomycoses. 1. Mycologic Flora of the Ear., Arch. Otolaryng., vol. 52, 1950a, pp. 202-207.
- Haley, L.H.: Etiology of Otomycosis. II. Bacterial Flora of the Ear. Arch. Otolaryng., vol. 52, 1950, pp. 208-213.
- Perry, E.; and Shelley, W.B.: The Histology of the Human Ear Canal With Special Reference to Ceruminous Gland. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 25, 1955, pp. 439-451.
- Roubitschek, F.; and Evron, R.: Experimental Invasion of Hair by Dermatophytes. Arch. Derm., vol. 88, no. 6, 1963, pp. 837-845.
- Senturia, B.H.: Microbiology: A Review of the Bacteriologic and Mycologic Findings of the External Ear. Chapter 5. Diseases of the External Ear, Springfield, Thomas, 1957, pp. 64-71.

- Shelley, W.B.; and Perry, E.T.: The Physiology of the Aprocrine Gland of the Human Ear Canal. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 26, 1956, pp. 13-22.
- Singer, D.E.; Freeman, E.; Hoffort, E.R.; Keys, R.J.; and Mitchell, R.B.: Otitis Externa: Bacteriological and Mycological Studies. Ann. Otorhinolaryng., vol. 61, 1952, pp. 317-330.

### <u>Eye</u>.

- Allen, H.F.: To Wet or Not to Wet. Arch. Opthal., vol. 67, 1962, pp. 25.
- Allen, Henry F.; and Mangraracine, Anita B.: Bacterial Endoptithalmitis After Cataract Extraction. Arch. Opthal., vol. 72, no. 2, 1964, pp. 454-462.
- Allen, J.H.: Ocular Lesions Associated with other Viral Diseases. Int. Ophthal. Clin., vol. 4, June 1964, pp. 311-324.
- Corcelle, L.: Progress in Opthalmology. J. Med. Bordeaux., vol. 141, Oct. 1964, pp. 1628-1632.

Crompton, D.O.: Infection of the Eye. Lancet, vol. 2, Oct. 1964, pp. 965-966.

- Czukrosz, I.: On the Eye Symptoms in Leptospirosis. Klin. MBL. Augenheilk., vol. 143, Aug. 1963, pp. 98-103.
- Fajordo, R.V. Philipp: Anti-Inflammatory Agents in Ophthalmology. J. Surg., vol. 19, July-Aug. 1964, pp. 257-267.
- Furgueale, F.P.: New Antibiotics: Their Intraocular Penetration II. Amer. J. Ophthal., vol. 58, Sept. 1964, pp. 443-447.
- Gould, H.L.: Rationale in Use of Contact Lens Solutions. Eye, Ear, Nose, Throat Monthly, vol. 41, 1962, pp. 359.
- Holmes, J.G.: The Skin and the Eye. A Review of Some Skin Conditions of Interest to the Ophthalmologist. Trans. Ophthal. Soc. U.K., vol. 83, 1963, pp. 681-685.
- Kapetansky, F. M. et al: Bacteriologic Studies of Patients Who Wear Contact Lenses. Amer. J. Opthal., vol. 57, 1964, pp. 255.
- Kastler, M.: Conjunctivitis Caused by Mycotic Allergy. Bull. Soc. Franc. Opthal., vol. 76, 1963, pp. 450-453.

- Landau, D.; Bachrach, U.; and Gurevitch, J.: Occular Leprosy in Israel. Acta Med. Orient., vol. 13, 1953, pp. 129-133.
- Obear, M.F.; and Winter, F.C.: Bacteriologic Culture of Wet and Dry Contact Lens Storage Cases. Amer. J. Opthal., vol. 57, 1964, pp. 441.
- Ogawa, S.: Experimental Studies on Eye Changes Due to Leptospirosis. I. Leptospiral Ophthalmitis in the Yamaguchi Prefecture and the Pathogenic Leptospira Types. Acta Soc. Ophthal. Jap. vol 66, No. 1, 1962, (17-25).
- Shepard, Maurice C.; and Calvy, George L.: The Role of Mycoplasma (Pleuropneumonia-Like Organisms) in Human Disease. New Eng. J. of Med., April 1965.
- Soto, M.C.: Ocular Leprosy. Arch. Opthal. B. Air., vol. 38, July 1963, pp. 193-206.
- Soudahoff, P.S.: Bacteriological Examination of the Conjunctiva. Amer. J. Ophthal., vol. 38, 1954, pp. 374-376.
- Theodore, F.H.: Diagnosis of Post Cataract Bacterial Infections. Eye, Ear, Nose, Throat Monthly, vol. 43, Aug. 1964, pp. 78-81.

Fingernail.

- Dunne, R.M. et al: The Occurrence of Keratinophilic Fungi in Queensland. Mycopathologia., vol. 22, June 1964, pp. 343-349.
- Feichenfeld, E.: Paronychia manum die Gewerbekrankheit der Hausfrau. Z. Haut-u. Geschlechtskr., vol. 24, 1958, pp. 17-32.
- Frain Bell, W.: Chronic Paronychia. Trans. St. John's Hosp. Derm. Soc., London, vol. 38, 1957, pp. 29-31.
- Hayakowa, Y.: Detection of Aminoacids in the Nail Plate Suffering From Trichophyton. Jap. J. Derm., vol. 70, no. 11, 1960, pp. 1110-1112.

Hellier, F.F.: Chronic Perionychia: Aetiology and Treatment. Brit. Med. J., vol. ii, 1955, pp. 1358-1360.

Kapica, L.; and Blank, F.: Growth of Candida albicans on Keratin as Sole Source of Nitrogen. Dermatologica, vol. 115, 1957, pp. 81-89.

Marten, R.H.: Chronic Paronychia. A Mycological and Bacteriological Study. Brit. J. Derm., vol. 71, 1959, pp. 422-426. Mercer, E.H.: Keratin and Keratinization, 86, 225 (Pergamon Press, New York, Oxford, London, Paris, 1961, 316 pp).

Scalp.

- Area Leao, A.E.: Tinea Imbricata. Chapter 56. Handbook of Tropical Dermatology, Vol. II., Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1953, pp. 1091-1101.
- Bose, S.R.: Comments on the Rarity of Tinea Capitis in India. Mycopathologia (Den Haag.), vol. 22, no. 4, June 1964, pp. 322-329.
- Carr, E.M. et al: Odors Generated During Thioglycolate Waving of Hair. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 116, June 1964, pp. 735-745.
- Donald, G.F.: Tinea Capitis in South Australia: A Preliminary Statement of Cultural Findings. Med. J. Aust., vol. ii, 1958, pp. 452-454.
- Emmons, C.W.: The Isolation & Pathogenicity of Pityrosporum Ovale. Public Health Report, vol. 55, 1940, pp. 1306-1312.
- Fitzpatrick, T.B.; Brunet, P.; and Kukita, A.: The Biology of Hair Growth. pp. 255-303. (Academic Press, Inc., New York and London, 1958, 520 pp.)
- Gordon, M.A.: Lipophilic Yeast-Like Organisms Associated with Tinea Versicolor. J. Invest. Derm., vol. 17, 1951, pp. 267-272.
- Rothman, S.; Smyanic, A.; Shapiro, A. L.; and Weithamp, A.W.: The Spontaneous Cure of Tinea Capitis in Puberty. J. Invest. Dermatol., vol. 8, 1947, pp. 81-98.
- Schwartz, L.; Peck, S. M.; Botvinick, I.; Leibowitz, A. L.; and Frasier. E.E.: Control of Ringworm of the Scalp Among School Children in Hagerstown, Maryland, 1944-1945. J. Amer. Med. Assoc., vol. 132, 1946, pp. 58-62.
- Whitlock, F.A.: Pityprosporum Ovale and Some Scaly Conditions of the Scalp. Brit. Med. J., vol. i, 1953, pp. 484-487.

# Toenail.

- Gentles, J.C.: Athlete's Foot Fungi on Floors of Communal Bathing Places. Brit. Med. J., vol. i, 1957, pp. 746-748.
- Hall, F.R.: Cultures and Findings in 200 Cases of Dermatophytosis of the Feet. AMA Arch. Derm., vol. 74, 1956, pp. 306-307.
- Kaplan, W.; and Ajello, L.: Recent Developments in Animal Ringworm and their Public Health Implications. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 70, 1956, pp. 636-649.
- Murti, B.R.; and Padmavathy, D.: Study of Aetiology of Mycetoma. Indian J. Microbiol., vol. 3, no. 3, 1963, pp. 99-102.
- Symmans, W.A.: Athletes Foot in Boys. Thesis for Course in Preventive Medicine. University of Otago, New Zealand.

#### Umbilicus.

- Battaglia, G.B.: Umbilical Endometriosis. Rev. Ostet. Ginec., vol. 19, July 1964, pp. 397-402.
- Henderson, R.J. et al: The Care of the Umbilical Stump in Relation to Cross Infection in Maternity Units. J. Obstet. Gynaec. Brit. Comm., vol. 71, June 1964, pp. 443-448.